



PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE

Notice is hereby given in accordance with the provisions of the Administrative Procedure Act, R.S. 49:950 et seq., and through the authority granted in R.S. 37:2656(c), that the Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology intends to update the Rules and Regulations to make technical changes and clarifications, add guidelines for fingerprint-based background checks, add/revise definitions, add specificity and clarification regarding qualifications and scope of practice for the various practitioners, revise the Code of Ethics, add registration guidelines for practitioners wishing to gain telehealth registration, eliminate the unused provisional audiology license, revise the time period for delinquent renewal, increase supervision requirements for certain licenses, change supervision terminology to direct and indirect, allow the board the authority to initiate a complaint with cause against a practitioner, and revise the LBESPA fee schedule for the purchase of mailing lists. The notice of intent can be reviewed in the *Louisiana Register*, Volume 44 No. 08, August 20, 2018 which can be found on the website for the Office of the State Register at <https://www.doa.la.gov/osr/REG/1808/1808.pdf>.

A copy of the current Rules and Regulations with proposed additions and deletions indicated, can be reviewed at the bottom right of the board's website www.lbespa.org under "Recent News".

Interested persons may submit written comments to Jolie Jones, Executive Director, 37283 Swamp Road, Suite 3B, Prairieville, LA 70769. Written comments will be accepted through 4:30 p.m. on September 27, 2018.

The public hearing will be held on Friday, September 28, 2018 at 8:30 a.m. at the board office located at

LBESPA Rules and Regulations Proposed Revisions

June 2018

103. Definitions

Added:

Accredited Educational Institution- college or university that holds regional accreditation.

Accredited Educational Program- a graduate program in audiology or speech-language pathology that is accredited by the Council for Academic Accreditation in Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology (CAA) or the Accreditation Commission for Audiology Education (ACAE)

Criminal History Record Information- information collected by state and federal criminal justice agencies consisting of identifiable descriptions and notations of arrests detentions indictments, bills of information or any other formal criminal charges, and any disposition arising therefrom including sentencing, criminal correctional supervision and release.

Facilitator- the individual at the client site who assists with the delivery of telehealth services at the direction of the audiologist or speech-language pathologist.

Full Time Supervised Professional Employment/Experience- a minimum of thirty-six weeks engage in the provision of clinical services. Volunteer services are not acceptable.

Indirect Supervision- the utilization of alternative methods, other than direct supervision, to acquire knowledge of a supervisee's clinical work. e.g. review of client folders and record keeping, scheduling and planning.

Part Time Postgraduate Professional Employment/Experience- part-time experience greater than or equal to an average of 5 hours per week which culminates in an equivalent of 36 weeks of fulltime employment experience.

Removed: Nine Months of Full Time Supervised Postgraduate Professional Employment/Experience

Added: "secure" and "live" stream to the definition of Direct/On-site in-view observations

105. Designations

Removed: Provisional Audiology- This license no longer exists. No new licenses can be processed or awarded. There is still one active licensee in this category.

107. Qualifications for Licensure

Removed: Provisional Audiology

Changes to semester credit hours for SLP and PL-SLP to 12 from the current 6 in speech/language who began master's program prior to 1/01/1994:

2.c. changed to 12 semester credit hours in speech/language disorders and 3 hours in audiology.

2. *Removed:* Provisional Audiology

Removed: 375 hours through direct patient/client contact

3. SLP Assistant license – testing through observation hours changed to assessment

4.c. **Details were added for Provisional SLP Assistants that may need to request deferment of the three year period.** The assistant may request deferment of the three year period to complete licensure upgrade requirement. Such deferment may only be requested if there is an extenuating circumstance, such as inability to obtain employment in the area of speech-language pathology. The license must be renewed annually. Such deferment may only be held for a period of three years from the time of board approval.

J. 9 months changed to 36 weeks

J2. *Removed:* - Audiology with doctorate fulfills the requirement for a supervised post-graduated professional employment/experience.

109. Licensure Application Procedures

Added B. Criminal history record information must be submitted with the application form.

C., D., E., F. Changes to reflect that all application documents must be submitted at one time with the application packet.

9 months changed to 36 weeks for postgraduate professional employment/experience

111. Application for Telepractice Registration

Telepractice registration added for speech-language pathology and audiology based on proof of unrestricted, unencumbered current licensure in the home state based on standards at least equivalent to those in Louisiana.

No grace period for telepractice services.

Requires verification of licensure/registration from each state licensed/registered.

113. Criminal History Record Information (*state and national*)

Added as a condition for eligibility for licensure.

Applicant must submit full set of fingerprints, required forms, and a separate fee.

119. Requirements to Upgrade License

Added E. only on-the-job hours that are paid professional experience may count towards upgrade.

121. Duties of Speech-Language Pathology Assistants and Provisional SLP Assistants

Added duties outside of the scope:

-Conduct evaluations, even under supervision

-Interpret test “and assessment” results

-Screen or diagnose clients for feeding and swallowing disorders

-Demonstrate swallowing strategies or precautions to clients, family, or staff

-Engage in service delivery via telepractice; however, the individual may function as a facilitator given appropriate training.

123. Fees

Removed: “hearing aid dispensing” from all fees, as there is no separate fee.

Flat fee for mailing list requests

125. Renewals

Added: renewal for registrations

Added H: the board may refuse to consider a renewal application that is incomplete and may require additional information to consider the application.

K. Shortened the time period for renewals from April 15 – July 31 instead of October 31- July 31.

127. Continuing Education Requirements

Added:

- B. Of the 10 hours, 5 shall be in the “educational activities” directly related to the scope of practice of the licensee and must be designed to increase the knowledge and skills in the area of licensure.
- C. Related activities further defined as activities that increase knowledge and skills pertinent to practice. Examples include: billing; coding and reimbursement; record-keeping; ethics; supervision.
- J.2. Professional organizational meetings; business meetings, luncheons, award ceremonies, receptions and other non-content area events are not recognized as acceptable CE.
 - 5. Excludes clinical practicum course for CE.
 - 7. Clarification that only in-service time counts as CE. Documentation of staff development content must be separated from employee meeting activities such as announcements, review of deadlines, event planning and other non-content area activities.
- L.2. Licensees shall maintain CE records for 3 years.
 - 3. Cannot submit repeated CE activities for credit within a 3 year period.

129. Supervision

Added:

- C. Prior to initiation of supervision of a restricted or provisional licensee, training in the area of supervision is strongly recommended.
- D. Individuals may not be supervised by a family member or telehealth registrant.
- I. PL-SLP and R-SLP annual supervision monitoring activities increased from 12 to 16. At least 8 shall be direct instead of 4.

***Terminology changes:** on-site, in-view (Direct) and alternative (Indirect) observations.

137. Hearing Aid Dispensing

C.1.c. battery of test wording changed to basic comprehensive audiometry and appropriate tolerance testing

D. Audiologists without a doctoral degree and who did not dispense hearing aids prior to August 1, 2016, must have appropriate training, education and experience in the area of hearing aid dispensing. Those who wish to include dispensing as part of their practice, shall submit a self-study for approval by the Board.

501. Investigation of Complaints

C. Board is authorized to initiate complaints when warranted.

701. Code of Ethics

Revamped this section

I. EXECUTIVE ORDERS
 JBE 18-18 Flags at Half-Staff—Immanuel James Washington 1411
 JBE 18-18 Flags at Half-Staff—John “Johnny” Clinton McFerren, Jr. 1411

II. EMERGENCY RULES
Agriculture and Forestry
 Office of Agriculture and Forestry—Roseau Cane Scale Quarantine (LAC 7:XV.169) 1412
 Office of Animal Health and Food Safety—Turtles (LAC 7:XXI.1909)..... 1413
Children and Family Services
 Child Welfare—Extended Foster Care Services (LAC 67:V.3903)..... 1414
Health
 Licensed Professional Counselors Board of Examiners—Diagnosing for Serious Mental Illnesses
 (LAC 46:LX.505 and 3107) 1414
Wildlife and Fisheries
 Wildlife and Fisheries Commission—2018 Fall Inshore Shrimp Season Opening Dates 1415
 2018-2019 Public Oyster Seasons 1415

III. RULES
Agriculture and Forestry
 Office of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences—Crawfish—Live, Boiled, and Peeled (LAC 7:XXXV.107) 1417
 Office of Agro-Consumer Services, Division of Weights and Measures—Crawfish—Live, Boiled, and Peeled
 (LAC 7:XXXV.107) 1417
Economic Development
 Office of Business Development—Industrial Ad Valorem Tax Exemption Program (LAC 13:I.Chapter 5) 1417
Education
 Board of Elementary and Secondary Education—Bulletin 118—Statewide Assessment Standards and
 Practices (LAC 28:XI.6115)..... 1424
 Bulletin 127—LEAP Connect Assessment, Louisiana Connectors for Students with Significant Cognitive
 Disabilities (LAC 28:XI.Chapter 97) 1425
 Bulletin 140—Louisiana Early Childhood Care and Education Network (LAC 28:XCI.103, 307, 313,
 Chapter 5, 703, and 705) 1438
 Bulletin 741—Louisiana Handbook for School Administrators—Ancillary Areas of Instruction
 (LAC 28:CXV.2305)..... 1443
Environmental Quality
 Office of the Secretary, Legal Affairs and Criminal Investigations Division—Fee Increase (LAC 33:I.1203 and
 1911; III.211, 223, 307, 309, and 319; V.5123 and 5139; and IX.1309)(MM020) 1444
Health
 Bureau of Health Services Financing—Home and Community-Based Services Providers
 Licensing Standards (LAC 48:I.5043) 1445
 Inpatient Hospital Services—Non-Rural, Non-State Hospitals—Reimbursement Rate Increase
 (LAC 50:V.Chapter 9)..... 1445
 Intermediate Care Facilities for Persons with Intellectual Disabilities—Cost Reports and Complex
 Care Reimbursement (LAC 50:VII.Chapter 329)..... 1446
Insurance
 Office of the Commissioner—Regulation 60—Advertising of Life Insurance (LAC 37:XIII.4101 and 4117)..... 1448
 Regulation 99—Certificates of Insurance (LAC 37:XIII.Chapter 139) 1448
Public Safety and Corrections
 Gaming Control Board—Internal Control; Slots (LAC 42:III.2723)..... 1449
 Video Draw Poker—Application and License (LAC 42:XI.2405) 1450
 Video Gaming Establishments—Security (LAC 42:XI.2415) 1451
State
 Business Services Division—Corporations Secure Business Filings Service (LAC 19:V.100, 500, 700, 900,
 1100, and 1300) 1451

This public document was published at a total cost of \$1,525. Two hundred fifty copies of this public document were published in this monthly printing at a cost of \$1,525. The total cost of all printings of this document including reprints is \$1,525. This document was published by Moran Printing, Inc. 5425 Florida Boulevard, Baton Rouge, LA 70806, as a service to the state agencies in keeping them cognizant of the new rules and regulations under the authority of R.S. 49:950-971 and R.S. 49:981-999. This material was printed in accordance with standards for printing by state agencies established pursuant to R.S. 43:31. Printing of this material was purchased in accordance with the provisions of Title 43 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes.

The Office of the State Register provides auxiliary aids for the *Louisiana Register* for visually impaired individuals. By appointment, oral presentation of the *Louisiana Register* is available at the Office of the State Register, or an audio cd of requested sections of the *Louisiana Register* can be provided for the production cost incurred. For more information contact the Office of the State Register.

Treasury	
Board of Trustees of the Teachers' Retirement System—ReNEW Charter Management Organization (LAC 58:III.1901).....	1454
Wildlife and Fisheries	
Wildlife and Fisheries Commission—Domesticated Aquatic Organisms—Shovelnose Sturgeon (LAC 76:VII.905 and 911).....	1455
Reef Fish—Harvest Regulations (LAC 76:VII.335).....	1457
IV. NOTICES OF INTENT	
Agriculture and Forestry	
Office of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, Horticulture Commission—Horticulture Examinations (LAC 7:XXIX.111 and 113).....	1459
Pesticides (LAC 7:XXIII.709, 711, 715, and 2101).....	1460
Advisory Commission on Pesticides—Pesticides (LAC 7:XXIII.709, 711, 715, and 2101).....	1462
Children and Family Services	
Licensing Section—Residential Home (LAC 67:V.Chapter 71).....	1464
Economic Development	
Office of the Secretary—Research and Development Tax Credit Program (LAC 13:I.Chapter 29).....	1464
Education	
Board of Elementary and Secondary Education—Administrative Board Operations and Programs (LAC 28:I.Chapter 3, 503, 705, 715, 1303, 2103, and 2709).....	1467
Bulletin 111—The Louisiana School, District, and State Accountability System—Schools with Insufficient Test Data; Strength of Diploma Index; and Urgent and Comprehensive Intervention: Subgroup Performance (LAC 28:XI.607, 709, and 901).....	1471
Bulletin 746—Louisiana Standards for State Certification of School Personnel—Teaching Authorizations and Certification (LAC 28:CXXI.203, Chapter 3, 414, 605, 803, and Chapter 9).....	1473
Health	
Board of Dentistry—Dental Hygienists (LAC 46:XXXIII.701).....	1479
Board of Medical Examiners—Uniform Prescription Drug Prior Authorization Form (LAC 46:XLV.8001 and 8003).....	1480
Board of Pharmacy—Uniform Prescription Drug Prior Authorization Form (LAC 46:LIII.1129 and 1130).....	1484
Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology—Speech-Pathology and Audiology (LAC 46:LXXV.Chapters 1-7).....	1485
Bureau of Health Services Financing—Dental Benefits Prepaid Ambulatory Health Plan—Independent Review Process for Provider Claims (LAC 50:I.2117).....	1510
Durable Medical Equipment—Pharmacy Provider Accreditation (LAC 50:XIII.8501).....	1513
Inpatient Hospital Services (LAC 50:V.Subpart 1).....	1514
Medicaid Employee Criminal History Records Checks (LAC 50:I.103).....	1528
Pharmacy Benefits Management Program—Managed Care Supplemental Rebates (LAC 50:XXIX.1103)....	1529
Licensed Professional Counselors Board of Examiners—Diagnosing for Serious Mental Illnesses (LAC 46:LX.505 and 3107).....	1531
Insurance	
Office of the Commissioner—Rule 12—Transmission of Forms and Documents (LAC 37:XI.901).....	1532
Rule 13—Special Assessment to Pay the Cost of Investigation, Enforcement, and Prosecution of Insurance Fraud (LAC 37:XI.Chapter 23).....	1533
Natural Resources	
Office of Conservation—Fees (LAC 43:XIX.Chapter 7).....	1536
Public Safety and Corrections	
Gaming Control Board—Casino Computer Systems (LAC 42:III.2717, 2723, and Chapter 28).....	1538
Office of Motor Vehicles—Administrative Hearing Requests for Suspensions and Disqualifications Arising From Tests for Suspected Drunken Drivers (LAC 55:III.113).....	1544
Digitized Driver's License or Special ID Card (LAC 55:III.161).....	1546
Military Surplus Motor Vehicles (LAC 55:III.337).....	1548
Revenue	
Policy Services Division—Commercial Farmer Definition for Sales and Use Tax Exemption for Feed, Seed and Fertilizer (LAC 61:I.4301, 4404, 4408).....	1549
Louisiana Rehabilitation of Historic Structures Tax Credit (LAC: 61:I.1917).....	1551
Workforce Commission	
Office of Unemployment Insurance Administration—Background Check for Access to Federal Tax Information (LAC 40:IV.379).....	1555

IV. ESTIMATED EFFECT ON COMPETITION AND EMPLOYMENT (Summary)

The proposed rules will not affect competition or employment.

Malcolm Broussard
Executive Director
1808#036

Evan Brasseaux
Staff Director
Legislative Fiscal Office

NOTICE OF INTENT

**Department of Health
Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology**

Speech-Pathology and Audiology
(LAC 46:LXXV. Chapters 1-7)

Notice is hereby given in accordance with the provisions of the Administrative Procedures Act, R.S. 49:950 et seq., and through the authority granted in R.S. 37:3085, that the Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology proposes to amend its current regulations to make technical changes and clarifications, add definitions for telehealth/telepractice, remove hearing aid dispensing fee from renewal and initial applications, and add telehealth registration fees.

Title 46

**PROFESSIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL
STANDARDS**

Part LXXV. Speech Pathology and Audiology

Chapter 1. General Rules

§103. Definitions

A. ...

Accredited Educational Institution—college or university that holds regional accreditation.

Accredited Educational Program—a graduate program in audiology or speech-language pathology that is accredited by the Council for Academic Accreditation in Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology (CAA) or the Accreditation Commission for Audiology Education (ACAE).

Aides—individuals not licensed by the Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology (LBESPA) who, after appropriate training, perform tasks that are prescribed, directed, and supervised by audiologists or speech-language pathologists licensed in accordance with R.S. 37:2659(A) or (B). Licensed audiologists and licensed speech-language pathologists are legally, ethically, and morally responsible for the services provided by aides working under their direction.

Assistant Licensee—an individual who meets the qualifications established by R.S. 37:2659(F), and works under the direct supervision of a licensed speech-language pathologist and performs only those duties specified in §119.

Criminal History Record Information—information collected by state and federal criminal justice agencies consisting of identifiable descriptions and notations of arrests, detentions, indictments, bills of information or any other formal criminal charges, and any disposition arising therefrom, including sentencing, criminal correctional supervision and release.

Direct Patient/Client Contact—practicum experience obtained during performance of a clinical activity with a patient/client.

Direct Supervision—the supervisor observing the licensee engaging in a specified clinical activity with a patient/client in order to obtain knowledge and provide guidance regarding the supervisee’s clinical work. The supervisor shall accomplish this task either by being physically present in the room or through the use of a secure live video, live stream or web cam.

Facilitator—the individual at the client site who assists with the delivery of telehealth services at the direction of the audiologist or speech-language pathologist.

Full-time supervised professional employment/experience—a minimum of thirty-six weeks engaged in the provision of clinical services. Volunteer services are not acceptable.

Grace Period—the period in which an applicant may be employed while an initial application for licensure is being considered by the board. The grace period cannot exceed 60 days from the date that the application is received by the board.

Indirect Supervision—the utilization of alternative methods, other than direct supervision, to acquire knowledge of a supervisee’s clinical work, e.g. review of client folders and record keeping, scheduling, and planning.

Nine Months of Full-Time Supervised Postgraduate Professional Employment/Experience—Repealed.

Part-Time Postgraduate Professional Employment Experience—part-time experience greater than or equal to an average of 5 hours per week which culminates in an equivalent of 36 weeks of full-time employment experience.

Provisional Assistant Licensee—an individual who meets the qualifications established in R.S. 37: 2659(G) and works under the direct supervision of a licensed speech-language pathologist and performs only those duties specified in §121. This person has completed a minimum of 100 of 225 supervised clinical practicum hours and is working to complete the remaining hours on-the-job and/or through a regionally accredited educational institution or its cooperating programs.

Supervised On-the-Job Training—direct supervision hours which have been obtained during paid employment, and documented on the form provided by the board.

Telehealth—also known as telepractice, is a mode of delivering audiology and speech-language pathology services that utilizes information and communication technologies to enable the diagnosis, consultation, treatment, education, care management, and self-management of clients at a distance from the audiologist or speech-language pathologist provider. Telehealth allows services to be accessed when providers are in a distant site and patients are in the originating site. Telehealth facilitates self-management

and caregiver support for patients and includes synchronous interactions and asynchronous store and forward transfers.

Telehealth Registration—limited to out-of-state residents whose out-of-state audiology or speech-language pathology license does not require supervision, is an unrestricted and unencumbered license in good standing to perform audiology or speech-language pathology in the state in which the provider is located, and the license is comparable to the license in Louisiana as determined by this board.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:705 (October 1988), amended LR 22:346 (May 1996), LR 27:197 (February 2001), LR 28:1781 (August 2002), LR 30:2307 (October 2004), LR 33:2192 (October 2007), LR 37:2392 (August 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1665 (October 2016), LR 44:

§105. Designations

A. - A.2. ...

3. Deleted

A.4. - B. ...

1. When signing professional documents, Speech-Language Pathology Assistants and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistants shall write their full license title, e.g., B.A., SLP Assistant or B.A., Provisional SLP Assistant. Speech-Language Pathology Assistants and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistants shall always identify themselves as such in professional interactions.

C. Titles and academic credential designations shall represent earned degrees obtained through regionally accredited university programs. To appropriately represent the level of education in the area of practice, when listing an educational designation, the licensee shall list the highest degree earned in audiology or speech-language pathology. In addition, graduate degrees earned in other disciplines must specify the area in which the degree was earned [e.g., B.S. (Speech-Language Therapy), M.Ed. (Administration)]. When listing credentials, licensees should sequentially list their name, educational designation, license designation, and professional certification, e.g., M.A., L-SLP, CCC-SLP.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 22:346 (May 1996), amended LR 27:197 (February 2001), LR 30:2308 (October 2004), LR 33:2192 (October 2007), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

§107. Qualifications for Licensure

A. Coursework Requirements—Audiology License. The applicant shall submit official transcripts from one or more regionally accredited colleges or universities evidencing completion of at least 75 semester credit hours of post-baccalaureate coursework for applicants who began a doctoral program after January 1, 2005.

B. Coursework Requirements—Audiology License. The following coursework requirements apply to applicants who began a master's program after January 1, 1994.

1. - 2.b. ...

* * *

C. Coursework Requirements—Audiology License. The following coursework requirements apply to applicants who began a master's program prior to January 1, 1994.

C.1. - F.2.b. ...

c. A maximum of 6 academic semester credit hours associated with clinical practicum may be counted toward the minimum of 30 semester credit hours of professional coursework, but those hours may not be used to satisfy the minimum of 12 semester credit hours in speech/language disorders, 6 hours in language disorders, or 3 hours in audiology, or the 21 graduate credits in the professional area for which the license is sought.

* * *

G. - H.1.c. ...

2. Audiology License

a. 1820 clinical practicum hours if the graduate program began after January 1, 2005;

b. - c. ...

3. Speech-Language Pathology Assistant License

a. 225 clinical practicum hours are required, the first 100 of which shall have been obtained through a regionally accredited educational institution or its cooperating programs. Of the 100 hours obtained through a regionally accredited educational institution, 75 shall be obtained through direct patient/client contact, and the remaining 25 hours may be obtained through observation of assessment and therapy. It is recommended that the direct patient/client contact hours be obtained in at least two practicum sites with one site being a public school setting. The first 75 hours of direct patient/client contact shall be obtained in the following categories:

i. - ii. ...

iii. the remaining 35 hours may be obtained in the areas of speech, language or hearing disorders. A maximum of 5 of these hours may be in the area of audiology. It is recommended that a minimum of 20 hours be obtained in articulation.

3.b. - 4.a.i.(b). ...

(c) the remaining 35 hours may be obtained in the areas of speech, language or hearing disorders. A maximum of 5 of these hours may be in the area of audiology. It is recommended that a minimum of 20 hours be obtained in articulation.

b. The additional 125 hours required to upgrade to the Speech-Language Pathology Assistant License shall be obtained within three years of the date of issuance of the provisional assistant license and may be obtained by completing the remaining hours on-the-job and/or through a regionally accredited educational institution or its cooperating programs. Those hours obtained through supervised on-the-job training must consist of direct supervision hours and will only be accepted from the date that the application for license is received by the board.

c. A provisional speech-language pathology assistant may request deferment of the three-year period to complete licensure upgrade requirements. Such deferment may only be requested if there is an extenuating circumstance, such as inability to obtain employment in the area of speech-language pathology. The license must be renewed annually. Such deferment may only be held for a period of three years from the time of board approval.

i. If the licensee has never worked as a provisional speech-language pathology assistant, a notarized statement shall be submitted to the board office annually.

ii. ...

iii. Licensees on inactive status may retain their license by payment of the annual renewal fee. In order to resume practice as a speech-language pathology assistant, licensees on inactive status shall demonstrate completion of 5 clock hours of continuing education in the area of licensure for each year that inactive status was maintained (maximum of 25 hours).

I. Equivalency Requirements—Speech-Language Pathology, Provisional Speech-Language Pathology, or Audiology License

1. Individuals who do not possess a graduate degree in either audiology or speech-language pathology but wish to obtain a license through the equivalency process shall meet the coursework, practicum and examination requirements for the area in which licensure is sought as defined in the board's rules entitled Coursework Requirements: Audiology License Coursework Requirements: Speech-Language Pathology License and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology License; Clinical Practicum Hour Requirements and Examination Requirement.

J. Postgraduate Professional Employment/Experience

1. A graduate-level speech-language pathologist must submit verification of thirty-six weeks of full-time postgraduate professional employment/experience or its full-time equivalent.

2. deleted.

K. Examination Requirement—Speech-Language Pathology License, Provisional Speech-Language Pathology License, Audiology License

1. The board recognizes only the Educational Testing Service's specialty area examinations for audiology and speech-language pathology as the licensure examination for audiology and/or speech-language pathology. Scores received directly from the applicant are not acceptable for licensing purposes.

2. - 3. ...

4. If an individual has never held a license to practice audiology or speech-language pathology in another state, and if the degree program was completed greater than 10 years from the date of application, the passing score on the specialty area examination for audiology or speech/language pathology must have been obtained within the last 5 years.

L. - L.1.c. ...

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:706 (October 1988), amended LR 22:346 (May 1996), LR 27:197 (February 2001), repromulgated LR 27:1690 (October 2001), amended LR 28:1781 (August 2002), LR 30:2308 (October 2004), LR 33:2192 (October 2007), LR 37:2393 (August 2011), LR 39:1042 (April 2013), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1666 (October 2016), LR 44:

§109. Licensure Application Procedures

A. An application for a license to practice audiology and/or speech-language pathology shall be made on board-approved forms.

B. Criminal history record information must be submitted with the application form.

C. Official transcripts shall be sent to this board directly from the college or university from which the academic requirements were earned. Documentation of supervised clinical practicum hours shall be submitted on university forms signed by a clinical supervisor or director, and must be submitted along with the application form

D. Documentation of supervised clinical practicum hours shall be submitted on university forms signed by a clinical supervisor or director, and must be submitted along with the application form

E. The initial license fee submitted to this board with the application form and shall be paid by check, money order, or credit card.

F. Audiologists, speech-language pathologists, and/or assistants who have held a license in another state, shall provide official verification of their licensure status in each state, including any formal disciplinary action resulting in sanction and/or disciplinary proceedings which are pending. Verification of licensure status must be submitted along with the application form.

G. Documentation of thirty-six weeks of postgraduate professional employment/experience shall be submitted directly to the board in writing on official agency letterhead.

H. Documentation of thirty-six weeks of postgraduate professional employment/experience, a passing score on the Educational Testing Service's specialty area examination, and verification of supervised clinical practicum hours may be waived for individuals who submit verification that they hold the Certificate of Clinical Competence from the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. Documentation must be submitted with the application form.

I. Postgraduate professional employment/experience which counts toward upgrading the license status, will only be accepted from the date that a licensee's application is received by the board.

J. While an initial application for licensure is being considered by the board, the applicant may be employed as an audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant for a period not to exceed 60 calendar days from the date that their completed application is received by the board. In no event may the applicant be employed as an audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant after the application has been denied.

K. An applicant, with the exception of military applicants and military spouses, may be granted only one 60-day period to work while his/her initial application is being processed. No additional grace period may be granted to an applicant, regardless of whether the application is a new license or a request to reinstate or upgrade a license.

L. The board may refuse to consider any application which is not complete in every detail, including submission of every document required by the application form and instructions. The board may, at its discretion, require a more detailed or complete response to any request for information set forth in the application form as a condition for consideration of an application.

M. Applications from individuals who have defaulted on a loan from the Louisiana Office of Financial Assistance as

per R.S. 37:2951 will be denied until such time as a release from the Louisiana Office of Financial Assistance has been received noting that a repayment agreement has been established.

N. Applicants who have not obtained licensure within one year of the board's receipt of the application shall be deemed to have abandoned the application, resulting in mandatory reporting to the appropriate federal data bank. An applicant may request a withdrawal of the application subject to review and approval by the board.

O. Individuals holding an unrestricted audiology or speech-language pathology license from another state shall be allowed to practice in Louisiana for five consecutive days within each renewal period upon proof of current licensure submitted to the board office 10 days prior to the scheduled activity.

P. When there is probable cause to believe that an applicant practiced illegally in Louisiana as an audiologist, speech-language pathologist, and/or speech-language pathology assistant, the board may offer a consent agreement and order which will grant the individual a license, subject to the following specified terms and conditions.

1. Within 90 days of the date of the consent agreement and order, the applicant shall take and pass an open book examination regarding R.S. 37:2650-2666, the board's rules and regulations, and ethical questions.

a. Open book test fee shall be \$30. The retest fee shall be \$10 per section.

b. Applicants have 4 1/2 hours to complete all sections of the test.

c. The open book examination or any section may be re-taken anytime within the 90 days.

d. Notice of the consent agreement and order shall be published.

e. If the applicant fails to successfully complete all requirements set forth in the above paragraphs, the applicant's license shall be suspended without further notice until the board receives and accepts documentation of the applicant's completion of the consent agreement and order requirements.

Q. Temporary Registration during a Declared Public Health Emergency

1. In a public health emergency lawfully declared as such by the governor of Louisiana, the requirement for a Louisiana license as an audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant may be waived by the board at that time to those out-of-state audiologists, speech-language pathologists, or speech-language pathology assistants, whose licenses, certifications or registrations are current and unrestricted in another jurisdiction of the United States, for a period of time not to exceed the duration and scope of R.S. 29:769(E), as more particularly set forth in this Section.

2. The following requirements for temporary registration may be imposed pursuant to the declared state of emergency and shall be in accordance with rules promulgated by the board.

3. An audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant not licensed in Louisiana, whose licenses, certifications or registrations are

current and unrestricted in another jurisdiction of the United States, may gratuitously provide audiology and speech-language pathology services if:

a. the audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant has photo identification and a license to verify a current and unrestricted license, certification or registration in another jurisdiction of the United States, and properly registers with the board prior to providing audiology or speech-language pathology services in Louisiana as follows:

i. the audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant is engaged in a legitimate relief effort during the emergency period, and provides satisfactory documentation to the board of the location site(s) that he/she will be providing gratuitous audiology or speech-language pathology services;

ii. the audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant shall comply with the Louisiana Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology Practice Act, board rules, and other applicable laws, as well as practice in good faith, and within the reasonable scope of his/her skill, training, and ability; and

iii. the audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant renders services on a gratuitous basis with no revenue of any kind to be derived whatsoever from the provision of services within the state of Louisiana.

4. This temporary registration period shall not exceed 60 days at the discretion of the board, with the potential extension of up to two additional periods not to exceed 60 days for each extension as determined appropriate and necessary by the board.

5. All interested audiologists, speech-language pathologists, and speech-language pathology assistants shall submit a copy of their respective current and unrestricted licenses, certifications or registrations issued in other jurisdictions of the United States and photographic identification, as well as other requested information, to the Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology for registration with this agency prior to gratuitously providing audiology or speech-language pathology services in Louisiana.

6. Should a qualified audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant registered with the board fail to comply with any requirement or condition established by this Section, the board may terminate his/her registration upon notice and hearing.

7. In the event an audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant fails to register with the board, but practices audiology or speech-language pathology, whether gratuitously or otherwise, then such conduct will be considered the unlawful practice of audiology or speech-language pathology and prosecuted accordingly.

R. Volunteer Services. Individuals seeking to provide services on a voluntary basis shall hold an unrestricted out-of-state license in the area of practice, shall be deemed to meet all of the qualifications for license set forth by this Chapter, and shall abide by the Code of Ethics.

S. Licensing Military Members and Military Spouses

1. Expedited application for licensure in the area of audiology or speech-language pathology shall be granted to military members and military spouses licensed, certified or registered in another jurisdiction, while the individual is satisfying the requirement for licensure.

a. Applications shall be submitted in accordance with §109.

b. Military members shall submit with the application a copy of current military-issued identification and military orders.

c. Applicants who are the spouse of military personnel shall submit with the application a copy of current military-issued identification, marriage license, and an affidavit attesting that applicant is married to military personnel.

2. Military applicants shall submit:

a. military members—official, primary-source documentation verifying requirements met in accordance with §107 and §115;

b. military spouse—official, primary-source documentation verifying requirements met in accordance with §107 and §115.

3. Military members and military spouses shall be given a 60-day grace period for submission of official documentation from the date their notarized application and license fee are received by the board office, regardless of lapsed license status. The board may consider an extension of this grace period as per House Concurrent Resolution 74 of the 2015 Regular Session of the Louisiana Legislature.

4. The provisions of this Section shall not apply to any applicant receiving a dishonorable discharge or a military spouse whose spouse received a dishonorable discharge.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:352 (May 1996), LR 27:199 (February 2001), LR 28:1974 (September 2002), LR 30:2311 (October 2004), LR 33:2193 (October 2007), LR 37:2393 (August 2011), repromulgated LR 37:2623 (September 2011), LR 39:1043 (April 2013), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1666 (October 2016), LR 44:

§111. Application for Telehealth Registration

A. An application to practice audiology and/or speech-language pathology via telepractice shall be made on forms supplied by the board.

B. Proof of unrestricted, unencumbered current licensure granted in the home state based on standards at least equivalent to those in Louisiana shall be submitted.

C. Applicants shall provide official verification of licensure and/or registration status in each state, including any formal disciplinary action resulting in sanction and/or disciplinary proceedings which are pending.

D. The initial telehealth registration fee submitted to this board shall be paid by cashier's check, money order, or credit card.

E. Until an application has been approved by the board, the audiologist and/or speech-language pathologist shall not engage in delivery of telepractice services to Louisiana residents.

F. Applicants who have not obtained registration within one year of having submitted the application shall be deemed to have abandoned the application, resulting in mandatory reporting to the appropriate federal data bank. An applicant may request a withdrawal of the application subject to review and approval by the board.

G. In order for telehealth registration to remain current in Louisiana, the individual must maintain an unrestricted, unencumbered current license in another state, whose standards are at least equivalent to those in Louisiana.

H. When there is probable cause to believe that an applicant practiced illegally in Louisiana as an audiologist and/or speech-language pathologist, the board may offer a consent agreement and order which will grant the individual registration, subject to the following specified terms and conditions.

1. Within 90 days of the date of the consent agreement and order, the applicant shall take and pass an open book examination regarding R.S. 37:2650-2666, the board's rules and regulations, and ethical questions.

a. Open book test fee shall be \$30. The retest fee shall be \$10 per section.

b. Applicants have 4.5 hours to complete all sections of the test.

c. The open book examination or any section may be re-taken anytime within the 90 days.

d. Notice of the consent agreement and order shall be published.

e. If the applicant fails to successfully complete all requirements set forth in the above paragraphs, the applicant's registration shall be suspended without further notice until the board receives and accepts documentation of the applicant's completion of the consent agreement and order requirements.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

§113. Criminal History Record Information

A. In addition to any other requirements established by regulation, an applicant is required, as a condition for eligibility for licensure, to:

1. submit a full set of fingerprints, in a form and manner prescribed by the board;

2. permit the board to obtain state and national criminal history record information on the applicant;

3. submit the fee for state and national criminal history record information on the applicant.

B. Any and all state or national criminal history record information obtained by the board from the bureau or FBI which is not already a matter of public record shall be deemed non-public and confidential information restricted to the exclusive use of the board, its members, investigators, agents, and attorneys in evaluating the applicant's suitability and eligibility for licensure. No such information or records shall, except with the written consent of the applicant or by order of a court of competent jurisdiction, be released or otherwise disclosed by the board to any other person or agency.

C. An applicant who denies the existence or extent of criminal history record information on an application, which is discovered by information, records, or documentation provided by the state police, FBI, or any other state, national, or foreign jurisdiction shall, in addition to the potential disqualification of licensure for any of the causes specified in §141 of this Chapter, be deemed to have provided false, misleading, or deceptive information, or false sworn information on an application for licensure, and to have engaged in unprofessional conduct, providing additional cause for the board to suspend or revoke, refuse to issue, or impose probationary or other restrictions on any license held or applied for by an applicant in the state of Louisiana culpable of such violation, pursuant to R.S. 37:2662.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

§115. Licensure by Reciprocity (Formerly §111)

A. The board may waive the examination for applicants who present proof of current licensure in another state with standards equivalent to those of Louisiana.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:354 (May 1996), LR 30:2311 (October 2004), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

§117. Additional Requirements for International Applicants/Speakers of English as a Second Language (Formerly §113)

A. Any document required to be submitted to this board with an application for a license shall be in the English language, or accompanied by a certified translation thereof into the English language.

B. As a condition of the board's consideration of the license application of a graduate of a foreign college or university, the applicant shall provide the board with an evaluation of the applicant's transcript from an approved credentials evaluation agency. A list of approved agencies, and their addresses, may be obtained from the board.

C. Because the essence of the practice of audiology and speech-language pathology is communication, an applicant whose primary language is not English shall submit a passing score on a nationally recognized English proficiency examination as approved by the board, and make an appearance before the board or its designees before a license may be issued. An English proficiency assessment shall be conducted by the board or its designees as a condition for licensure. At the board's discretion, the license may be conditionally granted subject to an English remediation plan and/or restrictions on practice.

D. The clinical observation and clinical practicum for a speech-language pathologist educated outside the United States must consist of at least 400 patient contact hours, to include:

1. at least 25 hours in supervised observation prior to the clinical practicum. Patient contact hours in excess of the required minimum may be substituted for the required 25 hours of supervised observation;

2. at least 375 patient contact hours in speech-language pathology. Practicum experiences must be:

a. across the scope of practice in speech-language pathology;

b. with clients across the lifespan;

c. across the range of clinical severity.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:354 (May 1996), LR 27:201 (February 2001), LR 30:2311 (October 2004), LR 37:2394 (August 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

§119. Requirements to Upgrade License (Formerly §115)

A. The provisional speech-language pathology licensee who has not passed the examination at the time of initial licensure shall submit the following to upgrade his/her license status:

1. an official copy of a passing score on the Educational Testing Service area examination;

2. verification of 36 weeks of full-time postgraduate professional employment/experience or its part-time equivalent in the field the license is held;

3. proof of supervision through date of upgrade (Form 100);

4. upgrade fee of \$30.

B. The provisional speech-language pathology licensee who has not completed the thirty-six weeks of postgraduate professional employment/experience at the time of initial licensure shall submit the following to upgrade his/her license status:

1. verification of 36 weeks of full-time postgraduate professional employment/experience or its part-time equivalent in the field the license is held;

2. proof of supervision through date of upgrade (Form 100);

3. upgrade fee of \$30.

C. The provisional speech-language pathology assistant shall submit the following to upgrade his/her license status:

1. proof of 225 supervised clinical practicum hours shall be on file in the board's office. Only direct supervision hours and/or university practicum hours may be counted towards the 225 hours;

2. upgrade fee of \$30.

D. The restricted audiology or restricted speech-language pathology licensee who holds a master's degree or its equivalent in audiology or speech-language pathology shall submit the following documents to upgrade their license:

1. an official copy of a passing score on the Educational Testing Service area examination;

2. verification of 36 weeks of post-graduate professional employment/experience or its part-time equivalent in the field in which the license is held;

3. proof of supervision through date of upgrade (Form 100);

4. upgrade fee of \$30.

E. Only those hours that have been obtained on-the-job as paid professional experience may be counted towards an upgrade.

F. Restricted speech-language pathology licensees who hold a bachelor's degree who wish to change their status to a provisional speech-language pathology license shall submit an application for license and meet the requirements of R.S. 37:2659.

G. Speech-language pathology assistant licensees who wish to change their status to a provisional speech-language pathology license shall submit an application for license and meet the requirements of R.S. 37:2659.

H. Postgraduate professional employment/experience which counts toward upgrading the license status will only be accepted from the date that the licensee's application was received by the board.

I. It is the responsibility of the licensee to submit the documents and make a written request for upgrade of his/her license status. Licensees shall complete all supervision requirements consistent with the license held and immediately thereafter submit appropriate supervision forms to the board office along with a written request for license upgrade and the upgrade fee. The licensee shall remain under supervision until the upgrade has been approved by the board.

J. If a passing score on the Educational Testing Service's specialty area examination in speech-language pathology is not submitted within one year from the date of issuance of the license, a provisional licensee must apply for a speech-language pathology assistant license. This individual may perform only those duties as specified in §119 and must be supervised in accordance with the requirements specified in §129.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 22:349 (May 1996), amended LR 27:197 (February 2001), LR 28:1971 (September 2002), LR 30:2312 (October 2004), LR 33:2194 (October 2007), LR 37:2394 (August 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

§121. Duties: Speech-Language Pathology Assistant License and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant License (Formerly §117)

A.1. All duties performed by the speech-language pathology assistant licensee or provisional speech-language pathology assistant licensee shall be assigned by a licensed speech-language pathologist and shall be supervised in accordance with the rules and regulations specified by the board. Caseload assignments shall be consistent with the knowledge base and training of the licensee for the performance of the following tasks:

a. conduct speech-language screenings and assessments without interpretation, following specified protocols as developed by the supervising speech-language pathologist. An assistant may not administer a test if the publisher's examiner requirements dictate administration by a graduate-degreed individual. All screening and assessment reports shall be cosigned and interpreted by the supervising speech-language pathologist;

b. perform hearing screenings limited to a pass/fail determination for the purpose of initial identification of disorders, following specified protocols as approved by the supervising speech-language pathologist;

c. provide direct treatment which is within the level of training and experience as prescribed by the supervising speech-language pathologist to a caseload of patients/clients who demonstrate communication disorders. Supervision of treatment shall be in accordance with the rules and regulations specified by the board;

d. follow treatment plans or protocols as developed and documented by the supervising speech-language pathologist;

e. document patient/client progress toward meeting established objectives as stated in the treatment plan;

f. schedule activities, prepare charts, records, graphs, or otherwise display data;

g. perform checks and maintenance of equipment;

h. speech-language pathology assistants may participate in parent conferences, individual education plan meetings (IEP), case conferences, interdisciplinary team conferences, and research projects. Provisional speech-language pathology assistants may participate in these activities only with the supervising speech-language pathologist.

2. Duties outside the Scope of Practice of a Speech-Language Pathology Assistant and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant

a. The speech-language pathology assistant licensee and provisional speech-language pathology assistant shall not:

i. perform clinical tasks without the knowledge and approval of the supervising speech-language pathologist;

ii. conduct evaluations, even under supervision.

iii. interpret test and assessment results;

iv. screen or diagnose clients for feeding and swallowing disorders;

v. demonstrate swallowing strategies or precautions to clients, family, or staff;

vi. engage in service delivery via telepractice; however, the individual may function as a facilitator given appropriate training.

vii. work with a communication or related disorder unless s/he has had sufficient coursework with appropriate supervised practicum in that area obtained through a regionally accredited educational institution or its cooperating programs;

viii. provide patient/client or family counseling;

ix. select and/or discharge patients/clients for services without the approval of the supervising speech-language pathologist;

x. disclose clinical or confidential information either orally or in writing to anyone not designated by the supervising speech-language pathologist and without the authorization of the patient/client or their designee;

xi. make referrals for additional services without the approval of the supervising speech-language pathologist;

xii. participate in individualized family service plan (IFSP) meetings without the supervising speech-language pathologist.

3. The speech-language pathology assistant and the provisional speech-language pathology assistant shall not perform any clinical task without the knowledge and approval of the supervising speech-language pathologist.

4. Failure to comply with these rules and regulations may result in disciplinary action against the assistant and/or the supervising speech-language pathologist.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 30:2312 (October 2004), amended LR 33:2194 (October 2007), LR 37:2394 (August 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

§123. Fees

(Formerly §119)

A. The board collects the following fees, which are non-refundable:

1. initial Louisiana license application—\$125;
2. dual license application—\$225;
3. renewal of license submitted on or before June 30, of each year—\$65:
 - a. dual licensure renewal—\$90;
4. delinquent renewal fee submitted between July 1 and July 31, of each year—\$130;
 - a. dual licensure renewal—\$180;
5. initial telehealth registration fee—\$50;
6. renewal of telehealth registration submitted on or before June 30, of each year—\$25;
7. renewal of telehealth registration submitted between July 1 and July 31, of each year—\$50;
8. licensure upgrade—\$30;
9. continuing education pre-approval fee for corporations or individuals who are not LBESPA licensees—\$50;
10. mailing lists:
 - a. \$200 for speech-language pathologists;
 - b. \$25 for audiologists
 - c. \$25 for speech-language pathology assistants
11. NSF or returned check—\$40;
12. open book test fee—\$30;
 - a. open book retest fee, per section—\$10;
13. publications to include law, rules, etc.—\$5 ea. plus postage and handling;
14. re-issuance of license or registration certificate—\$25;
15. subpoena within East Baton Rouge Parish—\$50:
 - a. subpoena plus state-allowed travel rate per mile outside East Baton Rouge Parish—\$50;
16. verification of license or registration (written)—\$10;
17. an additional fee may be charged for credit card transactions in accordance with state treasury rules.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:706 (October 1988), amended LR 22:350 (May 1996), LR 27:197 (February 2001), repromulgated LR 27:1691 (October 2001) amended LR 30:2313 (October 2004), LR 33:2195 (October 2007), LR 37:2395 (August 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1666 (October 2016), LR 44:

§125. Renewals

(Formerly §121)

A. All licenses and registrations shall be renewed annually by June 30, to avoid delinquent renewal fees.

B. Initial licenses and registrations issued during the last quarter of the fiscal year, i.e., April, May, and June, will not be required to be renewed during that fiscal year. No continuing education hours will be required of the licensee or registrant for that period.

C. Licensees shall list on their renewal form the licensees (i.e., provisional speech-language pathologists, restricted speech-language pathologists, restricted audiologists, speech-language pathology assistants, or provisional speech-language pathology assistants) and aides that they are supervising.

D. It is the licensee's and registrant's continuing obligation to keep the board informed of his/her current mailing address.

E. Licensees shall participate in continuing professional education activities for each license period, July 1-June 30, in accordance with §127.

F. Inactive status is granted to licensees who are retired or who do not practice audiology or speech-language pathology during the fiscal year, July 1-June 30.

1. Licensees on inactive status may retain their license by payment of the annual renewal fee.

2. These licensees shall complete the affidavit on the continuing education report and submit it at the time of licensure renewal.

3. The licensee may submit the required five hours of continuing education each year he/she is on inactive status or submit all of the hours the year he/she returns to work in the profession.

4. Licensees on inactive status or who are retired shall not supervise individuals or otherwise engage in the practice of audiology or speech-language pathology.

5. In order to resume the practice of audiology or speech-language pathology, licensees on inactive status shall demonstrate completion of 5 clock hours of continuing education in the area of licensure for each year that inactive status was maintained (maximum of 25 hours). In addition, a letter requesting a change to active status must be submitted to the board office prior to resuming the practice of audiology or speech-language pathology.

G. Licensees who hold a license requiring supervision and who are not working in the field of audiology and/or speech-language pathology shall submit a notarized statement at the time of license renewal attesting to the fact that they did not work in the profession during the license period.

H. The board may refuse to consider any renewal application which is not complete in every detail, including submission of every document required by the application form and instructions. The board may, in its discretion, require additional information as a condition for consideration of the application.

I. Renewal applications from individuals who have defaulted on a loan from the Louisiana Office of Financial Assistance as per LA R.S. 37:2951 will be denied until such time as a release is received from the Louisiana Office of Financial Assistance noting that a repayment agreement has been established.

J. Renewal will be denied for licensees who are in default on the repayment of any loan guaranteed in accordance with R.S. 17:3023(A)(8) and R.S. 37:2951(A)(E).

K. Delinquent Renewal

1. Delinquent requests for renewals will be accepted by the board through July 31, provided the delinquent renewal fee is paid in accordance with §121(4) and the continuing education requirements have been met.

2. A licensee whose license lapsed on August 1, and applies to reinstate prior to the following June 30, is required to submit a completed application, proof of continuing education, initial license fee and delinquent renewal fee in accordance with §123 and §127.

3. A licensee whose license lapsed on August 1, and applies for reinstatement after June 30, of the following year, is required to submit a completed application, proof of continuing education, and is subject to the initial license fee and delinquent renewal fee and the requirements of §127.

4. A registrant whose registration lapsed on August 1, must complete the initial application process for telehealth registration.

L. Conditional Renewal

1. Licensees who previously held a full, valid license which was obtained under the grandfather clause of Act 260 of the 1978 Regular Session of the Louisiana Legislature, whether delinquent or lapsed, for a period not to exceed five years, shall be eligible for licensure renewal or reinstatement upon meeting the continuing education requirement and submitting the appropriate renewal fee in accordance with §123. If the license has lapsed for a period of more than five years, applicants shall reapply in accordance with the requirements enumerated in R.S. 37:2651 et seq., as amended by Act 892 of the 1995 Regular Session of the Louisiana Legislature.

2. Licensees who previously held a restricted license which was obtained under Act 260 of the 1978 Regular Session of the Louisiana Legislature, whether delinquent or lapsed, shall be eligible for licensure renewal or reinstatement, upon meeting the continuing education requirement and submitting the appropriate renewal fee as required in accordance with §123 and §127.

3. Licensees who allow their license to lapse (August 1) shall submit documentation of completion of five clock hours of continuing education (maximum of 25 hours) in the area of licensure for each year that the license has lapsed in addition to meeting the license requirements enumerated in R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

4. Licensees who have allowed their license to lapse for a period of 5 years or greater, and do not hold a current audiology or speech-language pathology license in another state, must submit evidence of 25 continuing education hours directly related to the clinical practice of the license being sought and must have been obtained within the past 18 months.

5. Licensees who have allowed their license to lapse for a period of 10 years or greater, and do not hold a current audiology or speech-language pathology license in another state, must submit a passing score on the Educational Testing Service's specialty area examination for audiology or speech-language pathology, as applicable to the license

being sought, achieved no more than five years prior to the submission of the request for reinstatement.

6. Renewal of a license will not be granted until all requirements including mandated continuing education hours have been completed.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:351 (May 1996), LR 27:198 (February 2001), LR 28:1972 (September 2002), LR 30:2314 (October 2004), LR 33:2195 (October 2007), LR 37:2395 (August 2011), LR 39:1043 (April 2013), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1667 (October 2016), LR 44:

§127. Continuing Education Requirements (Formerly §123)

A. Each licensee shall complete continuing professional education activities of at least 10 clock hours each license period, July 1-June 30.

B. Of the 10 hours, five shall be educational activities directly related to the scope of practice of the licensee and must be designed to increase the knowledge and skills in the area of licensure.

C. Of the 10 hours, five may be in areas related to the professions of audiology and speech-language pathology. Such activities shall increase knowledge and skills pertinent to practice. Examples include: billing, coding, and reimbursement; record-keeping; ethics; supervision.

D. Audiologists who dispense shall ensure that at least 3 of the total 10 hours are in areas directly related to hearing aid dispensing, such as business/practice management, marketing, aural habilitation/rehabilitation, diagnostic assessment, characteristics of hearing aids and their application, etc.

E. Dual licensees shall complete 15 hours per year with a minimum of five hours in audiology and five hours in speech-language pathology; the remaining five may be in areas related to the professions of audiology and speech-language pathology.

F. Out-of-state audiologists and speech-language pathologists who hold telehealth registration shall complete the continuing education requirements consistent with the license the individual possesses for the state in which the provider is located. Telehealth registrants residing in states which do not require continuing education for audiologists and/or speech-language pathologists shall complete the annual continuing education requirements specified in this Section and may be audited.

G. Continuing education events occurring in the month of June will be accepted for the collection period in which they occur or they may be counted in the following collection period which begins on July 1. Hours from one event may not be divided between two collection periods.

H. The graduated scale for the collection of continuing education hours is based on the date an applicant receives his/her initial license or registration.

License Received	Hours Required
April, May, June	0
January, February, March	3
October, November, December	6
July, August, September	10

I. In the case of extenuating circumstances, when the licensee does not fulfill the continuing education requirements, the licensee shall submit a written request for extension to the board for consideration.

J. Continuing education hours accrued during the applicant's grace period will be accepted.

K. Acceptable continuing education sponsors and activities that are directly related to the practice of audiology and/or speech-language pathology:

1. board-sponsored activities;
2. presentations in the area of communication disorders sponsored by professional organizations such as American Academy of Audiology (AAA), American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA), Louisiana Academy of Audiology (LAA), Louisiana Speech-Language-Hearing Association (LSHA), Speech Pathologists and Audiologists in Louisiana Schools (SPALS), Louisiana Society for Hearing Aid Specialists, etc. Business meetings, luncheons, award ceremonies, receptions, and other non-content area events are not recognized as acceptable continuing education activities;

3. activities provided by ASHA-approved continuing education providers or AAA-approved continuing education activities;

4. meetings of related professional organizations (e.g., Council for Exceptional Children, International Dyslexia Association);

5. college courses in the area of licensure with the exception of clinical practicum taken for credit or official audit (3 semester hours or 6 quarter hours=10 hours of continuing education);

6. distance learning (video conferences, telephone seminars and internet courses sponsored by universities, schools, clinics, state agencies, hospitals, professional organizations, or related professional organizations);

7. workshops and in-services that are university, school, clinic, hospital or state agency sponsored (maximum of five hours in a related area). Only content area workshop and in-service time shall count as earned continuing education. Documentation of staff development content must be separated from employee meeting activities such as announcements, review of deadlines, event planning, and other non-content area activities;

8. publication of an article in a peer-reviewed journal for the year in which it was published;

9. digital media (e.g. CD, DVD, online webinars, etc.) which is ASHA-approved or AAA-approved continuing education media;

10. the presenting licensee may count 1 1/2 times the value of an activity the first time it is presented to allow for preparation time (example: a 3 hour workshop=4 1/2 hours). The activity will count for the actual hour value for each subsequent presentation of the same activity;

11. teaching at the college level in the area of communication disorders is not acceptable.

L. Pre-Approval Policy

1. Pre-approval is required for continuing education events that do not meet the requirements as listed under §125.K.1-11, and pre-approval of continuing education events is required in those situations where it is unclear whether the topic is relevant to the profession or will further a professional's expertise in a particular area.

2. The licensee shall request pre-approval (minimum of 30 days in advance) of self-study activities, or other appropriate activities.

3. Individuals not licensed by LBESPA as well as corporations offering continuing education not addressed under §127.K., must submit a \$50 continuing education review fee along with the pre-approval request.

4. Licensees who elect to attend university classes/courses in audiology and/or speech-language pathology without payment of the university fee shall submit a self-study plan for pre-approval from the Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology to receive continuing education credits.

5. Self-study activities in the area of communication disorders:

- a. digital media (maximum of 5 hours);

- b. reading of journal articles that contain self-examination questions. Articles shall be submitted for pre-approval (maximum of 5 hours).

6. Publication of diagnostic and/or therapeutic materials (maximum of 5 hours).

M. Recording of Continuing Education Activities

1. Licensees shall record all continuing education activities as prescribed by the board and submitted at the time of renewal.

2. Licensees shall maintain records of continuing education activities completed for three years.

3. Licensees shall not submit repeated continuing education activities for credit within a three-year period.

4. A percentage of licensees will be audited each year as a means of evaluating compliance with the continuing education requirements. The board may request, through random audit, verification of clock hours submitted, including information regarding content and attendance. If the title of the activity does not clearly state the content, a description and/or time-ordered agenda may be required.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 22:351 (May 1996), amended LR 27:199 (February 2001), LR 28:1973 (September 2002), LR 30:2314 (October 2004), LR 33:2196 (October 2007), LR 37:2395 (August 2011), LR 39:1043 (April 2013), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1667 (October 2016), LR 44:

§129. Supervision Requirements for Restricted License and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology License (Formerly §125)

A. Restricted licensees and provisional speech-language pathology licensees are required to undergo direct supervision by a licensed speech-language pathologist, licensed in accordance with R.S. 37:2659(B). Direct and indirect supervision must occur in every work setting in which the licensee is employed. An audiologist, licensed in accordance with R.S. 37:2659(A) may supervise these individuals for the purpose of hearing screening.

B. A supervising speech-language pathologist must have a minimum of one year of full-time professional speech-language pathology experience following the postgraduate professional/employment experience. Full-time employment

in a school system for the school year is considered to meet this requirement.

C. Prior to the initiation of supervision of a restricted or provisional licensee, training in the area of supervision is strongly recommended.

D. An individual may not be supervised by a provisional licensee, restricted licensee, assistant licensee, an individual on inactive status, a telehealth registrant, or a family member.

E. Supervision must involve the direct participation of the supervisor in order for the supervisor to monitor, observe, evaluate, and make suggestions for improvement regarding the supervisee's professional employment.

F. Restricted licensees and provisional speech-language pathology licensees must submit a supervisory agreement signed by the supervisor and supervisee as prescribed by the board. The form must be submitted to the board by the supervisee within 30 days of employment and submitted annually at the time of renewal. If there is a change in supervisor(s) at any time, a new supervisory agreement must be submitted to the board within 30 days of the change in supervision. If there are multiple supervisors for the same supervisee, all supervisors must sign the supervisory agreement.

G. Speech-language pathologists may share the supervision responsibility for provisional or restricted licensees, but each supervising speech-language pathologist shall complete and submit the necessary supervision forms.

H. Supervisory records, including supervision logs and other documentation of supervision, shall be maintained by both the supervisor and supervisee for a period of three years. Documentation of supervision may be requested by the board.

I. The direct supervision of the licensee, whether employed full-time or part-time, shall include 16 monitoring activities annually.

1. At least eight shall be direct observations divided between the areas of diagnostics and management. The direct observations must be equal to or greater than a total of eight hours. Indirect supervision may include conferences, audio and video recordings, review of written records, staffings and discussions with other persons who have participated in the licensee's training.

2. For 12-month employees, two direct observations shall be conducted each quarter.

3. For nine-month employees, four direct observations shall occur in each semester. If the nine-month employment is extended for a period of time, additional direct as well as indirect supervision must occur.

J. Documentation of supervision shall be submitted annually at the time of license renewal on Form 100 provided by the board.

K. Licensees shall complete all supervision requirements consistent with the license held and immediately thereafter submit appropriate supervision forms to the board office along with a written request for license upgrade and the upgrade fee. The licensee shall remain under supervision until the upgrade has been approved by the board.

L. The board will accept supervision provided out-of-state by an individual licensed or ASHA-certified in the area of practice. Supervision must be documented on Form 100.

1. Restricted licensees and provisional speech-language pathology licensees who have not worked in Louisiana may submit their clinical fellowship report as proof of supervision that was carried out during the license period. Otherwise, licensees must submit at the time of license renewal, appropriate proof of supervision consistent with Louisiana supervision requirements.

M. Licensees who are not working in the field of speech-language pathology and who hold a license requiring supervision, shall submit a notarized statement at the time of license renewal attesting to the fact that they did not work in the profession during the license period.

N. All costs of supervision shall be borne by the licensee or his/her employer, but in no event will those costs be borne by the board.

O. When supervision requirements have not been met in accordance with §129, licensees shall complete additional months of supervision to replace months of incomplete supervision.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:352 (May 1996), LR 27:199 (February 2001), LR 28:1974 (September 2002) LR 30:2315 (October 2004), LR 33:2196 (October 2007), LR 37:2396 (August 2011), LR 39:1043 (April 2013), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

§131. Supervision Requirements for Speech-Language Pathology Assistant and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant (Formerly §127)

A. A supervising speech-language pathologist must have a minimum of one year of full-time professional speech-language pathology experience following the postgraduate professional/employment experience. Full time employment in a school system for the school year is considered to meet this requirement.

B. Prior to the initiation of supervision of an assistant or provisional assistant, training in the area of supervision is strongly recommended.

C. An individual may not be supervised by a provisional licensee, restricted licensee, assistant licensee, an individual on inactive status, a telehealth registrant, or a family member.

D. The supervision requirements specified in these regulations are minimum requirements. It is the responsibility of the speech-language pathologist to design and provide a supervision system that protects patient/client care and maintains the highest possible standards of quality.

E. Supervision must involve the direct participation of the supervisor in order for the supervisor to monitor, observe, evaluate, and make suggestions for improvement regarding the supervisee's employment.

F. The supervisor is responsible for ensuring that the assistant does not make decisions regarding evaluation, management and future disposition of clients.

G. The supervisor is responsible for initial consultation with the assistant regarding coursework and practicum experiences prior to caseload assignment. The supervising speech-language pathologist shall assign only those tasks for which the assistant has been trained.

H. Decision-making regarding specification of on-going treatment protocol and necessary modifications, is the responsibility of the supervisor. The level of supervision required is considered the minimum necessary to ensure appropriate patient/client care.

I. The supervising speech-language pathologist shall be readily available for consultation with the assistant licensee. This includes personal contact, telephone, or other means of communication.

J. Speech-language pathology assistants and provisional speech-language pathology assistants must submit a supervisory agreement signed by the supervisor and supervisee as prescribed by the board. The form must be submitted to the board by the supervisee within 30 days of employment and submitted annually at the time of renewal. If there is a change in supervisor(s) at any time, a new supervisory agreement must be submitted to the board within 30 days of the change in supervision. If there are multiple supervisors for the same supervisee, all supervisors must sign the supervisory agreement.

K. Speech-language pathologists may share the supervision responsibility for speech-language pathology assistants or provisional speech-language pathology assistants, but each supervising speech-language pathologist shall complete and submit the necessary supervision forms.

L. Supervisory records, including supervision logs and other documentation of supervision, shall be maintained by both the supervisor and supervisee for a period of three years. Documentation of supervision may be requested by the board.

M. The board will accept supervision given out-of-state by a licensed or ASHA certified speech-language pathologist in the area of licensure. Licensees must submit at the time of license renewal, appropriate proof of supervision consistent with Louisiana supervision requirements.

N. Assistants who are not working in the field of speech-language pathology shall submit a notarized statement at the time of license renewal attesting to the fact that they did not work in the profession during the license period.

O. Although more than one speech-language pathologist may provide supervision of an assistant licensee and provisional assistant licensee, at no time may a licensed speech-language pathologist supervise or be listed as a supervisor for more than three assistant or provisional assistant licensees. When multiple supervisors are used, the supervisors are encouraged to coordinate and communicate with each other.

P. Provisional speech-language pathology assistants and speech-language pathology assistants must undergo direct supervision as well as indirect supervision in every work setting in which the licensee is employed.

Q. Documentation of supervision shall be submitted annually at the time of license renewal on Form 200 provided by the board.

R. Supervision Requirements for the Speech-Language Pathology Assistant

1. A minimum of one clock hour of direct supervision shall be completed in the primary work setting each week for each licensee. If the assistant is employed in more than one work setting, additional direct supervision must occur in the secondary work setting.

2. A minimum of one clock hour of indirect supervision shall be completed each week for each licensee. These activities should include, but are not limited to:

- a. specifying protocols for speech-language screenings and assessments conducted by the assistant licensee;
- b. specifying protocols for hearing screenings conducted by the assistant licensee;
- c. approving treatment plans or protocols and documenting approval;
- d. monitoring patient/client progress toward meeting established objectives;
- e. monitoring, scheduling, charting and data collection;
- f. directing maintenance of equipment;
- g. directing research projects, in-service training and public relations programs;
- h. conducting telephone conferences.

3. If circumstances prohibit a supervisor from completing the minimum supervision requirements (§131.R.1 and 2) in a given week, the remaining supervision shall be completed the following week in conjunction with the required supervision hours for that week.

4. When the supervising speech-language pathologist is unavailable for supervision for more than one week, arrangements shall be made for another qualified supervisor or the speech-language pathology assistant shall be transferred to other duties.

5. Speech-Language Pathology Assistant Full-Time and Part-Time Supervision Requirements

Hours Worked	Required Direct Supervision	Required Indirect Supervision
21-40 hours	1 hour/week	1 hour/week
20 hours or less	1 hour/every 2 weeks	1 hour/every 2 weeks

6. Assistant licensees shall be supervised only by a speech-language pathologist licensed under the provisions of R.S. 37:2659(B) with the exception of hearing screenings which may be supervised by an audiologist, licensed under the provisions of R.S. 37:2659(A).

S. Supervision Requirements for the Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant

1. A minimum of three clock hours of direct supervision shall be completed in the primary work setting each week for each licensee. If the provisional speech-language pathology assistant is employed in more than one work setting, additional direct supervision must occur in the secondary work setting.

2. A minimum of two clock hours of indirect supervision shall be completed each week for each licensee.

3. These activities should include, but are not limited to:

- a. specifying protocols for speech-language screenings and assessments conducted by the assistant licensee;
- b. specifying protocols for hearing screenings conducted by the assistant licensee;
- c. approving treatment plans or protocols and documenting approval;
- d. monitoring patient/client progress toward meeting established objectives;

- e. monitoring scheduling, charting and data collection;
 - f. directing maintenance of equipment;
 - g. directing research projects, in-service training and public relations programs;
 - h. conducting telephone conferences.
4. If extenuating circumstances prohibit a supervisor from completing the minimum supervision requirements (§131.S.1 and 2) in a given week, the remaining supervision shall be completed the following week in conjunction with the required supervision hours for that week.
5. When the supervising speech-language pathologist is out for more than one week, arrangements shall be made for another qualified supervisor or the provisional speech-language pathology assistant shall be transferred to other duties.
6. When supervision requirements have not been met, in accordance with §131 licensees shall complete additional months of supervision to replace months of incomplete supervision.
7. Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant Full-Time and Part-Time Supervision Requirements

Hours Worked	Required Direct Supervision	Required Indirect Supervision
21-40 hours	3 hours/week	2 hours/week
20 hours or less	1.5 hours/every 2 weeks	1 hour/every 2 weeks

8. Provisional assistant licensees shall be supervised by a speech-language pathologist licensed under the provisions of R.S. 37:2659(B) with the exception of hearing screenings which may be supervised by an audiologist, licensed under the provisions of R.S. 37:2659(A).

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:353 (May 1996), LR 27:200 (February 2001), repromulgated LR 27:1691 (October 2001), amended LR 30:2316 (October 2004), LR 33:2197 (October 2007), LR 37:2396 (August 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

§133. Independent Practice (Formerly §129)

A. Licensed audiologists and speech-language pathologists, by virtue of academic coursework, clinical practicum, and professional experience, are qualified to engage in the autonomous or independent practice of the professions. Individuals who hold a license, i.e., provisional, restricted, assistant or provisional assistant, mandating supervision during the practice of the professions may not engage in the autonomous or independent practice of audiology or speech-language pathology.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 33:2198 (October 2007), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

§135. Telepractice (Formerly §130)

A. Telepractice, regardless of where the service is rendered or delivered, constitutes the practice of audiology or speech-language pathology and shall require Louisiana licensure for in-state practitioners and telehealth registration for out-of-state licensed practitioners.

B. A provider of telehealth services shall be competent in both the type of services provided and the methodology and equipment used to provide the services.

C. A provider of telehealth services must use methods for protecting client information that include authentication and encryption technology.

D. The standard of care shall be the same as if the audiology or speech-language pathology services were delivered face-to-face. It is the responsibility of the provider to determine candidacy and to ensure that the client is comfortable with the technology being utilized.

E. The client shall be notified of telehealth services including but not limited to the right to refuse telehealth services, options for service delivery, and instructions on filing and resolving complaints, in all applicable jurisdictions.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 39:1044 (April 2013), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1668 (October 2016), LR 44:

§137. Hearing Aid Dispensing (Formerly §131)

A. Audiologists who dispense hearing aids shall meet the coursework and practicum requirements for dispensing as specified in R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

B. Audiologists who dispense hearing aids shall maintain annual calibration records on audiometric equipment.

C. Audiologists who dispense hearing aids shall comply with the following:

1. Audiologists shall ensure that a pre-purchase evaluation includes:

- a. a case history;
- b. an otoscopic examination;
- c. a basic audiological test battery conducted within the preceding six-month period in a sound-treated environment unless the patient's physical condition prohibits accomplishment of these procedures. The battery shall include:

d. middle ear measurements shall also be obtained when indicated.

- i. basic comprehensive audiometry;
- ii. appropriate tolerance testing;

2. Audiologists shall provide the consumer with a minimum 30-day trial period on all new hearing aids purchased.

3. Audiologists shall inform the consumer of the total cost of the hearing aid, including any fees for returning the aid at the end of the trial period.

4. Audiologists shall conduct a post-fitting evaluation that includes functional gain measurements conducted in a sound treated environment and/or real ear measurements

unless the patient's physical conditions prohibit accomplishment of these procedures.

5. Audiologists who engage in the fitting or selling of hearing aids shall deliver to each person supplied with a hearing aid, a bill of sale which shall contain the dispenser's signature, address and license number, together with a description of the make, model and serial number of the hearing aid and the amount charged. The bill of sale shall also indicate whether the hearing aid is new, used, or reconditioned.

D. Licensed Audiologists who did not hold a doctoral degree and were not registered to dispense hearing aids prior to August 1, 2016 and who wish to include hearing aid dispensing as a component of their practice, must have proof of appropriate training, education and experience in the area of hearing aid dispensing. These audiologists who wish to include dispensing as part of their practice shall submit a self-study for pre-approval by the board. Upon culmination, the audiologist must submit a report documenting completion. An audiologist who meets the qualifications for licensure but lacks the coursework and practicum requirements necessary for registration as a dispenser may fulfill the requirements by:

1. Completing nine months of postgraduate professional employment/experience under the supervision of a licensed dispensing audiologist, and

2. By proof of the successful completion of a study course by the National Institute for Hearing Instruments Studies, or its equivalent. Equivalency for National Institute for Hearing Instruments Studies is defined as:

a. an individualized program of study that shall include:

i. hearing aid technology and dispensing courses sponsored by hearing aid manufacturers to include a minimum of 15 clock hours;

ii. workshops in the area of hearing aid technology and dispensing sponsored by professional organizations or individual practitioners to include a minimum of 15 clock hours;

iii. successful completion of university coursework in the area of hearing aid technology and dispensing; or

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 22:353 (May 1996), amended LR 27:201 (February 2001), LR 28:1975 (September 2002), LR 30:2317 (October 2004), LR 33:2198 (October 2007), LR 37:2398 (August 2011), repromulgated LR 37:2624 (September 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1668 (October 2016), LR 44:

§139. Qualifications and Duties of Aides (Formerly §133)

A. Audiologists and speech-language pathologists are legally, ethically, and morally responsible for the services provided by aides working under their direction.

B. Requirements for the use of aides follow:

1. A licensed audiologist or speech-language pathologist may utilize an aide who meets the following qualifications. The aide shall:

- a. be of good moral character;
- b. be at least 18 years old;

- c. possess appropriate communication skills;
- d. have a high school diploma or G.E.D.

2. The supervising audiologist or speech-language pathologist is responsible for determining that the aide is qualified and prepared for the duties which s/he will be assigned. It is recommended that the aide be afforded continuing education opportunities. Appropriate areas of training may include:

- a. normal processes in speech, language and hearing;
- b. disorders of speech, language and hearing;
- c. record-keeping and data compilation;
- d. utilization of equipment and materials;
- e. professional ethics and their application to the aide's duties;
- f. administration of hearing screening tests.

C. Supervision

1. The licensed audiologist or speech-language pathologist shall provide periodic direct observation for each aide at least once per month during the initial year of the aide's employment. Speech-language pathology aides are required to undergo direct supervision by a licensed speech-language pathologist, licensed in the area in accordance with R.S. 37:2659(B). Audiology aides are required to undergo direct supervision by a licensed audiologist, licensed in the area in accordance with R.S. 37:2659(A). Audiology aides and speech-language pathology aides may not be supervised by a provisional licensee, restricted licensee, or assistant licensee.

2. The direct observation in subsequent years shall be established by the supervising audiologist or speech-language pathologist on an individual basis but shall be no less than once every three months.

3. The supervising audiologist or speech-language pathologist shall be readily available for consultation with the aide at all times.

4. Documentation of direct supervision shall be maintained by the supervising audiologist or speech-language pathologist and shall be submitted to the board upon request.

5. The supervising audiologist or speech-language pathologist shall report to the board at the time of licensure renewal, the names and employment locations of aides.

D. The speech-language pathology aide may engage in activities limited to those that are planned and directed by the supervising speech-language pathologist. Providing that the preparation, training, and supervision are appropriate, the following tasks may be assigned to speech-language pathology aides:

1. setting up room and equipment;
2. clearing room and storing equipment;
3. preparing materials (such as making copies, typing forms) for use by the speech-language pathologist;
4. checking equipment to determine if the equipment is performing adequately;
5. transporting patients/clients to and from sessions;
6. assisting with field trips;
7. performing hearing screenings limited to pure-tone air conduction screening and screening tympanometry;
8. recording, charting, graphing, or otherwise displaying objective data relative to the patient's/client's performance.

E. The audiology aide may engage in activities limited to those that are planned and directed by the supervising audiologist. Providing that the preparation, training, and supervision are appropriate, the following tasks may be assigned to audiology aides:

1. setting up room and equipment;
2. clearing room and storing equipment;
3. preparing materials (such as making copies, typing forms) for use by the audiologist;
4. checking equipment to determine if the equipment is performing adequately;
5. transporting patients/clients to and from sessions;
6. assisting with field trips;
7. performing hearing screening tests and pure-tone air conduction threshold tests without interpretation;
8. recording, charting, graphing, or otherwise displaying objective data relative to the patient's/client's performance.

F. Only the audiologist or speech-language pathologist shall exercise independent judgment in the provision of professional services. Specifically, the audiologist or speech-language pathologist may not delegate any of the following to the aide:

1. speech-language screening;
2. evaluation, diagnosis, or therapy with individuals with speech, language or hearing disorders;
3. interpretation of test and assessment results or discussion of confidential information despite the fact that this information may have been requested by the patient/client, parent or referring agency;
4. performance of any procedure for which the aide has not been trained.

G. Exemption. Aides employed on or before April 1996 may continue to operate under the provisions of Chapter 3, §§301-305 of the *Louisiana Register* 16:409 (May 1990) of the Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech Pathology and Audiology.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 16:409 (May 1990), amended LR 22:355 (May 1996), LR 27:201 (February 2001), LR 28:1781 (August 2002), LR 30:2318 (October 2004), LR 33:2199 (October 2007), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

§141. Disciplinary Actions (Formerly §135)

A. This board may refuse to issue, may suspend or revoke a license for the practice of audiology or speech-language pathology or otherwise discipline an applicant or licensee, upon finding that the applicant or licensee has violated any provisions of R.S. 37:2650 et seq., or any of the rules or regulations.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:354 (May 1996), LR 28:1975 (September 2002), LR 30:2319 (October 2004), LR 33:2200 (October 2007), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

Chapter 3. Impaired Practitioner Program §301. Purpose and Scope

A. - B.7. ...

C. The applicant or licensee will be responsible for executing all required releases of information and authorizations required for the board to obtain information from any monitor, treatment or service provider concerning the licensee's progress and participation in the program.

D. - G. ...

H. The board will, to the full extent permissible, maintain an agreement or consent agreement and order relating to the licensee's participation in the Impaired Practitioner Program as a confidential matter. The board retains the discretion to share information it deems necessary with those persons providing evaluation/assessment, therapy, treatment, supervision, monitoring or drug/alcohol testing or reports. Violation of any terms, conditions or requirements contained in any consent agreement and order, or board decision can result in a loss of the confidential status.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 30:2319 (October 2004), amended LR 37:2398 (August 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

Chapter 5. Procedural Rules §501. Investigation of Complaints

A. The board is authorized to receive from any person, a complaint(s) against licensees, registrants, applicants, or other persons engaging in practices which violate or are alleged to violate the provisions of R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

B. Any complaint bearing on a licensee or registrant's professional competence, conviction of a crime, unauthorized practice, mental competence, neglect of practice, or violation of state law or ethical standards where applicable to the practice of audiology or speech-language pathology shall be submitted to the board in writing and signed by the complainant.

C. The board is also authorized to initiate such complaints when the board otherwise possesses or obtains information suggesting such a complaint is warranted.

D. Once a written complaint is received, the board shall initiate a review of the allegations contained therein. The board may dispose of the complaint informally through correspondence or conference with the licensee, registrant, and/or the complainant, which may result in a private letter of concern or a consent agreement and order. If the licensee or registrant stipulates to the complaint and waives her/his right to a formal hearing, the board may impose appropriate sanctions without delay. If the board finds that a complaint cannot be resolved informally, the written complaint shall be forwarded to the board's designated investigator for investigation. The board shall at that time notify the licensee or registrant, by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the investigation.

E. The board's designated investigator shall have authority to investigate the nature of the complaint through conference, correspondence, and other investigative procedures, directed to those parties or witnesses involved. The board's designated investigator shall send the involved licensee or registrant notice by certified mail, return receipt

requested, of the investigation containing a short summary of the complaint. All subsequent letters to the involved licensee or registrant, all letters to the complainant, or any other witness, shall be sent with a designation "personal and confidential" clearly marked on the outside of the envelope.

F. The board's designated investigator shall have authority to investigate the nature of the complaint through conference, correspondence, and other investigative procedures, directed to those parties or witnesses involved. The board's designated investigator shall send the involved licensee or registrant notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the investigation containing a short summary of the complaint. All subsequent letters to the involved licensee or registrant, all letters to the complainant, or any other witness, shall be sent with a designation "personal and confidential" clearly marked on the outside of the envelope.

G. The designated investigator shall conclude the investigation as quickly as possible, without compromising thoroughness. Unless good cause is shown by the designated investigator satisfactory to the board, which may extend the time for the investigation, the investigation and recommendations to the board shall be delivered to the board within 60 days of the date that the designated investigator first received the assignment from the board.

H. The designated investigator may determine that the licensee or registrant's explanation satisfactorily answers the complaint and may recommend to the board that the matter be dismissed.

I. If the designated investigator's recommendation for an informal hearing is accepted by the board, the designated investigator shall notify the licensee or registrant of the time, date, and place of the informal hearing and of the issues to be discussed. The licensee or registrant shall appear on a voluntary basis. The licensee or registrant shall be advised that the hearing will be informal, no attorneys will be present, and no transcript of the hearing will be made. Any witnesses who testify will not be placed under oath, and no subpoenas will be issued. The licensee or registrant shall be informed that any statements made at the informal hearing will not be used or introduced at a formal hearing, unless all parties consent. If the licensee or registrant notifies the designated investigator that s/he does not wish an informal hearing, or if the licensee or registrant fails or refuses to attend an informal hearing, the informal hearing shall not be held. In that event, the board shall initiate a formal disciplinary hearing.

J. A complaint may be resolved by:

1. a private letter of concern to the licensee, registrant, or other appropriate parties.
2. a consent agreement and order approved by the board and entered into by the licensee or registrant.

K. The designated investigator shall recommend to the board the initiation of a formal disciplinary hearing if the investigation discloses any of the following: the complaint is sufficiently serious to require a formal adjudication; the licensee or registrant fails to respond to the correspondence by the designated investigator concerning the complaint; the licensee or registrant's response to the designated investigator discloses that further action is necessary; an informal hearing is held but does not resolve all of the issues; or the licensee or registrant refuses to comply with the recommended remedial action.

L. The designated investigator shall submit any recommended action to the board in brief, concise language, without any reference to the particulars of the investigation, to any findings of fact or any conclusions of law arrived at during the investigative process.

M. The board shall have the authority to delegate to the designated investigator any alleged violations of the Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology Act, R.S. 37:2650 et seq., and any alleged violations of any and all rules and regulations adopted by the board pursuant thereto, prior to board action on those alleged violations. If requested by the board, the designated investigator shall submit to the board the complete investigation file. Final authority for appropriate action rests solely with the board including formal notification to the complainant, the licensee, or registrant.

N. At no time shall the designated investigator investigate any case as authorized by the board where the investigator has any personal or economic interest in the outcome of the investigation, or is personally related to or maintains a close friendship with the complainant, the licensee, the registrant, or any of the witnesses involved. In such event, the designated investigator shall immediately notify the board, who shall appoint a substitute investigator for disposition of that particular case.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 17:373 (April 1991), amended LR 22:356 (May 1996), LR 30:2320 (October 2004), LR 33:2200 (October 2007), LR 37:2398 (August 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1668 (October 2016), LR 44:

§503. Compliance Hearings

A. The board shall provide a compliance hearing to a rejected applicant for licensure or registration provided that the rejected applicant requests a compliance hearing in writing within 30 days of the receipt of the notice of rejection. The applicant's request for a compliance hearing shall state with specificity the reason(s) why the application should be accepted.

B. ...

C. The purpose and intent of the compliance hearing is to provide a forum for the applicant, licensee, or registrant to present documentary evidence, in the form of affidavits, public records, official records, letters, etc., along with testimony under oath to establish that the applicant, licensee, or registrant does, in fact, meet the lawful requirements for issuance of a license or registration, or the retention of the license or registration. The board shall have the authority to administer oaths, hear the testimony, and conduct the hearing. The applicant, licensee, or registrant may be represented by counsel, or may represent her/himself.

D. In any compliance hearing, the burden of proof shall rest with the applicant, licensee, or registrant.

E. Within 30 days after the compliance hearing, the board shall forward its final decision, including specific reasons thereof, by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the applicant, licensee or registrant.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 17:374 (April 1991), amended LR 22:357 (May 1996), LR 27:201 (February 2001), LR 30:2321 (October 2004), LR 37:2399 (August 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

§505. Formal Disciplinary Hearings

A. If, after completion of the investigation, the board determines that the circumstances may warrant the withholding, denial, suspension, or revocation of a license or registration, or other disciplinary action, the board shall initiate a formal disciplinary hearing. The board shall promptly notify the attorney general who is authorized and directed to appear on behalf of the state. The hearing shall convene in the parish in which the board is domiciled. The hearing shall be held before the board only after the involved licensee is given at least 30-days' notice by certified mail, return receipt requested. The notice shall include the following:

A.1. - B. ...

C. The board shall arrange for a certified court reporter to make an accurate recording of all testimony presented and all documents entered into evidence at the hearing. A party wishing to file documents into evidence shall provide the court reporter with a copy marked for identification as an exhibit and shall provide copies to each member of the hearing panel, the board's legal counsel, opposing counsel, as well as counsel for any joined parties, and/or any unrepresented parties.

D. - E. ...

F. It is the licensee and registrant's continuing obligation to keep the board informed of her/his whereabouts. Accordingly, if notice of the hearing cannot be delivered by mail because of a licensee or registrant's change of address and the new address is not provided to the board, the board may hold the hearing in the licensee or registrant's absence, after making reasonable efforts to obtain the licensee or registrant's new address.

G. Within 15 days of the licensee or registrant's receipt of notice, s/he may file a written answer to the notice, denying some or all of the charges, or offering any explanation or asserting whatever defense s/he deems applicable.

H. - J. ...

K. If the board finds by a preponderance of the evidence that the withholding, denial, suspension, or revocation of a license or registration, or other disciplinary action is warranted, the board shall sanction said individual according to the provisions of R.S. 37:2662(B):

1. refuse to issue a license or registration;
2. refuse to renew a license or registration;
3. issue a public letter of reprimand;
4. - 6. ...
7. suspend a license or registration;
8. revoke a license or registration;
9. ...
10. otherwise discipline a licensee or registrant.

L. A final decision or order adverse to a party in an adjudication proceeding shall be in writing or stated in the record within 45 days of the formal procedure. A final decision shall include findings of fact and conclusions of

law. Findings of fact, if set forth in statutory language, shall be accompanied by a concise and explicit statement of the underlying facts supporting the findings. Parties shall be notified by the board, either personally or by certified mail, return receipt requested, of any decision or order. Upon request, a copy of the decision or order shall be mailed to each party and to her/his attorney of record.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 17:374 (April 1991), amended LR 22:357 (May 1996), LR 30:2321 (October 2004), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1669 (October 2016), LR 44:

§507. General Procedural Rules for Hearings

A. The board is empowered to issue subpoenas upon receipt of a written request from the licensee, registrant, or attorney general at least 15 days in advance of any scheduled hearing. The board shall issue said subpoenas upon receipt of said written request and receipt of any and all fees for subpoenas as provided for in §123.A. promulgated by the board.

B. - H. ...

I. Upon request by either the licensee, registrant, or the attorney general, witnesses shall be sequestered and not allowed in the hearing chambers during the hearing or permitted to discuss their testimony with other witnesses prior to the conclusion of the hearing.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 17:374 (April 1991), amended LR 22:358 (May 1996), LR 27:201 (February 2001), LR 28:1975 (September 2002), LR 30:2322 (October 2004), LR 37:2399 (August 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

§512. Summary Suspension of License/Registration

A. The board may suspend an existing license or registration because of a person's conviction of a felony or misdemeanor if the crime directly relates to the duties and responsibilities of the licensee or registration. The board may also suspend an existing license or registration if there are allegations of fact that the board believes demonstrates a substantial likelihood that the licensee or registrant poses a risk of harm to the public health, safety or welfare.

B. If the board finds that public health, safety or welfare imperatively requires emergency action, and incorporates a finding to that effect in its order, summary suspension of a license or registration may be ordered pending proceedings for revocation or other action. These proceedings shall be promptly instituted and determined.

C. Following the proceedings, the notice to summarily suspend an existing license or registration shall be serviced personally upon the respondent or by certified mail or by other reasonable means. The notice shall inform the licensee or registrant of the opportunity, including the time and place, to appear before the board to show cause regarding why the license or registration should not be suspended. The opportunity for the licensee or registrant to be heard shall occur from 2 to 10 days following the summary suspension of the license or registration.

D. ...

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R. S. 37: 2651-2666.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Hospitals, Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 33:2201 (October 2007), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

Chapter 7. Code of Ethics

§701. Preamble

A. The Code of Ethics of the Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology specifies professional standards that govern clinical and scientific practice, direct professional conduct, provide for proper implementation of professionals' responsibilities to those served, and ensure the welfare of the consumer.

B. Any action that violates the intent and purpose of this code shall be considered unethical. Although the Code of Ethics cannot be inclusive of all specific situations, failure to delineate any particular responsibility or practice in this Code of Ethics shall not be construed as denial of the existence of such responsibilities or practices.

C. Principles of ethics form the underlying moral basis for the Code of Ethics. Individuals shall observe these principles as affirmative obligations under all conditions of professional activity.

D. Rules of ethics are specific statements of minimally acceptable as well as unacceptable professional conduct which are applicable to all individuals.

E. Rules of Ethics for Audiology, Speech-Language Pathology, Provisional Speech-Language Pathology, and Restricted Speech-Language Pathology Licensees and Registrants

1. Principle of Ethics I. Licensees and registrants shall honor their responsibility to hold paramount the welfare of persons they serve professionally or who are participants in research and scholarly activities, provide professional services with honesty and compassion, and respect the rights of those served. The licensee or registrant shall take all reasonable precautions to avoid harm to the individual served professionally.

a. Individuals shall provide all clinical services and scientific activities competently.

b. Individuals shall use every resource, including interprofessional collaboration and referral when applicable, to ensure that appropriate service is provided.

c. Individuals shall not discriminate in the delivery of professional services or in the conduct of research and scholarly activities on the basis of race, ethnicity, citizenship, sex, gender identity/gender expression, sexual orientation, age, religion, national origin, disability, culture, language, or dialect.

d. Individuals shall not misrepresent their credentials nor those under their supervision including aides, assistants, technicians, other support personnel, students, research interns, or individuals completing the postgraduate professional employment/experience, and they shall fully inform those they serve professionally of the name, role, and credentials of persons providing services.

e. Individuals may delegate tasks related to the provision of clinical services to students, aides, assistants, technicians, or other support personnel only if those persons are adequately trained and appropriately supervised. The

responsibility for the welfare of those served remains with the fully licensed individual.

f. Individuals shall not delegate tasks that require the unique skills, knowledge, judgment or credentials that are within the scope of practice of their profession to aides, assistants, technicians, other support personnel or nonprofessionals over whom they have supervisory authority.

g. Individuals shall obtain consent from the persons they serve only after a description of and discussion about the nature and possible risks and effects of services to be rendered, technology to be employed, and products to be dispensed. Consumers shall also be informed about possible effects of not engaging in treatment or following clinical recommendations. When the consumer is incapable of providing informed consent, individuals should seek authorization from a legally authorized/appointed representative or family member.

h. Individuals shall enroll and include persons as participants in research only if participation is voluntary, without coercion, and with informed consent.

i. Individuals shall accurately represent the intended purpose of a service, product, or research endeavor and shall abide by established standards for clinical practice and the responsible conduct of research.

j. Individuals shall evaluate the effectiveness of services rendered, technology employed, and products dispensed and shall provide services or dispense products only when benefit can reasonably be expected.

k. Individuals shall not guarantee, directly or by implication, the results of any treatment or procedure; however, they may make a reasonable statement of prognosis.

l. Individuals shall use independent and evidence-based clinical judgment, keeping paramount the welfare of those served.

m. Individuals shall not provide clinical services solely by correspondence but may provide services via telepractice consistent with professional standards and state and federal regulations.

n. Individuals shall protect the confidentiality of any professional or personal information about persons served professionally or participants involved in research and scholarly activities, and may disclose confidential information only when doing so is necessary to protect the welfare of the person or of the community, is legally authorized, or is otherwise required by law.

o. Individuals shall protect the confidentiality and security of records of professional services rendered, research and scholarly activities conducted, and products dispensed. Access to these records shall be allowed only when doing so is necessary to protect the welfare of the person or of the community, is legally authorized, or is otherwise required by law.

p. Individuals shall maintain timely records and accurately record and bill for services provided and products dispensed, and shall not misrepresent services rendered, products dispensed, or research and scholarly activities conducted.

q. Individuals whose professional practice is adversely affected by substance abuse or other health-related conditions are impaired practitioners and shall seek

professional assistance and, where appropriate, withdraw from the affected areas of practice.

r. Individuals who have knowledge a practitioner is unable to provide professional services with reasonable skill and safety shall report this information to the appropriate authority including the licensure board.

s. Individuals shall provide reasonable notice and information about alternatives for obtaining care in the event that the individual can no longer provide professional services.

2. Principle of Ethics II. Individuals shall honor their responsibility to achieve and maintain the highest level of professional competence and performance consistent with prevailing practice standards.

a. Individuals shall engage in only those aspects of the professions that are within the scope of their practice and competence, considering their level of licensure, registration, education, training and experience.

b. Individuals who engage in research shall comply with institutional, state, and federal regulations that address any aspects of research.

c. Individuals shall enhance and refine their professional competence and expertise through engagement in lifelong learning applicable to their professional activities and skills.

d. Individuals in administrative or supervisory roles shall not require or permit their professional staff to provide services or conduct research activities that exceed a licensee's competence, education, training, experience, and licensure status.

e. Individuals in administrative or supervisory roles shall not require or permit their professional staff to provide services or conduct clinical activities that compromise the licensee independent and objective professional judgment.

f. Individuals shall make use of technology and instrumentation consistent with accepted professional practice guidelines and shall ensure that all technology and instrumentation used to provide services or to conduct research and scholarly activities are in proper working order and are properly calibrated. When such technology is not available, an appropriate referral should be made.

3. Principle of Ethics III. Individuals shall honor their responsibility to the public when advocating for communication, swallowing, and vestibular needs of the public, and shall provide accurate information involving any aspect of the professions.

a. Individuals shall not misrepresent their credentials, competence, education, training, experience, or scholarly contributions.

b. Individuals shall avoid engaging in conflicts of interest whereby personal, financial, or other considerations have the potential to influence or compromise professional judgment and objectivity.

c. Individuals shall not misrepresent research and scholarly activities, diagnostic information, services rendered, results of services provided, products dispensed, or the effects of products dispensed.

d. Individuals shall not defraud through intent, ignorance, or negligence, or engage in any scheme to defraud in connection with obtaining payment, reimbursement, or grants and contracts for services provided, research conducted, or products dispensed.

e. Individuals' statements to the public shall provide accurate and complete information about the nature and management of communication disorders, about the professions, about professional services, about products, and about research and scholarly activities.

f. Individuals' statements to the public shall adhere to prevailing professional norms and shall not contain misrepresentations when advertising, announcing, and promoting their professional services and products or when reporting research results.

g. Individuals shall not make false statements regarding areas of professional practice, and shall complete all materials honestly and without omission.

4. Principle of Ethics IV. Individuals shall uphold the dignity and autonomy of the professions, maintain collaborative and harmonious interprofessional and intraprofessional relationships, and accept the professions' self-imposed standards.

a. Individuals shall work collaboratively, when appropriate, with members of one's own profession and members of other professions to deliver the highest quality of care.

b. Individuals shall exercise independent professional judgment in recommending and providing professional services when an administrative mandate, referral source, or prescription prevents keeping the welfare of persons served paramount.

c. Individuals' statements to colleagues about professional services, research results, and products shall adhere to prevailing professional standards and shall contain no misrepresentations.

d. Individuals shall not engage in any form of conduct that adversely reflects on the professions or on the individual's fitness to serve persons professionally.

e. Individuals shall not engage in dishonesty, negligence, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.

f. Applicants for licensure or registration, and individuals making disclosures shall not make false statements and shall complete all application and disclosure materials honestly and without omission.

g. Individuals shall not engage in any form of harassment, power abuse, or sexual harassment.

h. Individuals shall not engage in sexual activity with students, patients/clients, research participants, speech-language pathology assistants, aides, or licensees over whom they exercise professional authority or power.

i. Individuals shall not allow anyone under their supervision to engage in any practice that violates any provision of the practice act or Rules and Regulations including the Code of Ethics.

j. Individuals shall assign credit only to those who have contributed to a publication, presentation, protocol, process, or product. Credit shall be assigned in proportion to the contribution and only with the contributor's consent.

k. Individuals shall not engage in plagiarism and shall reference the source when using other persons' ideas, research, presentations, or products in written, oral, or any other media presentation or summary.

l. Individuals shall not discriminate in their relationships with colleagues, assistants, other support personnel, students, and members of other professions and disciplines on the basis of race, ethnicity, citizenship, sex,

gender identity/gender expression, sexual orientation, age, religion, national origin, disability, culture, language, or dialect.

m. Individuals shall comply with local, state, and federal laws and regulations applicable to professional practice, research ethics, and the responsible conduct of research.

n. Individuals shall inform the board of any violations of the practice act and the Rules and Regulations including the Code of Ethics.

o. Individuals shall cooperate fully with the board on matters of professional conduct relative to the practice act and the Rules and Regulations including the Code of Ethics, and shall not make false statements of fact or withhold relevant facts necessary to fairly adjudicate complaints.

p. Individuals who have been publicly sanctioned or denied a license, registration, or a professional credential by any professional association, professional licensing authority or board, or other professional regulatory body shall self-report by notifying the board in writing within thirty (30) days of the final action or disposition. Such written notification shall consist of a certified copy of the final action, sanction, or disposition.

q. Individuals who have been convicted, been found guilty, or entered a plea of *nolo contendere* to any misdemeanor involving dishonesty, physical harm or the threat of physical harm to the person or property of another, or any felony, shall self-report by notifying the board in writing within thirty (30) days of the conviction, plea, or finding of guilt. Such written notification shall consist of a certified copy of the conviction, plea, *nolo contendere* record, or minute/docket entry.

F. Rules of Ethics for Speech-Language Pathology Assistant and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant Licensees

1. Principle of Ethics I. Licensees shall honor their responsibility to hold paramount the welfare of persons they serve or who are participants in research and scholarly activities, provide services with honesty and compassion, and respect the rights of those served. The licensee shall take all reasonable precautions to avoid harm to the individual served.

a. Individuals shall provide clinical services and scientific activities competently, and engage only in those activities prescribed by the supervising speech-language pathologist.

b. Individuals shall not discriminate in the delivery of services or in the conduct of research and scholarly activities on the basis of race, ethnicity, citizenship, sex, gender identity/gender expression, sexual orientation, age, religion, national origin, disability, culture, language, or dialect.

c. Individuals shall not misrepresent their credentials and shall fully inform those they serve of their name, role, and credentials.

d. Individuals shall not provide services via telepractice, interpret test or assessment results, guarantee results, make referrals, discharge patients/clients, provide patient/client or family counseling, nor perform clinical tasks without the knowledge and approval of the supervising speech-language pathologist.

e. Individuals shall protect the confidentiality of clinical or personal information about persons served or participants involved in research and scholarly activities, and shall not disclose confidential information orally or in writing to anyone not designated by the supervising speech-language pathologist and without the authorization of the patient/client or their designee.

f. Individuals shall protect the confidentiality and security of records of services rendered, research and scholarly activities conducted, and products dispensed. Access to these records shall not be allowed unless directed by the supervising speech-language pathologist.

g. Individuals shall maintain timely and adequate records of services rendered, shall not charge for services not rendered, and shall not misrepresent services rendered, or research and scholarly activities conducted.

h. Individuals whose services are adversely affected by substance abuse or other health-related conditions are impaired practitioners and shall seek professional assistance and, where appropriate, withdraw from the affected areas of practice.

i. Individuals who have knowledge that a licensee is unable to provide services with reasonable skill and safety shall report this information to the appropriate authority including the licensure board.

2. Principle of Ethics II. Individuals shall honor their responsibility to achieve and maintain the highest level of competence and performance.

a. Individuals shall engage in only those aspects of service provision that are within the scope of their practice and competence, considering their level of licensure, education, training and experience.

b. Individuals shall hold the appropriate qualifications for the area(s) in which they are providing services. Individuals shall engage in lifelong learning throughout their careers.

c. Individuals shall not provide services unless appropriately supervised.

d. Individuals shall not provide services for which the licensee has not been properly prepared.

e. Individuals shall utilize technology and instrumentation as directed by the supervising speech-language pathologist, ensuring that proper working order is maintained and calibration has been established.

3. Principle of Ethics III. Individuals shall honor their responsibility to the public by providing accurate information in all communications.

a. Individuals shall not misrepresent their credentials, competence, education, training or experience.

b. Individuals shall not participate in professional activities that constitute a conflict of interest.

c. Individuals shall not misrepresent research and scholarly activities, services rendered or any information, or engage in any scheme or maneuver to defraud in connection with obtaining payment or reimbursement for services.

d. Individuals shall not make false statements regarding areas of practice, and shall complete all materials honestly and without omission.

4. Principle of Ethics IV. Individuals shall honor their responsibilities and their relationships with colleagues and members of other professions and disciplines. Individuals

shall maintain harmonious interprofessional and intraprofessional relationships and accept the standards delineated for assistants.

a. Individuals' statements to colleagues about services, research, or products shall adhere to prevailing standards and contain no misrepresentations.

b. Individuals shall not engage in dishonesty, negligence, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.

c. Applicants for licensure and individuals making disclosures shall not make false statements and shall complete all application and disclosure materials honestly and without omission.

d. Individuals shall not engage in any form of harassment, power abuse, or sexual harassment, or any other form of conduct that adversely reflects on service delivery or on the individual's fitness to serve persons.

e. Individuals shall not engage in sexual activity with a patient/client or research participant.

f. Individuals shall assign credit only to those who have contributed to a publication, presentation, protocol, process, or product. Credit shall be assigned in proportion to the contribution and only with the contributor's consent.

g. Individuals shall not engage in plagiarism and shall reference the source when using other persons' ideas, research, presentations, or products in written, oral, or any other media presentation or summary.

h. Individuals shall not discriminate in their relationships with colleagues and members of other professions and disciplines on the basis of race, ethnicity, citizenship, sex, gender identity/gender expression, sexual orientation, age, religion, national origin, disability, culture, language or dialect.

i. Individuals shall comply with local, state, and federal laws and regulations applicable to practice and research.

j. Individuals shall inform the board of any violations of the practice act or the Rules and Regulations including the Code of Ethics.

k. Individuals shall cooperate fully with the board on matters of professional conduct relative to the practice act or the Rules and Regulations including the Code of Ethics, and shall not make false statements of fact or withhold relevant facts necessary to fairly adjudicate complaints.

l. Individuals who have been publicly sanctioned or denied a license or a professional credential by any professional association, professional licensing authority or board, or other professional regulatory body shall self-report by notifying the board in writing within 30 days of the final action or disposition. Such written notification shall consist of a certified copy of the final action, sanction, or disposition.

m. Individuals who have been convicted, been found guilty, or entered a plea of nolo contendere to any misdemeanor involving dishonesty, physical harm or the threat of physical harm to the person or property of another, or any felony, shall self-report by notifying the board in writing within 30 days of the conviction, plea, or finding of guilt. Such written notification shall consist of a certified copy of the conviction, plea, nolo contendere record, or minute/docket entry.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 17:370 (April 1991), amended LR 22:360 (May 1996), LR 30:2324 (October 2004), LR 33:2201 (October 2007), LR 37:2399 (August 2011), LR 39:1044 (April 2013), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 44:

Family Impact Statement

In compliance with Act 1183 of the 1999 Regular Session of the Louisiana Legislature, the impact of this proposed Rule on the family has been considered. It is anticipated that this proposed Rule will have no impact on family functioning, stability and autonomy as described in R.S. 49:972.

Poverty Impact Statement

In compliance with Act 854 of the 2012 Regular Session of the Louisiana Legislature, the poverty impact of this proposed Rule has been considered. It is anticipated that this proposed Rule will have no impact on child, individual, or family poverty in relation to individual or community asset development as described in R.S. 49:973.

Provider Impact Statement

In compliance with House Concurrent Resolution (HCR) 170 of the 2014 Regular Session of the Louisiana Legislature, the provider impact of this proposed Rule has been considered. It is anticipated that this proposed Rule will have no impact on the staffing level requirements or qualifications required to provide the same level of services, no direct or indirect cost to the provider to provide the same level of service, and will have no impact on the provider's ability to provide the same level of service as described in HCR 170.

Public Comments

Interested persons may submit written comments to Jolie Jones, Executive Director, Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, 37283 Swamp Road, Suite 3B, Prairieville, LA 70769. Mrs. Jones is responsible for responding to inquiries regarding this proposed Rule. The deadline for receipt of all written comments is 4:30 p.m. on the day prior to the hearing.

Public Hearing

A public hearing on this proposed Rule is scheduled for Friday, September 28, 2018 at 8:30 a.m. in the conference room at the board office, 37283 Swamp Road, Suite 3B, Prairieville, LA 70769. At that time all interested persons will be afforded an opportunity to submit data, views or arguments either orally or in writing.

Jolie Jones
Executive Director

FISCAL AND ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT FOR ADMINISTRATIVE RULES RULE TITLE: Speech-Pathology and Audiology

I. ESTIMATED IMPLEMENTATION COSTS (SAVINGS) TO STATE OR LOCAL GOVERNMENT UNITS (Summary)

The proposed rule change will result in an estimated one-time SGR expenditure of \$1,600 in FY 19 for the Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology (LBESPA) to publish the proposed rule changes in the Louisiana Register and upload the rule revisions to the LBESPA website. There are no estimated implementation

savings to state or local governmental units through promulgation of the proposed rule changes. Furthermore, provisions of the proposed rule changes requiring applicants to the LBESPA to undergo a federal fingerprint-based background check will increase expenditures for the Dept. of Public Safety (DPS), however any costs incurred would be defrayed by a \$2 retainage on fees collected by DPS for such background checks (see Part II).

The proposed rule changes add definitions, amend certain rule titles, and make technical revisions to improve grammar, as well as add specificity and clarification regarding qualifications and scope of practice for the various practitioners regulated by LBESPA. These changes fall within the current regulatory scope of the LBESPA and are not anticipated to carry any additional costs. More substantive revisions include revision of the Code of Ethics to mirror current standard of practice, required background checks for applicants, registration guidelines for practitioners wishing to practice telehealth, the creation of a deferred license status, elimination of the unused provisional audiology license, allowing the board the authority to initiate a complaint with cause against a practitioner, and the revision of the LBESPA fee schedule for the purchase of mailing lists for its licensees.

II. ESTIMATED EFFECT ON REVENUE COLLECTIONS OF STATE OR LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL UNITS (Summary)

The proposed rule changes will increase SGR collections for the LBESPA by an indeterminable aggregate amount. Furthermore, the proposed rule changes will increase collections for the statutorily dedicated Criminal Identification and Information Fund by an indeterminable amount. The revenue increases are derived from amending fee schedules for practitioner mailing lists, creation of fees for telehealth registrations, and the new requirement that LBESPA applicants must undergo federal fingerprint-based background checks.

Proposed rule changes amending fees for practitioner mailing lists will increase SGR collections for LBESPA by an indeterminable, though likely marginal amount estimated to total \$800. LBESPA currently charges \$0.05 per name and mailing address. The proposed rule changes include fees of \$25 for mailing lists for audiologists and speech-language pathology assistants, as well as a \$200 fee for a mailing list of speech-language pathologists. For reference, fees collected from this source totaled approximately \$3,200 in FY 17. LBESPA anticipates the new fee schedule will increase SGR collections for mailing lists by an estimated \$800 annually, from approximately \$3,200 annually to approximately \$4,000 annually based upon historic purchases of mailing lists by continuing education companies.

The addition of telehealth registrations for LBESPA will have an indeterminable effect on SGR collections for the board. To the extent out-of-state licensees choosing to practice telehealth lapse their Louisiana licenses, LBESPA will realize an SGR decrease of \$75 per license associated with initial registrations (\$125 initial registration fee - \$50 initial telehealth registration fee) and \$40 per license associated with renewals (\$65 license renewal - \$25 telehealth license renewal). Any revenue decreases may be offset by new providers registering to practice telehealth who were previously not practicing it in Louisiana, which would increase revenues by \$50 for each initial registration and \$25 for each renewal. Because the number of persons that will enter the telehealth market and those who will lapse their licenses are unknown, the aggregate effect on SGR collections associated with telehealth registration is unknown.

Furthermore, the proposed rule changes will increase revenues for the statutorily dedicated Criminal Identification and Information (CI&I) Fund by an indeterminable amount as a result of performing federal fingerprint-based background checks for LBESPA applicants. For reference, fees for name-

based state background checks total \$26 and fees for federal fingerprint-based background checks total \$12. Of the \$12 fee for federal background checks, DPS retains \$2 that is deposited in the CI&I Fund and forwards the balance to the federal government. Because the number of checks that DPS may perform on LBESPA is unknown, the exact revenue increase that will accrue to the fund is indeterminable.

III. ESTIMATED COSTS AND/OR ECONOMIC BENEFITS TO DIRECTLY AFFECTED PERSONS OR NONGOVERNMENTAL GROUPS (Summary)

Continuing education providers will realize an increase in fees to purchase mailing lists by an estimated \$800 (see Part II).

The proposed rule changes include provisions requiring persons applying for LBESPA licensure to receive a fingerprint-based background check, which will increase fees for applicants by \$38, the total cost of a state and federal background check (see Part II).

The proposed rule changes include provisions to register as a telehealth provider, which has an indeterminable aggregate impact on practitioners and is dependent upon if they currently have a Louisiana license or if they are not licensed to practice by the LBESPA. To the extent telehealth registrants holding out-of-state licenses are licensed in Louisiana, lapse their Louisiana license, and choose only to practice telehealth, they may realize a savings of \$40. To the extent new persons register as telehealth providers, initial registration costs total \$50 with renewals of \$25. The aggregate impact of the telehealth provision on providers is indeterminable (see Part II).

The proposed rule changes the "inactive license status" for speech-language pathology (SLP) assistants, changing it to a "deferred" status. SLP assistants may only hold this status for 3 years, rather than indefinitely. Furthermore, the proposed rule changes eliminate the provisional audiology license. This proposed rule change is not anticipated to affect practitioners, as that license is no longer issued.

Lastly, the proposed rule changes clarify and specify standards for application, scope of practice, license upgrade, and standard of practice for all licenses administered by the LBESPA. The aggregate impact of these revisions to the administrative rules is indeterminable.

IV. ESTIMATED EFFECT ON COMPETITION AND EMPLOYMENT (Summary)

The proposed rule change is not anticipated to affect competition and employment.

Jolie Jones
Executive Director
1808#001

Greg V. Albrecht
Chief Economist
Legislative Fiscal Office

NOTICE OF INTENT

Department of Health Bureau of Health Services Financing

Dental Benefits Prepaid Ambulatory Health Plan
Independent Review Process for Provider Claims
(LAC 50:I.2117)

The Department of Health, Bureau of Health Services Financing proposes to adopt LAC 50:I.2117 in the Medical Assistance Program as authorized by R.S. 36:254 and pursuant to Title XIX of the Social Security Act. This proposed Rule is promulgated in accordance with the provisions of the Administrative Procedure Act, R.S. 49:950 et seq.

Act 284 of the 2018 Regular Session of the Louisiana Legislature directed the Department of Health, Bureau of

Part LXXV. Speech Pathology and Audiology

Chapter 1. General Rules	2
§103. Definitions	2
§105. Designations	3
§107. Qualifications for Licensure	4
§109. <u>Licensure</u> Application Procedures	7
§1110. <u>Application for Telepractice-Telehealth Registration</u>	98
§1131. <u>Criminal History Record Information</u>	109
§1153. Licensure by Reciprocity	10
§1175. Additional Requirements for International Applicants/Speakers of English as a Second Language	10
§1197. Requirements to Upgrade License	11
§1219. Duties: Speech-Language Pathology Assistant License and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant License	12
§1231. Fees	13
§1253. License Renewals	13
§1275. Continuing Education Requirements	15
§1297. Supervision Requirements for Restricted License and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology License	16
§13129. Supervision Requirements for Speech-Language Pathology Assistant and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant	17
§1331. Independent Practice	19
§13533. Telepractice	19
§13735. Hearing Aid Dispensing	20
§1397. Qualifications and Duties of Aides	21
§14139. Disciplinary Actions	22
Chapter 3. Impaired Practitioner Program	22
§301. Purpose and Scope	22
Chapter 5. Procedural Rules	23
§501. Investigation of Complaints	23
§503. Compliance Hearings	24
§505. Formal Disciplinary Hearings	24
§507. General Procedural Rules for Hearings	26
§509. Rehearing	26
§511. The Case Record	27
§512. Summary Suspension of License	27
§513. Declaratory Orders	27
§515. Judicial Review	27
§517. Appeals	28
Chapter 7. Code of Ethics	28
§701. Preamble	28

Title 46
PROFESSIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL STANDARDS
Part LXXV. Speech Pathology and Audiology

Chapter 1. General Rules

§103. Definitions

A. As used in these regulations, the following terms and phrases, which have not already been defined in Title 37, Louisiana Revised Statutes, Section 2651-2666, shall have the meanings specified.

Accredited Educational Institution—college or university that holds regional accreditation.

Accredited Educational Program—~~refers to a graduate program in audiology or speech-language pathology that is accredited by the Council for Academic Accreditation in Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology (CAA) or the Accreditation Commission for Audiology Education (ACAE).~~

Aides—individuals not licensed by the Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology (LBESPA) who, after appropriate training, perform tasks that are prescribed, directed, and supervised by audiologists or speech-language pathologists—~~or audiologists~~ licensed in accordance with R.S. 37:2659(A) and/or (B). Licensed audiologists and licensed speech-language pathologists—~~and licensed audiologists~~ are legally, ethically, and morally responsible for the services provided by aides working under their direction.

Assistant Licensee—an individual who meets the qualifications established by R.S. 37:2659~~(F)(D)(1), (2)~~, and works under the direct supervision of a licensed speech-language pathologist and performs only those duties specified in §1179.

Asynchronous Store and Forward Transfer—the transmission of client information in the delivery of telehealth services from an originating site to the provider at the distant site without the client being present.

Cooperating Program—an approved agency of a regionally accredited training institution.

Criminal History Record Information—information collected by state and federal criminal justice agencies consisting of identifiable descriptions and notations of arrests, detentions, indictments, bills of information or any other formal criminal charges, and any disposition arising therefrom, including sentencing, criminal correctional supervision and release.

Direct Patient/Client Contact—practicum experience obtained during performance of a clinical activity with ~~the a~~ patient/client.

Direct Supervision—~~on site, in view observation and guidance during performance of a clinical activity which includes but cannot be limited to the utilization of alternative methods to obtain knowledge of a supervisee's clinical work~~ the supervisor observing the licensee engaging in a specified clinical activity with a patient/client in order to obtain knowledge and provide guidance regarding the supervisee's clinical work. The supervisor shall accomplish this task either by being physically present in the room or through the use of a secure live video, live stream or web cam.

Distant Site—the site at which the healthcare provider delivering the service is located at the time the service is provided via a telecommunication system.

Facilitator—the individual at the client site who assists with the delivery of telehealth services at the direction of the audiologist or speech-language pathologist.

Full-Time Employment/Experience—a minimum of 30 clock hours per week.

Full-time supervised professional employment/experience—~~is defined as~~ a minimum of thirty-six weeks engaged in the provision of clinical services. Volunteer services are not acceptable.

Grace Period—the period in which an applicant may be employed while an initial application for licensure is being considered by the board. The grace period cannot exceed 60 days from the date that the application is ~~acknowledged to have been~~ received by the board.

Graduate Training Clinical Practicum Hours—a combination of undergraduate and graduate clinical practicum hours that culminate with a graduate degree or its equivalent.

Hearing Screening—pure-tone air conduction screening, and screening tests of auditory function such as tympanometry, otoacoustic emissions (OAE) and auditory brainstem response (ABR) testing, for the purpose of the initial identification and/or referral of individuals with suspected hearing problems and/or middle ear pathology.

Indirect Supervision—the utilization of alternative methods, other than direct supervision, to acquire knowledge of a supervisee's clinical work, e.g. review of client folders and record keeping, scheduling, and planning.

License Renewal Period—the period of time that begins July 1, and ends on June 30, of the following calendar year.

Nine Months of Full Time Supervised Postgraduate Professional Employment/Experience—~~is defined as a~~

~~minimum of thirty six weeks of full-time supervised professional employment/experience.~~

~~On Site In View Observation—the supervisor observing the licensee engaging in a specified clinical activity with his/her patient/client. The supervisor shall accomplish this task either by being physically present in the room or through the use of a live video monitor or web cam.~~

Originating Site—the location of the client at the time the service is furnished via a telecommunications system or when the asynchronous store and forward transfer occurs.

Part-Time Employment/Experience—less than 30 clock hours per week.

Part-Time Postgraduate Professional Employment Experience—part-time experience greater than or equal to an average of 5 hours per week which culminates in an equivalent of 36 weeks of full-time employment experience.

Provisional Assistant Licensee—an individual who meets the qualifications established in R.S. 37: 2659(~~EG~~) and works under the direct supervision of a licensed speech-language pathologist and performs only those duties specified in §~~447~~121. This person has completed a minimum of 100 of 225 supervised clinical practicum hours and is working to complete the remaining hours on-the-job and/or through a regionally accredited educational institution or its cooperating programs.

Supervised On-the-Job Training—~~only those direct supervision~~ hours which have been obtained during paid employment~~supervised on site, in view~~ and documented on the form provided by the board.

Synchronous Interaction—communication through interactive technology in the delivery of telehealth services that enable an audiologist or speech-language pathologist and a client at two locations separated by distance to interact via two-way video and audio transmissions simultaneously.

Telehealth—also known as telepractice, is a mode of delivering audiology and speech-language pathology services that utilizes information and communication technologies to enable the diagnosis, consultation, treatment, education, care management, and self-management of clients at a distance from the audiologist or speech-language pathologist provider. Telehealth allows services to be accessed when providers are in a distant site and patients are in the originating site. Telehealth facilitates self-management and caregiver support for patients and includes synchronous interactions and asynchronous store and forward transfers.

Telehealth Registration—limited to out-of-state residents whose out-of-state audiology or speech-language pathology license does not require supervision, is an unrestricted and unencumbered license in good standing to perform audiology or speech-language pathology in the state in which the provider is located, and the license is comparable to the license in Louisiana as determined by this board.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:705 (October 1988), amended LR 22:346 (May 1996), LR 27:197 (February 2001), LR 28:1781 (August 2002), LR 30:2307 (October 2004), LR 33:2192 (October 2007), LR 37:2392 (August 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1665 (October 2016).

§105. Designations

A. Individuals licensed by the Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology may use the following designations when listing their credentials.

1. L-SLP—Speech-Language Pathologist
2. L-AUD—Audiologist
3. ~~PL AUD—Provisional Audiologist~~
4. PL-SLP—Provisional—Speech-Language Pathologist
- 4.45. R-SLP—Restricted Speech-Language Pathologist

B. Speech-Language Pathology Assistants and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistants shall list their full license title when listing their credentials, e.g., B.A., SLP Assistant.

1. When signing ~~formal and informal~~ professional documents, Speech-Language Pathology Assistants and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistants shall write their full license title, e.g., B.A., ~~Speech Language Pathology~~SLP Assistant or B.A., Provisional SLP Assistant. Speech-Language Pathology Assistants and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistants shall always identify themselves as such in professional interactions.

C. Titles and academic credential designations ~~must~~shall represent earned degrees obtained through regionally accredited university programs. To appropriately represent the level of education in the area of practice, when listing an educational designation, the licensee ~~must~~shall list the highest degree earned in audiology or speech-language pathology ~~or audiology~~. In addition, graduate degrees earned in other disciplines must specify the area in which the degree was earned [e.g., B.S. (Speech-Language Therapy), M.Ed. (Administration)]. When listing credentials, licensees should sequentially list their name, educational designation, license designation, and professional certification, e.g., M.A., L-SLP, CCC-SLP.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 22:346 (May 1996), amended LR 27:197 (February 2001), LR 30:2308 (October 2004), LR 33:2192 (October 2007).

§107. Qualifications for Licensure

A. Coursework Requirements—Audiology License ~~and Provisional Audiology License~~. The applicant shall submit official transcripts from one or more regionally accredited colleges or universities evidencing completion of at least 75 semester credit hours of post-baccalaureate coursework for applicants who began a doctoral program after January 1, 2005.

B. Coursework Requirements—Audiology License ~~and Provisional Audiology License~~. The following coursework requirements apply to applicants who began a master's program after January 1, 1994.

1. The applicant shall submit official transcripts from one or more regionally accredited colleges or universities evidencing completion of at least 75 semester hours of coursework which constitutes a well-integrated program that includes at least:

- a. 6 semester credit hours in biological/physical sciences and mathematics;
- b. 6 semester credit hours in behavioral and/or social sciences;
- c. 15 semester credit hours in basic human communication processes to include the anatomic and physiologic bases, the physical and psychophysical bases, and the linguistic and psycholinguistic aspects.

2.a. Thirty-six semester credit hours of professional coursework in audiology; 30 of which shall be in courses for which graduate credit was received*;

b. a maximum of 6 academic semester credit hours associated with clinical practicum may be counted toward the minimum of 30 semester credit hours of professional coursework.

*If seeking licensure in both [audiology and speech-language pathology](#) ~~and audiology~~, at least 15 graduate level semester hours in each area are required.

C. Coursework Requirements—Audiology License ~~and Provisional Audiology License~~. The following coursework requirements apply to applicants who began a master's program prior to January 1, 1994.

1. The applicant shall submit official transcripts from one or more regionally accredited colleges or universities evidencing completion of at least 60 semester hours of coursework which constitutes a well-integrated program that includes at least 12 semester credit hours in basic human communication processes to include the anatomic and physiologic bases, the physical and psychophysical bases, and the linguistic and psycholinguistic aspects.

2.a. Thirty semester credit hours of professional coursework in audiology*:

- i. 6 in hearing disorders and hearing evaluation;
- ii. 6 in habilitative/rehabilitative procedures;

iii. 6 semester credit hours in speech-language pathology.

b. Twenty-one of the 30 semester credit hours shall be in courses for which graduate credit was received.

c. A maximum of 6 academic semester credit hours associated with clinical practicum may be counted toward the minimum of 30 semester credit hours of professional coursework, but those hours may not be used to satisfy the minimum of 6 semester credit hours in hearing disorders/evaluation, 6 hours in habilitative/rehabilitative procedures, or 6 hours in speech-language pathology, or the 21 graduate credits in the professional area for which the license is sought.

*If seeking licensure in both [audiology and speech-language pathology](#) ~~and audiology~~, at least 15 graduate level semester hours in each area are required.

D. Coursework Requirements—Speech-Language Pathology License and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology License. The applicant shall submit official transcripts from one or more regionally accredited colleges or universities evidencing completion of 75 semester credit hours, including at least 36 at the graduate level, from an accredited speech-language pathology program for applicants who began a graduate program after January 1, 2004.

E. Coursework Requirements—Speech-Language Pathology License and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology License. The following coursework requirements apply to applicants who began a master's program between January 1, 1994 and January 1, 2004.

1. The applicant shall submit official transcripts from one or more regionally accredited colleges or universities evidencing completion of at least 75 semester hours of coursework which constitutes a well-integrated program that includes at least:

- a. 6 semester credit hours in biological/physical sciences and mathematics;
- b. 6 semester credit hours in behavioral and/or social sciences;
- c. 15 semester credit hours in basic human communication processes to include the anatomic and physiologic bases, the physical and psychophysical bases, and the linguistic and psycholinguistic aspects.

2.a. Thirty-six semester credit hours of professional coursework in speech-language pathology; 30 of which shall be in courses for which graduate credit was received*;

b. a maximum of 6 academic semester credit hours associated with clinical practicum may be counted toward the minimum of 30 semester credit hours of professional coursework.

*If seeking licensure in both [audiology and speech-language pathology](#) ~~and audiology~~, at least 15 graduate level semester hours in each area are required.

F. Coursework Requirements—Speech-Language Pathology License and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology License. The following coursework requirements apply to applicants who began a master's program prior to January 1, 1994.

1. The applicant shall submit official transcripts from one or more regionally accredited colleges or universities evidencing completion of at least 60 semester hours of coursework which constitutes a well-integrated program that includes at least 12 semester credit hours in basic human communication processes to include the anatomic and physiologic bases, the physical and psychophysical bases, and the linguistic and psycholinguistic aspects.

2.a. Thirty semester credit hours of professional coursework in speech-language pathology*:

- i. 6 in speech disorders;
- ii. 6 in language disorders;
- iii. 6 in audiology.

b. Twenty-one of the 30 semester credit hours shall be in courses for which graduate credit was received.

c. A maximum of 6 academic semester credit hours associated with clinical practicum may be counted toward the minimum of 30 semester credit hours of professional coursework, but those hours may not be used to satisfy the minimum of ~~126~~ semester credit hours in speech/language disorders, 6 hours in language disorders, or ~~36~~ hours in audiology, or the 21 graduate credits in the professional area for which the license is sought.

*If seeking licensure in both audiology and speech-language pathology ~~and audiology~~, at least 15 graduate level semester hours in each area are required.

G. Coursework Requirements—Speech-Language Pathology Assistant and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant

1. A bachelor's degree in speech-language pathology from a regionally accredited institution fulfills the coursework requirements of the board provided the individual has successfully completed coursework in both articulation and language disorders.

2. If the bachelor's degree is not in speech-language pathology, the degree program should include the following core coursework. A total of 41 hours shall be obtained in the following areas.

3. Basic requirements:

- a. biological or physical sciences—6 semester hours;
- b. mathematics or statistics—6 semester hours;
- c. psychology/sociology/multicultural studies (some combination)—6 semester hours.

4. Basic professional courses:

- a. American phonetics—3 semester hours;

b. anatomy and physiology of the speech and hearing mechanism—3 semester hours;

c. normal speech and language acquisition—3 semester hours.

5. Speech and language disorders:

a. introduction to communication disorders—3 semester hours;

b. articulation disorders—3 semester hours;

c. language disorders—3 semester hours;

d. clinical practicum in communication disorders—2 semester hours;

(Additional credit may be obtained as an elective.)

6. Hearing and hearing disorders:

- a. introduction to audiology*—3 semester hours.

H. Clinical Practicum Hour Requirements. An individual shall submit official documentation from a regionally accredited educational institution or its cooperating programs, verifying supervised clinical practicum hours as follows.

1. Speech-Language Pathology and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Licenses

a. 400 clinical practicum hours if graduate program began after January 1, 2004;

b. 375 clinical practicum hours if graduate program began between January 1, 1994 and January 1, 2004;

c. 300 clinical practicum hours if graduate program began prior to January 1, 1994.

2. Audiology ~~and Provisional Audiology~~ Licenses

a. 1820 clinical practicum hours if the graduate program began after January 1, 2005, ~~375 hours of which must have been obtained through direct patient/client contact~~;

b. 375 clinical practicum hours if graduate program began between January 1, 1994 and January 1, 2005;

c. 300 clinical practicum hours if graduate program began prior to January 1, 1994.

3. Speech-Language Pathology Assistant License

a. 225 clinical practicum hours are required, the first 100 of which shall have been obtained through a regionally accredited educational institution or its cooperating programs. Of the 100 hours obtained through a regionally accredited educational institution, 75 shall be obtained through direct patient/client contact, and the remaining 25 hours may be obtained through observation of testing-assessment and therapy. It is recommended that the direct patient/client contact hours be obtained in at least two practicum sites with one site being a public school setting. The first 75 hours of direct patient/client contact shall be obtained in the following categories:

PROFESSIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL STANDARDS

- i. minimum of 20 hours in speech disorders;
- ii. minimum of 20 hours in language disorders;
- iii. the remaining 35 hours may be obtained in the areas of speech, language or hearing disorders. A maximum of 5 of these hours may be in the area of audiology. It is recommended that a minimum of 20 hours be obtained in articulation.

b. The remaining 125 hours may have been obtained on-the-job and/or through a regionally accredited educational institution or its cooperating programs.

4. Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant License

a. A minimum of 100 clinical practicum hours which have been obtained through a regionally accredited educational institution or its cooperating programs as defined in §107.I.3 is required.

i. The first 75 hours of direct patient/client contact shall be obtained in the following categories:

- (a). minimum of 20 hours in speech disorders;
- (b). minimum of 20 hours in language disorders;

(c). the remaining 35 hours may be obtained in the areas of speech, language or hearing disorders. A maximum of 5 of these hours may be in the area of audiology. It is recommended that a minimum of 20 hours be obtained in articulation.

b. The additional 125 hours required to upgrade to the Speech-Language Pathology Assistant License shall be obtained within three years of the date of issuance of the provisional assistant license and may be obtained by completing the remaining hours on-the-job and/or through a regionally accredited educational institution or its cooperating programs. Those hours obtained through supervised on-the-job training must consist of ~~on-site in-view observation~~ direct supervision hours and will only be accepted from the date that the application for license is ~~acknowledged to have been~~ received by the board.

c. A provisional speech-language pathology assistant may request ~~inactive status~~ deferment of the three-year period to complete licensure upgrade requirements. Such deferment may only be requested if there is an extenuating circumstance, such as -unable inability to find obtain employment in the area of speech-language pathology, and may defer the remaining time of the three-year period to complete the licensure requirements. The license must be renewed annually. Such deferment may only be held for a period of three years from the time of board approval.

i. If the licensee has never worked as a provisional speech-language pathology assistant, a notarized statement shall be submitted to the board office annually.

ii. If the licensee is not currently employed as a provisional speech-language pathology assistant, a letter specifying date of termination from the last employer shall

be submitted to the board office with Form 200, to verify supervision to the date of termination.

iii. Licensees on inactive status may retain their license by payment of the annual renewal fee. In order to resume ~~the practice of audiology or as a~~ speech-language pathology assistant or audiology, licensees on inactive status shall demonstrate completion of 5 clock hours of continuing education in the area of licensure for each year that inactive status was maintained (maximum of 25 hours).

I. Equivalency Requirements—Speech-Language Pathology, Provisional Speech-Language Pathology, or ~~Audiology or Provisional Audiography~~ License

1. Individuals who do not possess a graduate degree in either audiology or ~~speech-language pathology or audiology~~ but wish to obtain a license through the equivalency process shall meet the coursework, practicum and examination requirements for the area in which licensure is sought as defined in the board's rules entitled Coursework Requirements: ~~Audiology License—and—Provisional Audiography License;~~ Coursework Requirements: Speech-Language Pathology License and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology License; Clinical Practicum Hour Requirements and Examination Requirement.

J. Postgraduate Professional Employment/Experience

~~+~~ A graduate-level ~~audiologist or~~ speech-language pathologist must submit verification of ~~thirty-six~~ nine ~~weeks~~ months of full-time postgraduate professional employment/experience or its full-time equivalent.

~~2. An individual who holds a doctorate in audiology and has completed 75 semester credit hours of post-baccalaureate coursework from a regionally accredited audiology program, and has completed the clinical practicum requirement as specified in §107.I.2.a, fulfills the requirement for a supervised postgraduate professional employment experience.~~

K. Examination Requirement—Speech-Language Pathology License, Provisional Speech-Language Pathology License, Audiography License, ~~Provisional Audiography License~~

1. The board recognizes only the Educational Testing Service's specialty area examinations for audiology and ~~speech-language pathology and audiology~~ as the licensure examination for audiology and/or ~~speech-language pathology and/or audiology~~. Scores received directly from the applicant are not acceptable for licensing purposes.

2. The passing score for the audiology area examination is a minimum score of 170.

3. The passing score for the speech-language pathology area examination is a minimum score of 162.

4. If an individual has never held a license to practice audiology or speech-language pathology in another state, and if the degree program was completed greater than 10 years from the date of application, the passing score on the specialty area examination for audiology or ~~speech/language~~

pathology ~~or audiology~~ must have been obtained within the last 5 years.

L. Restricted License Qualifications

1. In order to reinstate a restricted license to practice speech-language pathology held prior to August 15, 1995, an applicant shall:

a. hold a bachelor's degree with a major in speech pathology, together with a current Type A B, or C teaching certificate issued by the state Board of Elementary and Secondary Education or their equivalent as determined by the state Board of Elementary and Secondary Education certifying the applicant as a specialist of speech, language and hearing; and

b. submit evidence of completion of his/her clock hours of supervised, direct clinical experience with persons having a variety of communication disorders. This experience shall be obtained through a training institution or its cooperating programs;

c. be permitted to practice in Louisiana only while under the direct supervision of a Louisiana licensed speech-language pathologist.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:706 (October 1988), amended LR 22:346 (May 1996), LR 27:197 (February 2001), repromulgated LR 27:1690 (October 2001), amended LR 28:1781 (August 2002), LR 30:2308 (October 2004), LR 33:2192 (October 2007), LR 37:2393 (August 2011), LR 39:1042 (April 2013), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1666 (October 2016).

§109. Licensure Application Procedures

~~A. A.~~ An application for a license to practice audiology and/or speech-language pathology ~~and/or audiology in Louisiana~~ shall be made on forms supplied by the board ~~approved forms~~.

~~A.B.~~ Criminal history record information must be submitted with the application form.

CB. Official transcripts shall be sent to this board directly from the college or university from which the academic requirements were earned.

DC. Documentation of supervised clinical practicum hours shall be submitted on university forms ~~and~~ signed by a clinical supervisor or director, and must be submitted along with the application form.

DE. The initial license fee submitted to this board with the application form and shall be paid by check, money order, or credit card.

FE. Audiologists, Sspeech-language pathologists, and/or assistants ~~and/or audiologists~~ who have held a license in another state, shall provide official verification of their

licensure status in each state, including any formal disciplinary action resulting in sanction and/or disciplinary proceedings which are pending. Verification of licensure status must be submitted along with the application form.

GF. Documentation of thirty-six weeks ~~nine months~~ of postgraduate professional employment/experience shall be submitted directly to the board in writing on official agency letterhead.

HG. Documentation of thirty-six weeks ~~nine months~~ of postgraduate professional employment/experience, a passing score on the Educational Testing Service's specialty area examination, and verification of supervised clinical practicum hours may be waived for individuals who submit verification that they hold the Certificate of Clinical Competence from the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. Documentation must be submitted with the application form.

IH. Postgraduate professional employment/experience which counts toward upgrading the license status, will only be accepted from the date that a licensee's application is ~~acknowledged to have been~~ received by the board.

~~I.~~ While an application for a license is being considered by the board, the applicant may be employed as a speech-language pathologist, audiologist or speech language pathology assistant for a period not longer than 60 days from the date that their application is acknowledged to have been received by the board. In no event may the applicant be employed as a speech language pathologist, audiologist or speech language pathology assistant after the application has been denied.

~~J.~~ An applicant may be granted only one 60 day period to work, with the exception of expedited military trained applicants and spouses, while his/her initial application is being processed. No additional grace period may be granted to an applicant, regardless of whether the application is a new license or a request to reinstate or upgrade a license.

J. While an initial application for licensure is being considered by the board, the applicant may be employed as an audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant for a period not to exceed 60 calendar days from the date that their completed application is received by the board. In no event may the applicant be employed as an audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant after the application has been denied.

K. An applicant, with the exception of military applicants and military spouses, may be granted only one 60-day period to work while his/her initial application is being processed. No additional grace period may be granted to an applicant, regardless of whether the application is a new license or a request to reinstate or upgrade a license.

LK. The board may refuse to consider any application which is not complete in every detail, including submission of every document required by the application form and instructions. The board may, ~~at~~ its discretion, require a more detailed or complete response to any request for

information set forth in the application form as a condition for consideration of an application.

ML. Applications from individuals who have defaulted on a loan from the Louisiana Office of Financial Assistance as per LA R.S. 37:2951 will be denied until such time as a release from the Louisiana Office of Financial Assistance has been received noting that a repayment agreement has been established.

NLK.

Applicants who have not obtained licensure within one year of ~~having submitted the Board's receipt of~~ the application shall be deemed to have abandoned the application, resulting in mandatory reporting to the appropriate federal data bank. An applicant may request a withdrawal of the application subject to review and approval by the board.

OML.

Individuals holding an unrestricted audiology or speech-language pathology ~~or audiology~~ license from another state shall be allowed to practice in Louisiana for five consecutive days within each renewal period upon proof of current licensure submitted to the board office 10 days prior to the scheduled activity.

PNM.

When there is probable cause to believe that an applicant practiced illegally in Louisiana as an audiologist, speech-language pathologist, and/or speech-language pathology assistant ~~and/or audiology~~, the board may offer a consent agreement and order which will grant the individual a license, subject to the following specified terms and conditions.

1. Within 90 days of the date of the consent agreement and order, the applicant shall take and pass an open book examination regarding R.S. 37:2650-2666, the board's rules, and regulations ~~and procedures~~, and ethical questions ~~or within 10 months of the date of the consent agreement and order, the applicant shall complete not fewer than five hours of continuing education in the area of ethics.~~

a. Open book test fee shall be \$30. The retest fee shall be \$10 per section.

b. Applicants have 4 1/2 hours to complete all sections of the test.

c. The open book examination or any section may be re-taken anytime within the 90 days.

~~d. The applicant may be required to appear before the board following completion of the continuing education in ethics to answer questions regarding the continuing education.~~

de. Notice of the consent ~~order and~~ agreement and order shall be published.

ef. If the applicant fails to successfully complete all requirements set forth in the above paragraphs, the applicant's license shall be suspended without further notice until the board receives and accepts documentation of the

applicant's completion of the consent ~~order and~~ agreement and order requirements.

~~QN. Applications for licensure will be denied for individuals who are in default on the repayment of any loan guaranteed in accordance with R.S. 17:3023(A)(8) and R.S. 37:2951(A)(E).~~

QRO. Temporary Registration during a Declared Public Health Emergency

1. In a public health emergency lawfully declared as such by the governor of Louisiana, the requirement for a Louisiana license as an audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant may be waived by the board at that time to those out-of-state audiologists, speech-language pathologists, or speech-language pathology assistants, whose licenses, certifications or registrations are current and unrestricted in another jurisdiction of the United States, for a period of time not to exceed the duration and scope of R.S. 29:769(E), as more particularly set forth in this Section.

2. The following requirements for temporary registration may be imposed pursuant to the declared state of emergency and shall be in accordance with rules promulgated by the board.

3. An audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant not licensed in Louisiana, whose licenses, certifications or registrations are current and unrestricted in another jurisdiction of the United States, may gratuitously provide audiology and speech-language pathology services if:

a. the audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant has photo identification and a license to verify a current and unrestricted license, certification or registration in another jurisdiction of the United States, and properly registers with the board prior to providing audiology or speech-language pathology services in Louisiana as follows:

i. the audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant is engaged in a legitimate relief effort during the emergency period, and provides satisfactory documentation to the board of the location site(s) that he/she will be providing gratuitous audiology or speech-language pathology services;

ii. the audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant shall comply with the Louisiana Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology Practice Act, board rules, and other applicable laws, as well as practice in good faith, and within the reasonable scope of his/her skill, training, and ability; and

iii. the audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant renders services on a gratuitous basis with no revenue of any kind to be derived whatsoever from the provision of services within the state of Louisiana.

4. ~~The authority provided for in the emergency rule shall be applicable~~ This temporary registration period for a

~~period of time shall~~ not ~~to~~ exceed 60 days at the discretion of the board, with the potential extension of up to two additional periods not to exceed 60 days for each extension as determined appropriate and necessary by the board.

5. All interested audiologists, speech-language pathologists, and speech-language pathology assistants shall submit a copy of their respective current and unrestricted licenses, certifications or registrations issued in other jurisdictions of the United States and photographic identification, as well as other requested information, to the Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology for registration with this agency prior to gratuitously providing audiology or speech-language pathology services in Louisiana.

6. Should a qualified audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant registered with the board ~~thereafter~~ fail to comply with any requirement or condition established by this Section, the board may terminate his/her registration upon notice and hearing.

7. In the event an audiologist, speech-language pathologist, or speech-language pathology assistant fails to register with the board, but practices audiology or speech-language pathology, whether gratuitously or otherwise, then such conduct will be considered the unlawful practice of audiology or speech-language pathology and prosecuted accordingly.

R.P. Volunteer Services. Individuals seeking to provide services on a voluntary basis shall hold an unrestricted out-of-state license in the area of practice, shall be deemed to meet all of the qualifications for license set forth by this Chapter, and shall abide by the Code of Ethics.

SQ. Licensing Military Members and Military Spouses

1. Expedited application for licensure in the area of audiology or speech-language pathology shall be granted to military members and military spouses ~~in the area of audiology or speech language pathology~~, licensed, certified or registered in another jurisdiction, while the individual is satisfying the requirement for licensure.

a. Applications shall be submitted in accordance with §109.

b. Military members shall submit with the application a copy of current military-issued identification and military orders.

c. Applicants who are the spouse of military personnel shall submit with the application a copy of current military-issued identification, marriage license, and an affidavit attesting that applicant is married to military personnel.

2. ~~In accordance with the 60 day grace period,~~ Military applicants shall submit:

a. military members—official, primary-source documentation verifying requirements met in accordance with §107 and §~~111~~115;

b. military spouse—official, primary-source documentation verifying requirements met in accordance with §107 and §~~111~~115.

~~3. Active and retired military members and military spouses shall be given a 60 day grace period for submission of official documentation from the date their notarized application and license fee are received by the board office, regardless of lapsed license status. The board may consider an extension of this grace period as per House Concurrent Resolution 74 of the 2015 Regular Session of the Louisiana Legislature.~~

3. Military members and military spouses shall be given a 60-day grace period for submission of official documentation from the date their notarized application and license fee are received by the board office, regardless of lapsed license status. The board may consider an extension of this grace period as per House Concurrent Resolution 74 of the 2015 Regular Session of the Louisiana Legislature.

~~4.34.~~ The provisions of this Section shall not apply to any applicant receiving a dishonorable discharge or a military spouse whose spouse received a dishonorable discharge.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:352 (May 1996), LR 27:199 (February 2001), LR 28:1974 (September 2002), LR 30:2311 (October 2004), LR 33:2193 (October 2007), LR 37:2393 (August 2011), repromulgated LR 37:2623 (September 2011), LR 39:1043 (April 2013), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1666 (October 2016).

§111. Application for Telehealth Registration

A. An application to practice audiology and/or speech-language pathology via telepractice shall be made on forms supplied by the board.

B. Proof of unrestricted, unencumbered current licensure granted in the home state based on standards at least equivalent to those in Louisiana must shall be submitted.

C. Applicants shall provide official verification of licensure and/or registration status in each state, including any formal disciplinary action resulting in sanction and/or disciplinary proceedings which are pending.

D. The initial telehealth registration fee submitted to this board shall be paid by cashier's check, money order, or credit card.

E. Until an application has been approved by the board, the audiologist and/or speech-language pathologist shall not engage in delivery of telepractice services to Louisiana residents.

F. Applicants who have not obtained registration within one year of having submitted the application shall be deemed to have abandoned the application, resulting in mandatory reporting to the appropriate federal data bank. An applicant may request a withdrawal of the application subject to review and approval by the board.

G. In order for telehealth registration to remain current in Louisiana, the individual must maintain an unrestricted,

unencumbered current license in another state, whose standards are at least equivalent to those in Louisiana.

H. When there is probable cause to believe that an applicant practiced illegally in Louisiana as an audiologist and/or speech-language pathologist, the board may offer a consent agreement and order which will grant the individual registration, subject to the following specified terms and conditions.

1. Within 90 days of the date of the consent agreement and order, the applicant shall take and pass an open book examination regarding R.S. 37:2650-2666, the board's rules and regulations, and ethical questions.

a. Open book test fee shall be \$30. The retest fee shall be \$10 per section.

b. Applicants have 4 ½ hours to complete all sections of the test.

c. The open book examination or any section may be re-taken anytime within the 90 days.

d. Notice of the consent agreement and order shall be published.

e. If the applicant fails to successfully complete all requirements set forth in the above paragraphs, the applicant's registration shall be suspended without further notice until the board receives and accepts documentation of the applicant's completion of the consent agreement and order requirements.

§113. Criminal History Record Information

A. In addition to any other requirements established by regulation, an applicant is required, as a condition for eligibility for licensure, to:

1. submit a full set of fingerprints, in a form and manner prescribed by the board;

2. permit the board to obtain state and national criminal history record information on the applicant;

3. submit the fee for state and national criminal history record information on the applicant.

B. Any and all state or national criminal history record information obtained by the board from the bureau or FBI which is not already a matter of public record shall be deemed non-public and confidential information restricted to the exclusive use of the board, its members, investigators, agents, and attorneys in evaluating the applicant's suitability and eligibility for licensure. No such information or records shall, except with the written consent of the applicant or by order of a court of competent jurisdiction, be released or otherwise disclosed by the board to any other person or agency.

C. An applicant who denies the existence or extent of criminal history record information on an application, which is discovered by information, records, or documentation provided by the state police, FBI, or any other state, national, or foreign jurisdiction shall, in addition to the potential disqualification of licensure for any of the causes specified in §141 of this Chapter, be deemed to have provided false, misleading, or deceptive information, or false sworn information on an application for licensure, and to have engaged in unprofessional conduct, providing additional cause for the board to suspend or revoke, refuse to issue, or impose probationary or other restrictions on any license held or applied for by an applicant in the state of Louisiana culpable of such violation, pursuant to R.S. 37:2662.

§1151. Licensure by Reciprocity

A. The board may waive the examination for applicants who present proof of current licensure in another state with standards equivalent to those of Louisiana.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:354 (May 1996), LR 30:2311 (October 2004).

§1173. Additional Requirements for International Applicants/Speakers of English as a Second Language

A. Any document required to be submitted to this board with an application for a license shall be in the English

language, or accompanied by a certified translation thereof into the English language.

B. As a condition of the board's consideration of the license application of a graduate of a foreign college or university, the applicant shall provide the board with an evaluation of the applicant's transcript from an approved credentials evaluation agency. A list of approved agencies, and their addresses, may be obtained from the board.

C. Because the essence of the practice of audiology and speech-language pathology ~~and audiology~~ is communication, an applicant whose primary language is not English shall submit a passing score on a nationally recognized English proficiency examination as approved by the board, and make an ~~personal~~ appearance before the board or its designees before a license may be issued. An English proficiency assessment shall be conducted by the board or its designees as a condition for licensure. At the board's discretion, the license may be conditionally granted subject to an English remediation plan and/or restrictions on practice.

D. The clinical observation and clinical practicum for a speech-language pathologist educated outside the United States must consist of at least 400 patient contact hours, to include:

1. at least 25 hours in supervised observation prior to the clinical practicum. Patient contact hours in excess of the required minimum may be substituted for the required 25 hours of supervised observation;

2. at least 375 patient contact hours in speech-language pathology. Practicum experiences must be:

- a. across the scope of practice in speech-language pathology;
- b. with clients across the lifespan;
- c. across the range of clinical severity.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:354 (May 1996), LR 27:201 (February 2001), LR 30:2311 (October 2004), LR 37:2394 (August 2011).

§1195. Requirements to Upgrade License

A. The provisional speech-language pathology ~~or provisional audiology~~ licensee who has not passed the examination at the time of initial licensure shall submit the following to upgrade his/her license status:

1. an official copy of a passing score on the Educational Testing Service area examination;
2. verification of thirty-six weeks/nine months of full-time postgraduate professional employment/experience or its part-time equivalent in the field the license is held;
3. proof of supervision through date of upgrade (Form 100);

4. upgrade fee of \$30.

B. The provisional speech-language pathology ~~or provisional audiology~~ licensee who has not completed the thirty-six/nine weeks/months of postgraduate professional employment/experience at the time of initial licensure shall submit the following to upgrade his/her license status:

1. verification of thirty-six/nine weeks/months of full-time postgraduate professional employment/experience or its part-time equivalent in the field the license is held;
2. proof of supervision through date of upgrade (Form 100);
3. upgrade fee of \$30.

C. The provisional speech-language pathology assistant shall submit the following to upgrade his/her license status:

1. proof of 225 supervised clinical practicum hours shall be on file in the board's office. Only direct or on-site, in-view supervision hours and/or university practicum hours may be counted towards the 225 hours;
2. upgrade fee of \$30.

D. The restricted audiology or restricted speech-language pathology ~~or restricted audiology~~ licensee who holds a master's degree or its equivalent in audiology or speech-language pathology ~~or audiology~~ shall submit the following documents to upgrade their license:

1. an official copy of a passing score on the Educational Testing Service area examination;
2. verification of thirty-six/nine weeks/months of postgraduate professional employment/experience or its part-time equivalent in the field in which the license is held;
3. proof of supervision through date of upgrade (Form 100);
4. upgrade fee of \$30.

E. Only those hours that have been obtained on-the-job as paid professional experience may be counted towards an upgrade.

F. Restricted speech-language pathology licensees who hold a bachelor's degree who wish to change their status to a provisional speech-language pathology license shall submit an application for license and meet the requirements of R.S. 37:2659(~~BD~~).

G. Speech-language pathology assistant licensees who wish to change their status to a provisional speech-language pathology license shall submit an application for license and meet the requirements of R.S. 37:~~2759~~2659(~~BD~~).

H. Postgraduate professional employment/experience which counts toward upgrading the license status will only be accepted from the date that the licensee's application was ~~acknowledged to have been~~ received by the board.

I. ~~Audiologists who hold an audiology license but are completing the coursework or practicum requirements for registration as a dispenser shall follow the supervision~~

~~requirements as specified in §131.H, and shall submit the board's Form 100 at the time of renewal. The board's Form 100 and the upgrade fee shall be submitted to upgrade license status.~~

I. It is the responsibility of the licensee to submit the documents and make a written request for upgrade of his/her license status. Licensees shall complete all supervision requirements consistent with the license held and immediately thereafter submit appropriate supervision forms to the board office along with a written request for license upgrade and the upgrade fee. The licensee shall remain under supervision until the upgrade has been approved by the board.

~~A.J.~~ If a passing score on the Educational Testing Service's specialty area examination in speech-language pathology is not submitted within one year from the date of issuance of the license, a provisional licensee must apply for a speech-language pathology assistant license. This individual may perform only those duties as specified in §121 and must be supervised in accordance with the requirements specified in §131.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 22:349 (May 1996), amended LR 27:197 (February 2001), LR 28:1971 (September 2002), LR 30:2312 (October 2004), LR 33:2194 (October 2007), LR 37:2394 (August 2011).

§1217. Duties: Speech-Language Pathology Assistant License and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant License

A.1. All duties performed by the ~~assistant~~ speech-language pathology assistant licensee or provisional speech-language pathology assistant licensee shall be assigned by a licensed speech-language pathologist and shall be supervised in accordance with the rules and regulations specified by the board. Caseload assignments shall be consistent with the knowledge base and training of the licensee for the performance of the following tasks:

a. conduct speech-language screenings and assessments without interpretation, following specified protocols as developed by the supervising speech-language pathologist. An assistant may not administer a test if the publisher's examiner requirements dictate administration by a graduate-degreed individual. All screening and assessment reports shall be cosigned and interpreted by the supervising speech-language pathologist;

b. perform hearing screenings limited to a pass/fail determination, for the purpose of initial identification of disorders, following specified protocols as approved by the supervising speech-language pathologist;

c. provide direct treatment which is within the level of training and experience as prescribed by the supervising speech-language pathologist to a caseload of patients/clients who demonstrate communication disorders. Supervision of

treatment shall be in accordance with the rules and regulations specified by the board;

d. follow treatment plans or protocols as developed and documented by the supervising speech-language pathologist;

e. document patient/client progress toward meeting established objectives as stated in the treatment plan, ~~and report this information to the supervising speech-language pathologist;~~

f. schedule activities, prepare charts, records, graphs, or otherwise display data;

g. perform checks and maintenance of equipment;

h. speech-language pathology assistants may participate in parent conferences, individual education plan meetings (IEP), case conferences, interdisciplinary team conferences, and research projects. Provisional speech-language pathology assistants may participate in these activities only with the supervising speech-language pathologist.

2. Duties outside the Scope of Practice of a Speech-Language Pathology Assistant ~~or~~ and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant

a. The speech-language pathology assistant licensee and provisional speech-language pathology assistant shall not:

i. perform clinical tasks without the knowledge and approval of the supervising speech-language pathologist;

ii. conduct evaluations, even under supervision.

iii. interpret test and assessment results;

iv. screen or diagnose clients for feeding and swallowing disorders;

v. –demonstrate swallowing strategies or precautions to clients, family, or staff;

vi. engage in service delivery via telepractice; however, the individual may function as a facilitator given appropriate training.

~~vii.~~ viii. work with a communication or related disorder unless s/he has had sufficient coursework with appropriate supervised practicum in that area obtained through a regionally accredited educational institution or its cooperating programs;

~~viii.~~ ix. provide patient/client or family counseling;

~~ix.~~ x. select and/or discharge patients/clients for services without the approval of the supervising speech-language pathologist;

~~x.~~ xi. disclose clinical or confidential information either orally or in writing to anyone not designated by the supervising speech-language pathologist and without the authorization of the patient/client or their designee;

~~xvii.~~ make referrals for additional services without the approval of the supervising speech-language pathologist;

~~xviii.~~ participate in Individualized Family Service Plan (IFSP) meetings without the supervising speech-language pathologist.

3. The speech-language pathology assistant and the provisional speech-language pathology assistant shall not perform any clinical task without the knowledge and approval of the supervising speech-language pathologist.

4. Failure to comply with these rules and regulations may result in disciplinary action against the assistant and/or the supervising speech-language pathologist.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 30:2312 (October 2004), amended LR 33:2194 (October 2007), LR 37:2394 (August 2011).

§12319. Fees

A. The board collects the following fees, which are non-refundable:

1. initial Louisiana license application—\$125;
2. dual license application ~~(to include hearing aid dispensing)~~—\$225;
3. renewal of license submitted on or before June 30, of each year ~~(including hearing aid dispensing)~~—\$65:
 - a. dual licensure renewal ~~(including hearing aid dispensing)~~—\$90;
4. delinquent renewal fee submitted between July 1 and July 31, of each year ~~(including hearing aid dispensing)~~—\$130;
 - a. dual licensure renewal ~~(including hearing aid dispensing)~~—\$180;
- ~~5. delinquent renewal fee submitted between August 1 and October 31, of each year (including hearing aid dispensing) —\$260:

 - a. dual licensure ~~(including hearing aid dispensing)~~ —\$360;~~
- ~~6. registration fee for audiologists to dispense hearing aids —\$25;~~
- ~~57.~~ initial telehealth registration fee—\$50;
- ~~68.~~ renewal of telehealth registration submitted on or before June 30, of each year—\$25;
- ~~79.~~ renewal of telehealth registration submitted between July 1 and July 31, of each year—\$50;
- ~~840.~~ licensure upgrade—\$30;
- ~~944.~~ continuing education pre-approval fee for corporations or individuals who are not LBESPA licensees—\$50;

~~1042.~~ mailing lists—~~\$0.05 per name and address plus postage and handling;~~

~~\$200 for speech-language pathologists;~~

~~\$25 for audiologists;~~

~~\$25 for speech-language pathology assistants.~~

~~1143.~~ NSF or returned check—\$40;

~~1244.~~ open book test fee—\$30:

a. open book retest fee, per section—\$10;

~~1345.~~ publications to include law, rules, etc.—\$5 ea. plus postage and handling;

~~1446.~~ re-issuance of license or registration certificate—\$25;

~~1547.~~ subpoena within East Baton Rouge Parish—\$50:

a. subpoena plus state-allowed travel rate per mile outside East Baton Rouge Parish—\$50;

~~168.~~ verification of license or registration (written)—\$10;

~~179.~~ an additional fee may be charged for credit card transactions in accordance with state treasury rules.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:706 (October 1988), amended LR 22:350 (May 1996), LR 27:197 (February 2001), repromulgated LR 27:1691 (October 2001) amended LR 30:2313 (October 2004), LR 33:2195 (October 2007), LR 37:2395 (August 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1666 (October 2016).

§1251. License Renewals

A. All licenses and registrations shall be renewed annually by June 30, to avoid delinquent renewal fees.

B. Initial licenses and registrations issued during the last quarter of the fiscal year, i.e., April, May, and June, will not be required to be renewed during that fiscal year. No continuing education hours will be required of the licensee or registrant for that period.

C. Licensees shall list on their renewal form the licensees (i.e., provisional speech-language pathologists, ~~provisional audiologists,~~ restricted speech-language pathologists, restricted audiologists, speech-language pathology assistants, or provisional speech-language pathology assistants); and aides that they are supervising.

D. It is the licensee's and registrant's continuing obligation to keep the board informed of his/her current mailing address.

E. Licensees shall participate in continuing professional education activities ~~of at least 10 clock hours~~ for each license period, July 1-June 30, in accordance with §12735.

PROFESSIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL STANDARDS

F. Inactive status is granted to licensees who are retired or who do not practice audiology or speech-language pathology during the fiscal year, July 1-June 30.

1. Licensees on inactive status may retain their license by payment of the annual renewal fee.

2. These licensees shall complete the affidavit on the continuing education report and submit it at the time of licensure renewal.

3. The licensee may submit the required five hours of continuing education each year he/she is on inactive status or submit all of the hours the year he/she returns to work in the profession.

4. Licensees on inactive status or who are retired shall not supervise individuals or otherwise engage in the practice of audiology or speech-language pathology.

5. In order to resume the practice of audiology or speech-language pathology, licensees on inactive status shall demonstrate completion of 5 clock hours of continuing education in the area of licensure for each year that inactive status was maintained (maximum of 25 hours). In addition, a letter requesting a change to active status must be submitted to the board office prior to resuming the practice of audiology or speech-language pathology.

G. Licensees who hold a license requiring supervision and who are not working in the field of audiology and/or speech-language pathology ~~and/or audiology~~ shall submit a notarized statement at the time of license renewal attesting to the fact that they did not work in the profession during the license period.

H. The board may refuse to consider any renewal application which is not complete in every detail, including submission of every document required by the application form and instructions. The board may, in its discretion, require additional more detailed or complete response to any request for information set forth in the application form as a condition for consideration of the application.

I. Renewal Applications from individuals who have defaulted on a loan from the Louisiana Office of Financial Assistance as per LA R.S. 37:2951 will be denied until such time as a release is received from the Louisiana Office of Financial Assistance noting that a repayment agreement has been established.

JH. Renewal will be denied for licensees who are in default on the repayment of any loan guaranteed in accordance with R.S. 17:3023(A)(8) and R.S. 37:2951(A)(E).

JK. Delinquent Renewal

1. Delinquent requests for renewals will be accepted by the board through ~~October~~ July 31, provided the delinquent renewal fee is paid in accordance with ~~§119.C and DA.4.121(4) and 123~~ and the continuing education summary form is submitted ~~requirements have been met.~~

2. A licensee whose license lapsed on ~~November~~ August 1, and applies to reinstate prior to the following

June 30, is required to submit a completed application, proof of continuing education, initial license fee and delinquent renewal fee in accordance with ~~§119.A121(4)123 and D.4.~~ and ~~§123127.~~

3. A licensee whose license lapsed on ~~November~~ August 1, and applies for reinstatement after June 30, of the following year, is required to submit a completed application, proof of continuing education, and is subject to the initial license fee and delinquent renewal fee and the requirements of ~~§121.1.3123127.~~

4. A registrant whose registration lapsed on August 1, must complete the initial application process for telepractice registration.

JL. Conditional Renewal

1. Licensees who previously held a full, valid license which was obtained under the grandfather clause of Act 260 of the 1978 Regular Session of the Louisiana Legislature, whether delinquent or lapsed, for a period not to exceed five years, shall be eligible for licensure renewal or reinstatement upon meeting the continuing education requirement and submitting the appropriate renewal fee in accordance with ~~§119123.~~ If the license has lapsed for a period of more than five years, applicants shall reapply in accordance with the requirements enumerated in R.S. 37:2651 et seq., as amended by Act 892 of the 1995 Regular Session of the Louisiana Legislature.

2. Licensees who previously held a restricted license which was obtained under Act 260 of the 1978 Regular Session of the Louisiana Legislature, whether delinquent or lapsed, shall be eligible for licensure renewal or reinstatement, upon meeting the continuing education requirement and submitting the appropriate renewal fee as required in accordance with ~~§119-123~~ and ~~§123127.~~

~~3. Licensees who have allowed their license to lapse for a period of ten years or greater, and do not hold a current audiology or speech language pathology license in another state, must submit a passing score on the educational testing service's specialty area examination for audiology or speech-language pathology or audiology, as applicable to the license being sought, achieved no more than five years prior to the submission of the request for reinstatement.~~

4. ~~Licensees~~ who allow their license to lapse (~~November~~ August 1) shall submit documentation of completion of five clock hours of continuing education (maximum of 25 hours) in the area of licensure for each year that the license has lapsed in addition to meeting the license requirements enumerated in R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

45. Licensees who have allowed their license to lapse for a period of 5 years or greater, and do not hold a current audiology or speech-language pathology license in another state, must submit evidence of 25 continuing education hours directly related to the clinical practice of the license being sought and must have been obtained within the past 18 months.

5. Licensees who have allowed their license to lapse for a period of ten years or greater, and do not hold a current audiology or speech-language pathology license in another state, must submit a passing score on the Educational Testing Service’s specialty area examination for audiology or speech-language pathology, as applicable to the license being sought, achieved no more than five years prior to the submission of the request for reinstatement.

6. Renewal of a license will not be granted until all requirements including mandated continuing education hours have been completed.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:351 (May 1996), LR 27:198 (February 2001), LR 28:1972 (September 2002), LR 30:2314 (October 2004), LR 33:2195 (October 2007), LR 37:2395 (August 2011), LR 39:1043 (April 2013), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1667 (October 2016).

§1273. Continuing Education Requirements

A. Each licensee shall complete continuing professional education activities of at least 10 clock hours each license period, July 1-June 30.

B. Of the 10 hours, five shall be ~~in the area of licensure.~~ Educational activities directly related to the scope of practice of the licensee and must be designed to increase the knowledge and skills in the area of licensure.

C. Of the 10 hours, five may be in areas related to the professions of audiology and speech-language pathology. Such activities shall increase knowledge and skills pertinent to practice. Examples include: billing; coding; and reimbursement; record-keeping; ethics; supervision.

~~DC.~~ Audiologists who ~~register as dispensing audiologists~~ shall ensure that at least 3 of the total 10 hours are in areas directly related to hearing aid dispensing, such as business/practice management, marketing, aural habilitation/rehabilitation, diagnostic assessment, characteristics of hearing aids and their application, etc.

~~ED.~~ Dual licensees shall complete 15 hours per year with a minimum of five hours in ~~audiology/speech-language pathology~~ and five hours in ~~audiology/speech-language pathology~~; the remaining five may be in areas related to the professions of audiology and speech-language pathology.

~~FE.~~ Out-of-state audiologists and speech-language pathologists who hold telehealth registration shall complete the continuing education requirements consistent with the license the individual possesses for the state in which the provider is located. Telehealth registrants residing in states which do not require continuing education for audiologists and/or speech-language pathologists shall complete the annual continuing education requirements specified in this Section and may be audited.

~~GF.~~ Continuing education events occurring in the month of June will be accepted for the collection period in which

they occur or they may be counted in the following collection period which begins on July 1. Hours from one event may not be divided between two collection periods.

~~HG.~~ The graduated scale for the collection of continuing education hours is based on the date an applicant receives his/her initial license or registration.

License Received	Hours Required
April, May, June	0
January, February, March	3
October, November, December	6
July, August, September	10

~~IH.~~ In the case of extenuating circumstances, when the licensee does not fulfill the continuing education requirements, the licensee shall submit a written request for extension to the board for consideration.

~~IJ.~~ Continuing education hours accrued during the applicant's grace period will be accepted.

~~KJ.~~ Acceptable continuing education sponsors and activities that are directly related to the practice of audiology and/or speech-language pathology:

1. board-sponsored activities;
2. presentations in the area of communication disorders sponsored by professional organizations such as American Academy of Audiology (AAA), American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA), Louisiana Academy of Audiology (LAA), Louisiana Speech-Language-Hearing Association (LSHA), Speech Pathologists and Audiologists in Louisiana Schools (SPALS), Louisiana Society for Hearing Aid Specialists, etc. Business meetings, luncheons, award ceremonies, receptions, and other non-content area events are not recognized as acceptable continuing education activities;
3. activities provided by ASHA-approved continuing education providers or AAA-approved continuing education activities;
4. meetings of related professional organizations (e.g., Council for Exceptional Children, ~~Orton~~ International Dyslexia Society Association);
5. college courses in the area of licensure with the exception of clinical practicum taken for credit or official audit (3 semester hours or 6 quarter hours=10 hours of continuing education);
6. distance learning (video conferences, telephone seminars and internet courses sponsored by universities, schools, clinics, state agencies, hospitals, professional organizations, or related professional organizations);
7. workshops and in-services that are university, school, clinic, hospital or state agency sponsored (maximum of five hours in a related area. Only content area workshop and in-service time shall count as earned continuing education. Documentation of staff development content must be separated from employee meeting activities such as

announcements, review of deadlines, event planning, and other non-content area activities.);

8. publication of an article in a peer-reviewed journal for the year in which it was published;

9. digital media (e.g. CD, DVD, online webinars, etc.) which is ASHA-approved ~~and or~~ AAA-approved continuing education media;

10. the presenting licensee may count 1 1/2 times the value of an activity the first time it is presented to allow for preparation time (example: a 3 hour workshop=4 1/2 hours). The activity will count for the actual hour value for each subsequent presentation of the same activity;

11. teaching at the college level in the area of communication disorders is not acceptable.

L.K. Pre-Approval Policy

1. Pre-approval is required for continuing education events that do not meet the requirements as listed under ~~§123.1127.K.~~ 1-11, and pre-approval of continuing education events is required in those situations where it is unclear whether ~~or not~~ the topic is relevant to the profession or will further a professional's expertise in a particular area.

2. The licensee shall request pre-approval (minimum of 30 days in advance) of self-study activities, or other appropriate activities.

3. Individuals not licensed by LBESPA as well as corporations offering continuing education not addressed under ~~§123.1127.K.~~, must submit a \$50 continuing education review fee along with the pre-approval request.

4. Licensees who elect to attend university classes/courses in audiology and/or speech-language pathology ~~and/or audiology~~ without payment of the university fee shall submit a self-study plan for pre-approval from the Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology to receive continuing education credits.

5. Self-study activities in the area of communication disorders:

- a. digital media (maximum of 5 hours);
- b. reading of journal articles that contain self-examination questions ~~at the end~~. Articles shall be submitted for pre-approval (maximum of 5 hours).

6. Publication of diagnostic and/or therapeutic materials (maximum of 5 hours).

M.L. Recording of Continuing Education Activities

1. Licensees shall record all continuing education activities as prescribed by the board and submitted at the time of renewal.

2. Licensees shall maintain records of continuing education activities completed for three years.

3. Licensees shall not submit repeated continuing education activities for credit within a three-year period.

~~42. A percentage of licensees will be audited each year as a means of evaluating compliance with the continuing education requirements. The board may request, through random audit, verification of clock hours submitted, including information regarding content and attendance. If the title of the activity does not clearly state the content, a description and/or time-ordered agenda may be required. A percentage will be audited each year as a means of evaluating compliance with the continuing education requirements.~~

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 22:351 (May 1996), amended LR 27:199 (February 2001), LR 28:1973 (September 2002), LR 30:2314 (October 2004), LR 33:2196 (October 2007), LR 37:2395 (August 2011), LR 39:1043 (April 2013), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1667 (October 2016).

§1295. Supervision Requirements for Restricted License, ~~and~~ Provisional Speech-Language Pathology License ~~and~~ Provisional Audiology License

A. Restricted licensees, and provisional speech-language pathology licensees ~~and provisional audiology licensees~~ are required to undergo direct supervision by a licensed speech-language pathologist ~~or audiologist~~, licensed ~~in the area~~ in accordance with R.S. 37:2659(A,B). ~~The d~~ Directon site in view supervision ands well as the indirect alternative methods of supervision must occur in every work setting in which the licensee is employed. An audiologist, licensed in accordance with R.S. 37:2659(A) may supervise these individuals for the purpose of hearing screening. An individual may not be supervised by a provisional licensee, restricted licensee, or assistant licensee.

B. A supervising speech-language pathologist must have a minimum of one year of full-time professional speech-language pathology experience following the postgraduate professional/employment experience. Full-time employment in a school system for the school year is considered to meet this requirement.

C. Prior to the initiation of supervision of a restricted assistant or provisional licenseeassistant, training in the area of supervision is strongly recommended.

~~CD.~~ An individual may not be supervised by a provisional licensee, restricted licensee, assistant licensee, ~~or~~ an individual on inactive status, a telehealth registrant, or a family member.

~~DE.~~ Supervision must involve the personal and direct participation of the supervisor in order for the supervisor to monitor, observe, evaluate, and make suggestions for improvement regarding the supervisee's professional employment.

~~EF.~~ Restricted licensees and, provisional speech-language pathology licensees ~~and provisional audiology licensees~~ must submit a supervisory agreement signed by the

supervisor and supervisee as prescribed by the board. The form must be submitted to the board by the supervisee within 30 days of employment and submitted annually at the time of renewal. If there is a change in supervisor(s) at any time, a new supervisory agreement must be submitted to the board within 30 days of the change in supervision. If there are multiple supervisors for the same supervisee, all supervisors must sign the supervisory agreement.

FG. Speech-language pathologists ~~or audiologists~~ may share the supervision responsibility for ~~P~~rovisional or ~~R~~estricted licensees, but each supervising speech-language pathologist ~~or audiologist~~ shall complete and submit the necessary supervision forms.

GH. Supervisory records, including supervision logs and other documentation of supervision, shall be maintained by both the supervisor and supervisee for a period of three years. Documentation of supervision may be requested by the board.

HI. The direct supervision of the licensee, whether employed full-time or part-time, shall include ~~12-16~~ monitoring activities annually.

1. At least ~~four-eight~~ shall be ~~on-site, in-view~~direct observations divided between the areas of diagnostics and management. The ~~on-site, in-view~~direct observations must be equal to or greater than a total of ~~four-eight~~ hours. ~~Indirect supervision~~Alternative methods may include conferences, audio and videotape recordings, review of written records, staffings and discussions with other persons who have participated in the licensee's training.

2. For 12-month employees, ~~one-two on-site, in-view~~direct observations shall be conducted each quarter.

3. For nine-month employees, ~~two-four on-site, in-view~~direct observations shall occur in each semester. If the nine-month employment is extended for a period of time, additional ~~on-site, in-view~~direct, as well as ~~indirect~~alternative methods of supervision must occur.

IJ. Documentation of supervision shall be submitted annually at the time of license renewal on Form 100 provided by the board.

JK. Licensees shall complete all supervision requirements consistent with the license held and immediately thereafter submit appropriate supervision forms to the board office along with a written request for license upgrade and the upgrade fee. The licensee shall remain under supervision until the upgrade has been approved by the board.

KL. The board will accept supervision provided out-of-state by an individual licensed or ASHA-certified in the area of practice. Supervision must be documented on Form 100.

1. Restricted licensees and ; provisional speech-language pathology licensees ~~and provisional audiology licensees~~ who have not worked in Louisiana, may submit their clinical fellowship report as proof of supervision that was carried out during the license period. Otherwise, licensees must submit at the time of license renewal,

appropriate proof of supervision consistent with Louisiana supervision requirements.

LM. Licensees who are not working in the field of speech-language pathology ~~and/or audiology~~ and who hold a license requiring supervision, shall submit a notarized statement at the time of license renewal attesting to the fact that they did not work in the profession during the license period.

MN. ~~_____~~ All costs of supervision shall be borne by the licensee or his/her employer, but in no event will those costs be borne by the board.

NO. When supervision requirements have not been met in accordance with ~~§125129~~, licensees shall complete additional months of supervision to replace months of incomplete supervision.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:352 (May 1996), LR 27:199 (February 2001), LR 28:1974 (September 2002) LR 30:2315 (October 2004), LR 33:2196 (October 2007), LR 37:2396 (August 2011), LR 39:1043 (April 2013).

§13127. Supervision Requirements for Speech-Language Pathology Assistant and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant

A. A supervising speech-language pathologist must have a minimum of one year of full-time professional speech-language pathology experience following the postgraduate professional/employment experience. Full time employment in a school system for the school year is considered to meet this requirement.

B. Prior to the initiation of supervision of an assistant or provisional assistant, training in the area of supervision is strongly recommended.

C. An individual may not be supervised by a provisional licensee, restricted licensee, assistant licensee, an individual on inactive status, a telehealth registrant, or a family member.

D. The supervision requirements specified in these ~~guidelines-regulations~~ are minimum requirements. It is the responsibility of the speech-language pathologist to design and provide a supervision system that protects patient/client care and maintains the highest possible standards of quality.

ED. Supervision must involve the ~~personal and~~ direct participation of the supervisor in order for the supervisor to monitor, observe, evaluate, and make suggestions for improvement regarding the supervisee's employment.

EF. The supervisor is responsible for ensuring that the assistant does not make decisions regarding evaluation, management and future disposition of clients.

FG. The supervisor is responsible for initial consultation with the assistant regarding coursework and practicum experiences prior to caseload assignment. The supervising

PROFESSIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL STANDARDS

speech-language pathologist shall assign only those tasks for which the assistant has been trained.

HG. Decision-making regarding specification of on-going treatment protocol and necessary modifications, is the responsibility of the supervisor. The level of supervision required is considered the minimum necessary to ensure appropriate patient/client care.

IH. The supervising speech-language pathologist shall be readily available for consultation with the assistant licensee. This includes personal contact, telephone, ~~pager,~~ or other means of communication.

IJ. Speech-language pathology assistants and provisional speech-language pathology assistants must submit a supervisory agreement signed by the supervisor and supervisee as prescribed by the board. The form must be submitted to the board by the supervisee within 30 days of employment and submitted annually at the time of renewal. If there is a change in supervisor(s) at any time, a new supervisory agreement must be submitted to the board within 30 days of the change in supervision. If there are multiple supervisors for the same supervisee, all supervisors must sign the supervisory agreement.

KJ. Speech-language pathologists may share the supervision responsibility for speech-language pathology assistants or provisional speech-language pathology assistants, but each supervising speech-language pathologist shall complete and submit the necessary supervision forms.

LK. Supervisory records, including supervision logs and other documentation of supervision, shall be maintained by both the supervisor and supervisee for a period of three years. Documentation of supervision may be requested by the board.

ML. The board will accept supervision given out-of-state by a licensed or ASHA certified speech-language pathologist ~~or audiologist~~ in the area of licensure. Licensees must submit at the time of license renewal, appropriate proof of supervision consistent with Louisiana supervision requirements.

MN.

Assistants who are not working in the field of speech-language pathology shall submit a notarized statement at the time of license renewal attesting to the fact that they did not work in the profession during the license period.

NO. Although more than one speech-language pathologist may provide supervision of an assistant licensee and provisional assistant licensee, at no time may a licensed speech-language pathologist supervise or be listed as a supervisor for more than three assistant or provisional assistant licensees. When multiple supervisors are used, the supervisors are encouraged to coordinate and communicate with each other.

PO. Provisional speech-language pathology assistants and speech-language pathology assistants must undergo ~~direct on site~~ in view supervision as well as

~~indirect alternative methods~~ of supervision in every work setting in which the licensee is employed.

QP. Documentation of supervision shall be submitted annually at the time of license renewal on Form 200 provided by the board.

RQ. Supervision Requirements for the Speech-Language Pathology Assistant

1. A minimum of one clock hour of ~~direct on site, in view~~ supervision shall be completed in the primary work setting each week for each licensee. If the assistant is employed in more than one work setting, additional ~~direct on site, in view~~ supervision must occur in the secondary work setting.

2. A minimum of one clock hour of ~~indirect alternative supervision methods~~ shall be completed each week for each licensee. These ~~activities methods~~ should include, but are not limited to:

- a. specifying protocols for speech-language screenings and assessments conducted by the assistant licensee;
- b. specifying protocols for hearing screenings conducted by the assistant licensee;
- c. approving treatment plans or protocols and documenting approval;
- d. monitoring patient/client progress toward meeting established objectives;
- e. monitoring, scheduling, charting and data collection;
- f. directing maintenance of equipment;
- g. directing research projects, in-service training and public relations programs;
- h. conducting telephone conferences.

3. If circumstances prohibit a supervisor from completing the minimum supervision requirements (§~~13127~~ RQ.1 and 2) in a given week, the remaining supervision shall be completed the following week in conjunction with the required supervision hours for that week.

4. When the supervising speech-language pathologist is unavailable for supervision for more than one week, arrangements shall be made for another qualified supervisor or the speech-language pathology assistant shall be transferred to other duties.

5. Speech-Language Pathology Assistant Full-Time and Part-Time Supervision Requirements

Hours Worked	Required <u>Direct</u> Supervision <u>On-Site, In-View</u>	Required <u>Indirect</u> Supervision <u>Alternative Method</u>
21-40 hours	1 hour/week	1 hour/week
20 hours or less	1 hour/every 2 weeks	1 hour/every 2 weeks

6. Assistant licensees shall be supervised only by a speech-language pathologist licensed under the provisions of R.S. 37:2659(BA) with the exception of hearing screenings which may be supervised by an audiologist, licensed under the provisions of R.S. 37:2659(A). ~~An individual may not be supervised by a provisional licensee or restricted licensee.~~

RS. Supervision Requirements for the Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant

1. A minimum of three clock hours of ~~directon-site, in-view~~ supervision shall be completed in the primary work setting each week for each licensee. If the provisional speech-language pathology assistant is employed in more than one work setting, additional ~~directon-site, in-view~~ supervision must occur in the secondary work setting.

2. A minimum of two clock hours of ~~indirect~~~~alternative~~ supervision ~~methods~~ shall be completed each week for each licensee.

3. These ~~activities~~~~methods~~ should include, but are not limited to:

- a. specifying protocols for speech-language screenings and assessments conducted by the assistant licensee;
- b. specifying protocols for hearing screenings conducted by the assistant licensee;
- c. approving treatment plans or protocols and documenting approval;
- d. monitoring patient/client progress toward meeting established objectives;
- e. monitoring scheduling, charting and data collection;
- f. directing maintenance of equipment;
- g. directing research projects, in-service training and public relations programs;
- h. conducting telephone conferences.

4. If extenuating circumstances prohibit a supervisor from completing the minimum supervision requirements (§1~~31297~~.SR.1 and 2) in a given week, the remaining supervision shall be completed the following week in conjunction with the required supervision hours for that week.

5. When the supervising speech-language pathologist is out for more than one week, arrangements shall be made for another qualified supervisor or the provisional speech-language pathology assistant shall be transferred to other duties.

6. When supervision requirements have not been met, in accordance with §1~~31297~~ licensees shall complete additional months of supervision to replace months of incomplete supervision.

7. Provisional ~~S~~speech-language ~~P~~pathology ~~A~~assistant ~~F~~full-time and ~~P~~part-time ~~S~~supervision ~~R~~requirements:

Hours Worked	Required Direct Supervision On-Site, In-View	Required Indirect Supervision Alternative Method
21-40 hours	3 hours/week	2 hours/week
20 hours or less	1.5 hours/every 2 weeks	1 hour/every 2 weeks

8. Provisional assistant licensees shall be supervised by a speech-language pathologist licensed under the provisions of R.S. 37:2659(BA) with the exception of hearing screenings which may be supervised by an audiologist, licensed under the provisions of R.S. 37:2659(A). ~~An individual may not be supervised by a provisional licensee or a restricted licensee.~~

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:353 (May1996), LR 27:200 (February 2001), repromulgated LR 27:1691 (October 2001), amended LR 30:2316 (October 2004), LR 33:2197 (October 2007), LR 37:2396 (August 2011).

§1~~3329~~. Independent Practice

A. Licensed audiologists and speech-language pathologists, by virtue of academic coursework, clinical practicum, and professional experience, are qualified to engage in the autonomous or independent practice of the professions. Individuals who hold a license, i.e., provisional, restricted, assistant or provisional assistant, mandating supervision during the practice of the professions may not engage in the autonomous or independent practice of audiology or speech-language pathology.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 33:2198 (October 2007).

§1~~350~~. TelepracticeTelehealth

A. ~~TelepracticeTelehealth~~, regardless of where the service is rendered or delivered, constitutes the practice of audiology or speech-language pathology and shall require Louisiana licensure for in-state practitioners and telehealth registration for out-of-state licensed practitioners.

B. A provider of telehealth services shall be competent in both the type of services provided and the methodology and equipment used to provide the services.

C. A provider of telehealth services must use methods for protecting client information that include authentication and encryption technology.

D. The standard of care shall be the same as if the audiology or speech-language pathology services were delivered face-to-face. It is the responsibility of the provider to determine candidacy and to ensure that the client is comfortable with the technology being utilized.

PROFESSIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL STANDARDS

E. The client shall be notified of telehealth services including but not limited to the right to refuse telehealth services, options for service delivery, and instructions on filing and resolving complaints, in all applicable jurisdictions.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 39:1044 (April 2013), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1668 (October 2016).

§1374. Hearing Aid Dispensing

A. Audiologists who dispense hearing aids shall meet the coursework and practicum requirements for dispensing as specified in R.S. 37:2650 et seq., ~~and shall indicate their intent to do so at the time of each license renewal.~~

~~B. Audiologists who hold a provisional audiology license shall be supervised by a licensed, registered dispensing audiologist while completing the postgraduate professional employment/experience requirements for full licensure.~~

~~C. Audiologists who hold an audiology license but are completing the coursework or practicum requirements for registration as a dispenser shall follow the supervision requirements as specified in §125 and shall submit the board's Form 100 at the time of renewal. The board's Form 100 shall be submitted to upgrade the license status.~~

~~B~~D. Audiologists who dispense hearing aids shall maintain annual calibration records on audiometric equipment.

~~C~~E. Audiologists who dispense hearing aids shall comply with the following.

1. Audiologists shall ensure that a pre-purchase evaluation includes:

- a. a case history;
- b. an otoscopic examination;
- c. a basic audiological test battery conducted within the preceding six-month period in a sound-treated environment unless the patient's physical condition prohibits accomplishment of these procedures. The battery shall include:

- i. ~~pure tone air and bone conduction testing;~~
- ~~ii. speech reception threshold;~~
- ~~iii. word recognition testing;~~basic comprehensive audiometry;

- ii~~iv.~~ appropriate tolerance testing;
- d. middle ear measurements shall also be obtained when indicated.

2. Audiologists shall provide the consumer with a minimum 30-day trial period on all new hearing aids purchased.

3. Audiologists shall inform the consumer of the total cost of the hearing aid, including any fees for returning the aid at the end of the trial period.

4. Audiologists shall conduct a post-fitting evaluation that includes functional gain measurements conducted in a ~~sound-treated~~sound treated environment and/or real ear measurements unless the patient's physical conditions prohibit accomplishment of these procedures.

5. Audiologists who engage in the fitting or selling of hearing aids shall deliver to each person supplied with a hearing aid, a bill of sale which shall contain the dispenser's signature, address and license number, together with a description of the make, model and serial number of the hearing aid and the amount charged. The bill of sale shall also indicate whether the hearing aid is new, used, or reconditioned.

~~F. Audiologists who meet the qualifications for licensure as an audiologist and who were exempt under R.S. 37:2464(A) as part of their employment with a state health agency may register as dispensing audiologists by presenting proof of employment and dispensing experience in that job setting.~~

~~D~~G. Licensed Audiologists who did not hold a doctoral degree and were not registered to dispense hearing aids prior to August 1, 2016 and who wish to include hearing aid dispensing as a component of their practice, must have proof of appropriate training, education and experience in the area of hearing aid dispensing. These audiologists who wish to include dispensing as part of their practice s shall submit a self-study for pre-approval by the Bboard. Upon culmination, the audiologist must submit a report documenting completion. ~~who meet the qualifications for licensure as an~~An audiologist who meets the qualifications for licensure but lacks the coursework and practicum requirements necessary for ~~registration as a dispenser dispensing of hearing aids~~ may fulfill these requirements by:

~~1. e~~1. ~~Completing nine months of postgraduate professional employment/experience under the supervision of a licensed dispensing audiologist; and~~

~~2. , and b~~2. ~~By~~ proof of the successful completion of a study course by the National Institute for Hearing Instruments Studies, or its equivalent. Equivalency for National Institute for Hearing Instruments Studies is defined as:

1. an individualized program of study that shall include:
 - a. hearing aid technology and dispensing courses sponsored by hearing aid manufacturers to include a minimum of 15 clock hours;
 - b. workshops in the area of hearing aid technology and dispensing sponsored by professional organizations or individual practitioners to include a minimum of 15 clock hours;
 - c. successful completion of university coursework in the area of hearing aid technology and dispensing; or

~~d. programs of independent study consisting of a minimum of 15 clock hours in the area of hearing aid technology and dispensing;~~

~~2. any individualized program of study shall be submitted to the board a minimum of 30 days in advance for pre-approval.~~

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 22:353 (May 1996), amended LR 27:201 (February 2001), LR 28:1975 (September 2002), LR 30:2317 (October 2004), LR 33:2198 (October 2007), LR 37:2398 (August 2011), repromulgated LR 37:2624 (September 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1668 (October 2016).

§1393. Qualifications and Duties of Aides

A. ~~Audiologists and S~~speech-language pathologists ~~and audiologists~~ are legally, ethically, and morally responsible for the services provided by aides working under their direction.

B. Requirements for the use of aides follow.

1. A licensed audiologist or speech-language pathologist ~~or audiologist~~ may utilize an aide who meets the following qualifications. The aide shall:

- a. be of good moral character;
- b. be at least 18 years old;
- c. possess appropriate communication skills;
- d. have a high school diploma or G.E.D.

2. The supervising audiologist or speech-language pathologist ~~or audiologist~~ is responsible for determining that the aide is qualified and prepared for the duties which s/he will be assigned. It is recommended that the aide be afforded continuing education opportunities. Appropriate areas of training may include:

- a. normal processes in speech, language and hearing;
- b. disorders of speech, language and hearing;
- c. record-keeping and data compilation;
- d. utilization of equipment and materials;
- e. professional ethics and their application to the aide's duties;
- f. administration of hearing screening tests.

C. Supervision

1. The licensed audiologist or speech-language pathologist ~~or audiologist~~ shall provide periodic direct observation for each aide at least once per month during the initial year of the aide's employment. Speech-language pathology aides are required to undergo direct supervision by a licensed speech-language pathologist, licensed in the area in accordance with R.S. 37:2659(BA). Audiology aides

are required to undergo direct supervision by a licensed audiologist, licensed in the area in accordance with R.S. 37:2659(A). ~~Speech language pathology~~Audiology aides and ~~audiology speech-language pathology~~ aides may not be supervised by a provisional licensee, restricted licensee, or assistant licensee.

2. The direct observation in subsequent years shall be established by the supervising audiologist or speech-language pathologist ~~or audiologist~~ on an individual basis but shall be no less than once every three months.

3. The supervising audiologist or speech-language pathologist ~~or audiologist~~ shall be readily available for consultation with the aide at all times.

4. Documentation of ~~direct on site, in view~~ supervision shall be maintained by the supervising audiologist or speech-language pathologist ~~or audiologist~~ and shall be submitted to the board upon request.

5. The supervising audiologist or speech-language pathologist ~~or audiologist~~ shall report to the board at the time of licensure renewal, the names and employment locations of aides.

D. The speech-language pathology aide may engage in activities limited to those that are planned and directed by the supervising speech-language pathologist. Providing that the preparation, training, and supervision are appropriate, the following tasks may be assigned to speech-language pathology aides:

1. setting up room and equipment;
2. clearing room and storing equipment;
3. preparing materials (such as making copies, typing forms) for use by the speech-language pathologist;
4. checking equipment to determine if the equipment is performing adequately;
5. transporting patients/clients to and from sessions;
6. assisting with field trips;
7. performing hearing screenings limited to pure-tone air conduction screening and screening tympanometry;
8. recording, charting, graphing, or otherwise displaying objective data relative to the patient's/client's performance.

E. The audiology aide may engage in activities limited to those that are planned and directed by the supervising audiologist. Providing that the preparation, training, and supervision are appropriate, the following tasks may be assigned to audiology aides:

1. setting up room and equipment;
2. clearing room and storing equipment;
3. preparing materials (such as making copies, typing forms) for use by the audiologist;

4. checking equipment to determine if the equipment is performing adequately;
5. transporting patients/clients to and from sessions;
6. assisting with field trips;
7. performing hearing screening tests and pure-tone air conduction threshold tests without interpretation;

8. recording, charting, graphing, or otherwise displaying objective data relative to the patient's/client's performance.

F. Only the audiologist or speech-language pathologist ~~or audiologist~~ shall exercise independent judgment in the provision of professional services. Specifically, the audiologist or speech-language pathologist ~~or audiologist~~ may not delegate any of the following to the aide:

1. speech-language screening;
2. evaluation, diagnosis, or therapy with individuals with speech, language or hearing disorders;
3. interpretation of test-test and assessment results or discussion of confidential information despite the fact that this information may have been requested by the patient/client, parent or referring agency;
4. performance of any procedure for which the aide has not been trained.

G. Exemption. Aides employed on or before April 1996 may continue to operate under the provisions of Chapter 3, §§301-305 of the *Louisiana Register* 16:409 (May 1990) of the Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech Pathology and Audiology.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 16:409 (May 1990), amended LR 22:355 (May 1996), LR 27:201 (February 2001), LR 28:1781 (August 2002), LR 30:2318 (October 2004), LR 33:2199 (October 2007).

§14135. Disciplinary Actions

This board may refuse to issue, may suspend or revoke a license for the practice of audiology or speech-language pathology ~~or audiology~~ or otherwise discipline an applicant or licensee, upon finding that the applicant or licensee has violated any provisions of R.S. 37:2650 et seq., or any of the rules or regulations ~~promulgated by the board~~.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 14:707 (October 1988), amended LR 22:354 (May 1996), LR 28:1975 (September 2002), LR 30:2319 (October 2004), LR 33:2200 (October 2007).

Chapter 3. Impaired Practitioner Program

§301. Purpose and Scope

A. Upon voluntary disclosure or proof that an applicant or licensee has provided professional services while under the influence of alcohol or has used narcotic or controlled dangerous substances or other drugs in excess of therapeutic amounts or without valid medical indication, the board may offer the applicant or licensee the Impaired Practitioner Program in order to receive or renew the professional license. Participation in the program may be required as a prerequisite to initial application for licensure or continued practice in accordance with the conditions of any consent order, compliance hearing, or adjudication hearing. At no time while participating in the impaired practitioner's program shall an individual supervise other licensees.

B. The board may utilize its discretionary authority to require or exclude specific components of this program for participants based upon determination of the nature and severity of the impairment. Participation in the Impaired Practitioner Program may consist of all or part of the following components:

1. a substance abuse assessment performed by a qualified, licensed health care professional within a prescribed period of time;

2. monitoring, including drug/alcohol screenings, with results submitted to the board, for a specified period of time. The frequency of screening and a deadline for submission of the screening results will also be specified. The name of the monitoring agency shall be submitted as requested by the board. Monitoring shall continue for a period of up to 36 months, as specified by the board;

3. suspension of the license or other action specified by the board upon receipt of any positive, unexplained screening results during the monitoring period;

4. mandatory weekly attendance at self-help meetings, such as Alcoholics Anonymous or Narcotics Anonymous, for a specified period of time. Submission of a monthly log which meets the board's specifications will be required:

- a. a monthly log must be submitted to and received by the board before the final business day of the month following completion of the required meetings. It is the licensee's responsibility to ensure that these logs are properly completed and received by the board by the designated date;

- b. the monthly log requires documentation of the first name and first initial of the last name of the sponsor, and meeting dates and times;

5. therapy for substance abuse by a licensed health care professional;

6. supervision of the licensee by a board-approved speech-language pathologist or audiologist at a frequency and duration determined by the board;

7. penalties for noncompliance as determined by the board.

C. The applicant or licensee will be responsible for executing all required releases of information and authorizations required for the board to obtain information from any monitor, treatment or service provider concerning the licensee's progress and participation in the program.

D. The applicant or licensee will bear the financial burden for all costs incurred in complying with the terms of this program including but not limited to therapy, assessments, supervision, drug/alcohol screens, and reproduction of treatment or other records.

E. The licensee shall notify the board office by telephone within 48 hours and in writing within five days of any changes of licensee's home address, telephone number, employment status, employer, supervisor, and/or change in practice at a facility.

F. In the event that a licensee relocates to another jurisdiction, the licensee will within five days of relocating be required to either enroll in the other jurisdiction's impaired practitioner program and have the reports required under the agreement sent to the board, or if the other jurisdiction has no impaired practitioner program, the licensee will notify the licensing board of that jurisdiction that the licensee is impaired and enrolled in the Louisiana program. In the event the licensee fails to do so, the license will be suspended.

G. Violation of the terms or conditions of the program may result in the immediate suspension of the individual's license to practice or other penalties for noncompliance.

H. The board will, to the full extent permissible, maintain an agreement or consent agreement and order relating to the licensee's participation in the Impaired Practitioner Program as a confidential matter. The board retains the discretion to share information it deems necessary with those persons providing evaluation/assessment, therapy, treatment, supervision, monitoring or drug/alcohol testing or reports. Violation of any terms, conditions or requirements contained in any consent agreement and order, or board decision can result in a loss of the confidential status.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 30:2319 (October 2004), amended LR 37:2398 (August 2011).

Chapter 5. Procedural Rules

§501. Investigation of Complaints

A. The board is authorized to receive from any person a complaint or complaints against licensees, registrants, applicants, or other persons engaging in practices which violate or are alleged to violate the provisions of R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

B. Any complaint bearing on a licensee or registrant's professional competence, conviction of a crime, unauthorized practice, mental competence, neglect of practice, or violation of state law or ethical standards where applicable to the practice of ~~speech-language pathology or audiology~~ or speech-language pathology shall be submitted to the board: in writing and signed by the complainant.

C. ~~Complaints shall be in writing and signed by the complainant~~ The board is also authorized to initiate such complaints when the board otherwise possesses or obtains information suggesting such a complaint is warranted.

D. Once a written complaint is received, the board shall initiate a review of the allegations contained therein. The board may dispose of the complaint informally through correspondence or conference with the licensee, registrant and/or the complainant, which may result in a private letter of concern or a consent order. If the licensee or registrant stipulates to the complaint and waives her/his right to a formal hearing, the board may impose appropriate sanctions without delay. If the board finds that a complaint cannot be resolved informally, the written complaint shall be forwarded to the board's designated investigator for investigation. The board shall at that time notify the licensee or registrant, by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the investigation.

E. The board's designated investigator shall have authority to investigate the nature of the complaint through conference, correspondence, and other investigative procedures, directed to those parties or witnesses involved. The board's designated investigator shall send the involved licensee or registrant notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the investigation containing a short summary of the complaint. All subsequent letters to the involved licensee or registrant, all letters to the complainant, or any other witness, shall be sent with a designation "personal and confidential" clearly marked on the outside of the envelope.

F. The designated investigator shall conclude the investigation as quickly as possible, without compromising thoroughness. Unless good cause is shown by the designated investigator satisfactory to the board, which may extend the time for the investigation, the investigation and recommendations to the board shall be delivered to the board within 60 days of the date that the designated investigator first received the assignment from the board.

G. Following an investigation, the designated investigator shall report to the board and make a recommendation for either dismissal of the complaint or proceeding to an informal hearing, consent order, or formal hearing.

H. The designated investigator may determine that the licensee or registrant's explanation satisfactorily answers the complaint and may recommend to the board that the matter be dismissed.

I. If the designated investigator's recommendation for an informal hearing is accepted by the board, the designated investigator shall notify the licensee or registrant of the time,

date, and place of the informal hearing and of the issues to be discussed. The licensee or registrant shall appear on a voluntary basis. The licensee or registrant shall be advised that the hearing will be informal, no attorneys will be present, and no transcript of the hearing will be made. Any witnesses who testify will not be placed under oath, and no subpoenas will be issued. The licensee or registrant shall be informed that any statements made at the informal hearing will not be used or introduced at a formal hearing, unless all parties consent. If the licensee or registrant notifies the designated investigator that s/he does not wish an informal hearing, or if the licensee or registrant fails or refuses to attend an informal hearing, the informal hearing shall not be held. In that event, the board shall initiate a formal disciplinary hearing.

J. A complaint may be resolved by:

1. a private letter of concern to the licensee, registrant, or other appropriate parties.

2. a consent agreement and order approved by the board and entered into by the licensee or registrant.

K. The designated investigator shall recommend to the board the initiation of a formal disciplinary hearing if the investigation discloses any of the following: the complaint is sufficiently serious to require a formal adjudication; the licensee or registrant fails to respond to the correspondence by the designated investigator concerning the complaint; the licensee or registrant's response to the designated investigator discloses that further action is necessary; an informal hearing is held but does not resolve all of the issues; or the licensee or registrant refuses to comply with the recommended remedial action.

L. The designated investigator shall submit any recommended action to the board in brief, concise language, without any reference to the particulars of the investigation, to any findings of fact or any conclusions of law arrived at during the investigative process.

M. The board shall have the authority to delegate to the designated investigator any alleged violations of the Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology Act, R.S. 37:2650 et seq., and any alleged violations of any and all rules and regulations adopted by the board pursuant thereto, prior to board action on those alleged violations. If requested by the board, the designated investigator shall submit to the board the complete investigation file. Final authority for appropriate action rests solely with the board including formal notification to the complainant, and the licensee, or registrant.

N. At no time shall the designated investigator investigate any case as authorized by the board where the investigator has any personal or economic interest in the outcome of the investigation, or is personally related to or maintains a close friendship with the complainant, the licensee, the registrant, or any of the witnesses involved. In such event, the designated investigator shall immediately notify the board, who shall appoint a substitute investigator for disposition of that particular case.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 17:373 (April 1991), amended LR 22:356 (May 1996), LR 30:2320 (October 2004), LR 33:2200 (October 2007), LR 37:2398 (August 2011), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1668 (October 2016).

§503. Compliance Hearings

A. The board shall provide a compliance hearing to a rejected applicant for licensure or registration provided that the rejected applicant requests a compliance hearing in writing within 30 days of the receipt of the notice of rejection. The applicant's request for a compliance hearing shall state with specificity the reason(s) why the application should be accepted.

B. A licensee whose license has lapsed shall be entitled to a compliance hearing provided that the licensee requests one in writing within 10 days after receipt of the notice for the lapsed license

C. The purpose and intent of the compliance hearing is to provide a forum for the applicant, ~~or~~ licensee, or registrant to present documentary evidence, in the form of affidavits, public records, official records, letters, etc., along with testimony under oath to establish that the applicant, ~~or~~ licensee, or registrant, does, in fact, meet the lawful requirements for issuance of a license or registration or ~~or~~ the retention of the license or registration. The board shall have the authority to administer oaths, hear the testimony, and conduct the hearing. The applicant ~~or~~ licensee, or registrant may be represented by counsel, or may represent her/himself.

D. In any compliance hearing, the burden of proof shall rest with the applicant ~~or~~ licensee, or registrant.

E. Within 30 days after the compliance hearing, the board shall forward its final decision, including specific reasons thereof, by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the applicant ~~or~~ licensee, or registrant.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 17:374 (April 1991), amended LR 22:357 (May 1996), LR 27:201 (February 2001), LR 30:2321 (October 2004), LR 37:2399 (August 2011).

§505. Formal Disciplinary Hearings

A. If, after completion of the investigation, the board determines that the circumstances may warrant the withholding, denial, suspension, or revocation of a license or registration, or other disciplinary action, the board shall initiate a formal disciplinary hearing. The board shall promptly notify the attorney general who is authorized and directed to appear on behalf of the state. The hearing shall convene in the parish in which the board is domiciled. The hearing shall be held before the board only after the involved licensee is given at least 30-days' notice by certified mail,

return receipt requested. The notice shall include the following:

1. a statement of the date, time, place, and nature of the hearing;
2. a statement of the legal authority and jurisdiction under which the hearing is to be held;
3. a reference to the particular sections of the statute and/or rules involved;
4. a short and plain statement enumerating the charges;
5. a statement advising the licensee of her/his right to be represented by legal counsel;
6. the names of the members of the hearing panel.

B. If the board is unable to state the charges in detail at the time the notice is served, the initial notice may be limited to a statement of the issues involved, thereafter, upon written request, a more definite and detailed statement shall be furnished.

C. The board shall arrange for a certified ~~shorthand court~~ reporter to make an accurate recording of all testimony presented and all documents entered into evidence at the hearing. A party wishing to file documents into evidence shall provide the court reporter with a copy marked for identification as an exhibit and shall provide copies to each member of the hearing panel, the board's legal counsel, opposing counsel, as well as counsel for any joined parties, and/or any unrepresented parties.

D. By bringing a complaint, the complainant waives the privilege of confidentiality for the purpose of the formal disciplinary hearing.

E. The rules of evidence, authority to administer oaths, issue subpoenas, conduct discovery, and control confidential privileged information shall apply to the formal disciplinary hearing in the form specified by R.S. 37:2656, 2663, the rules and regulations promulgated by this board, and as specified in the Louisiana Administrative Procedure Act, R.S. 49:950 et seq.

F. It is the licensee and registrant's continuing obligation to keep the board informed of her/his whereabouts. Accordingly, if notice of the hearing cannot be delivered by mail because of a licensee or registrant's change of address and the new address is not provided to the board, the board may hold the hearing in the licensee or registrant's absence, after making reasonable efforts to obtain the licensee or registrant's new address.

G. Within 15 days of the licensee or registrant's receipt of notice, s/he may file a written answer to the notice, denying some or all of the charges, or offering any explanation or asserting whatever defense s/he deems applicable.

H. The board shall have discretion to consolidate one or more cases for hearing involving the same or related parties or substantially the same questions of fact or law. The board

may also grant separate hearings if a joint hearing may be prejudicial to one or more of the parties. If hearings are to be consolidated, notice shall be given to all parties in advance of the hearing.

I. The presiding officer shall consider a motion to modify or quash any subpoena issued in connection with the hearing, provided that such motion is filed by certified mail, return receipt requested, with the board at its registered office not later than three days prior to the hearing date or the date scheduled for the deposition, if the subpoena was issued in connection with a deposition. Possible grounds to quash or limit the subpoena include, but are not limited to: testimony on material protected by privilege or state regulation or other law; burdensomeness that would not be justified in light of the evidence important to the case; undue hardship on a witness; vagueness; immateriality.

J. The burden of proof at a formal disciplinary hearing rests with the attorney general who is bringing the charge before the board. No sanction shall be imposed or order issued, except upon consideration of the entire record, as supported by and in accordance with reliable, probative, and substantial evidence. The standard of proof in all hearings before the board and for any review or examination of evidence provided by R.S. 49:957 or 958, shall be carried by a preponderance of the evidence.

K. If the board finds by a preponderance of the evidence that the withholding, denial, suspension, or revocation of a license or registration, or other disciplinary action is warranted, the board shall sanction said individual according to the provisions of R.S. 37:2662(B):

1. refuse to issue a license or registration;
2. refuse to renew a license or registration;
3. issue a public letter of reprimand ~~or concern~~;
4. require restitution of costs and expenses incurred by the board related to the enforcement of R.S. 37:2650 et seq.;
5. impose probationary conditions;
6. impose a fine for each violation not to exceed \$1,000 per violation;
7. suspend a license or registration;
8. revoke a license or registration;
9. restrict the license by limiting or reducing the scope of practice; and/or
10. otherwise discipline a licensee or registrant.

L. A final decision or order adverse to a party in an adjudication proceeding shall be in writing or stated in the record within 45 days of the formal procedure. A final decision shall include findings of fact and conclusions of law. Findings of fact, if set forth in statutory language, shall be accompanied by a concise and explicit statement of the underlying facts supporting the findings. Parties shall be notified by the board, either personally or by certified mail, return receipt requested, of any decision or order. Upon

request, a copy of the decision or order shall be mailed to each party and to her/his attorney of record.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 17:374 (April 1991), amended LR 22:357 (May 1996), LR 30:2321 (October 2004), amended by the Department of Health, Board of Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 42:1669 (October 2016).

§507. General Procedural Rules for Hearings

A. The board is empowered to issue subpoenas upon receipt of a written request from the licensee, registrant, or attorney general at least 15 days in advance of any scheduled hearing. The board shall issue said subpoenas upon receipt of said written request and receipt of any and all fees for subpoenas as provided for in ~~§49:23.A.15~~ promulgated by the board.

B. The board may petition a court of competent jurisdiction for a contempt rule to show cause when there is a failure to comply with a subpoena.

C. The board shall elect from its membership a person to act as presiding officer of the hearing. The presiding officer shall have the power to regulate the discovery process; hold pre-hearing conferences for the simplification or settlement of issues; convene the hearing; place witnesses under oath; take action necessary to maintain order; rule on motions and procedural questions arising prior to, during or after the hearing; rule on objections and admissibility of evidence; call recesses or adjourn the hearing; and prescribe and enforce general rules of conduct and decorum. The other board members may not delegate their decision making and fact finding duties to the presiding officer, nor shall the presiding officer have any greater weight in the decision making process than any other board member. The board's findings of fact and conclusions of law shall be signed by a majority of the hearing panel finding those facts and conclusions of law. Any member of the hearing panel disagreeing with those findings and conclusions may also file a dissent in the record with her/his decisions therefore.

D. Any board member having reason to believe that s/he is biased against one of the parties in the proceeding, or has a personal interest in the outcome of the proceeding, shall immediately notify the other board members and request to be disqualified. Any party to a hearing may file with the board an affidavit requesting a disqualification of a board member from the formal hearing because of the board member's bias or personal interest. As soon as possible, but no later than the beginning of the hearing, the majority of the board shall pass upon any request for disqualification. The concerned board member shall not participate in the deliberation of the board on the issue of disqualification, and shall not vote on the issue. If the board determines that there is no merit to the request for disqualification, the board shall proceed with the hearing. Any doubt concerning the fitness of a board member shall be resolved in favor of disqualification. In the event disqualification occurs, the board shall immediately request the governor to appoint a

board member pro tem to replace the disqualified member for the hearing in progress only.

E. The parties to the hearing are urged, but not required, to confer prior to the hearing, through their respective counsel, or personally, to attempt to reduce or simplify the issues to be heard. The board shall honor any stipulations arrived at between the parties as proven facts at the hearing. The purpose at the pre-hearing conference is to insure that the hearing is not unusually delayed by receiving testimony or other evidence on matters which are not seriously in dispute between the parties.

F. The procedures as delineated by the Louisiana Department of Justice consistent with the Administrative Procedure Act, R.S. 49:950 et seq., regarding the conducting of hearings and proceedings shall be implemented. A copy will be provided to any interested party involved with the hearing upon receipt by the board of a written request therefore.

G. Parties may conduct discovery pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, R.S. 49:950 et seq. Said discovery shall not unduly delay the hearing before the board.

H. For good cause shown, the board has discretion to extend or continue the time set for the hearing for such reasons as ill health, inability to obtain counsel, the complexities of the case, or such other matters deemed by the board to constitute good cause.

I. Upon request by either the licensee, registrant, or the attorney general, witnesses shall be sequestered and not allowed in the hearing chambers during the hearing or permitted to discuss their testimony with other witnesses prior to the conclusion of the hearing.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 17:374 (April 1991), amended LR 22:358 (May 1996), LR 27:201 (February 2001), LR 28:1975 (September 2002), LR 30:2322 (October 2004), LR 37:2399 (August 2011).

§509. Rehearing

A. A decision or order in a case of adjudication shall be subject to rehearing, reopening, or reconsideration by the board within 10 days from the date of its entry. The grounds for such action shall be either that:

1. the decision or order is clearly contrary to the law and the evidence;
2. the party has discovered since the hearing evidence important to the issues which s/he could not have with due diligence obtained before or during the hearing;
3. there is a showing that issues not previously considered should be examined in order to properly dispose of the matter; or
4. there is other good ground for further consideration of the issues and the evidence in the public interest.

B. The petition of a party for rehearing, reconsideration, or review and the order of the board granting it, shall set forth the grounds which justify such action. Nothing in this rule shall prevent rehearing, reopening, or reconsideration of a matter by this board in accordance with other statutory provisions applicable to the board, or, at any time, on the ground of fraud practiced by the prevailing party or of procurement of the order by perjured testimony or fictitious evidence. On reconsideration, reopening, or rehearing, the matter shall be heard by the board. The hearing shall be confined to those grounds upon which the reconsideration, reopening, or rehearing was ordered. If an application for rehearing shall be timely filed, the period within which judicial review, under the applicable statute, must be sought, shall run from the final disposition of such application.

C. If a petition for rehearing, reconsideration, or review is granted, the decision of the board is not final and therefore is not implemented until a decision is reached after the rehearing.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 17:374 (April 1991), amended LR 22:359 (May 1996), LR 30:2323 (October 2004).

§511. The Case Record

A. The case record shall include the following, plus other material that the board considers desirable to obtain:

1. all papers filed and served in the proceedings;
2. all motions filed, answers or objections thereto, and all decisions of the board in response to the motions;
3. all documents and other evidence accepted as evidence at the hearing;
4. statements of matters officially noticed;
5. notices required by statutes or rules, including notice of the hearing;
6. affidavits of service or receipts for mailing of process or other evidence of service;
7. stipulations, settlement agreements, or consent orders;
8. records of matters agreed upon at the pre-hearing conference;
9. orders of the board and its final decision;
10. actions taken subsequent to the decision, including requests for reconsideration and rehearing;
11. a transcript of the proceedings.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 22:359 (May 1996), amended LR 30:2323 (October 2004).

§512. Summary Suspension of License/Registration

A. The board may suspend an existing license or registration because of a person's conviction of a felony or misdemeanor if the crime directly relates to the duties and responsibilities of the licensee or registrant. The board may also suspend an existing license or registration if there are allegations of fact that the board believes demonstrates a substantial likelihood that the licensee or registrant poses a risk of harm to the public health, safety or welfare.

B. If the board finds that public health, safety or welfare imperatively requires emergency action, and incorporates a finding to that effect in its order, summary suspension of a license or registration may be ordered pending proceedings for revocation or other action. These proceedings shall be promptly instituted and determined.

C. Following the proceedings, the notice to summarily suspend an existing license or registration shall be serviced personally upon the respondent or by certified mail or by other reasonable means. The notice shall inform the licensee or registrant of the opportunity, including the time and place, to appear before the board to show cause regarding why the license or registration should not be suspended. The opportunity for the licensee or registrant to be heard shall occur from 2 to 10 days following the summary suspension of the license or registration.

D. The proceedings shall be conducted in accordance with Louisiana's Administrative Procedure Act.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R. S. 37: 2651-2666.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Hospitals, Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 33:2201 (October 2007).

§513. Declaratory Orders

A. Any party or person deemed to be governed by or under the jurisdiction of the Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology Act, R.S. 37:2650 et seq., may apply to the board for a declaratory order or ruling in order to determine the applicability of a statutory provision, rule of this board, or ethical consideration of this board, to said party or person. The board shall issue the declaratory order or ruling in connection with the request by majority vote of the board, signed and mailed to the requesting party. The board may seek an opinion of legal counsel or the attorney general in connection with the request.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 22:359 (May 1996), amended LR 30:2323 (October 2004).

§515. Judicial Review

A. A person who is aggrieved by a final decision or order in an adjudication proceeding is entitled to judicial review whether or not s/he has applied to the board for rehearing. A preliminary, procedural, or intermediate board action or ruling is immediately reviewable if review of the final board

decision would not provide an adequate remedy and would inflict irreparable injury.

B. Proceedings for review shall be instituted by filing a petition in the Nineteenth Judicial District Court for the Parish of East Baton Rouge within 30 days after mailing of notice of the final decision by the board or, if rehearing is requested, within 30 days after the decision thereon. Copies of the petition shall be served upon the board and all parties of record.

C. The filing of the petition does not itself stay enforcement of the board decision. The board may grant, or the reviewing court may order, a stay upon appropriate terms.

D. Within 30 days after the service of the petition on the board or within further time allowed by the court, the board shall transmit to the reviewing court a certified copy of the entire record of the proceeding under review. By stipulation of all parties, the record may be shortened. A party unreasonably refusing to stipulate to limit the record may be taxed by the court for the additional costs.

E. If, before the date set for hearing, application is made to the court for leave to present additional evidence, and it is shown that the additional evidence is material and that there were good reasons for failure to present it in the proceeding before the board, the court may order that the additional evidence be taken before the board upon conditions determined by the court. The board may modify its finding and decision by reason of the additional evidence and shall file that evidence and any modifications, new findings, or decisions with the reviewing court.

F. The review shall be conducted by the court without a jury and shall be confined to the record. In cases of alleged irregularities in procedure before the board, not shown in the record, proof thereon may be taken in the court. The court, upon request, shall hear oral argument and shall receive written briefs.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 22:359 (May 1996), amended LR 30:2323 (October 2004).

§517. Appeals

A. An aggrieved party may obtain a review of any final judgment of the Nineteenth Judicial District Court by appeal to the Court of Appeal for the First Circuit. The appeal shall be taken as in other civil cases.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 22:360 (May 1996), amended LR 30:2324 (October 2004).

Chapter 7. Code of Ethics

§701. Preamble

A. The Ceode of Eethics of the Louisiana Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology specifies professional standards that govern clinical and scientific practice, direct professional conduct, provide~~allow~~ for the proper implementation~~discharge~~ of professionals' responsibilities to those served, and ensure that protect the welfare~~integrity~~ of the consumer~~profession~~.

B. Any action that violates the intentspirit and purpose of this code shall be considered unethical. Although the Code of Ethics cannot be inclusive of all~~Failure to~~ specify situations, failure to delineate any particular responsibility or practice in this Ceode of Eethics shall not be construed as denial of the existence of such responsibilities or practices.

C. Principles of ethics form the underlying moral basis for the Ceode of Eethics. Individuals shall observe these principles as affirmative obligations under all conditions of professional activity.

D. Rules of ethics are specific statements of minimally acceptable as well as unacceptable professional conduct ~~or of prohibitions and~~ which are applicable to all individuals.

E. Rules of Ethics for Audiology, Provisional Audiology, Speech-Language Pathology, Provisional Speech-Language Pathology, and Restricted Speech-Language Pathology Licensees

1. Principle of Ethics I. Licensees shall honor their responsibility to hold paramount the welfare of persons they serve professionally or who are participants in research and scholarly activities, ~~and~~ provide professional services with honesty and compassion, and ~~shall~~ respect the dignity, worth, and rights of those served. The licensee shall take all reasonable precautions to avoid harm to the individual served professionally.

a. Individuals shall provide all clinical services and scientific activities competently.

b. Individuals shall use every resource, including interprofessional collaboration and referral when applicable~~appropriate~~, to ensure that appropriate~~high quality~~ service is provided ~~and shall not accept or offer benefits or items of personal value for receiving or making referrals.~~

~~c.~~ Individuals shall not discriminate in the delivery of professional services or in the conduct of research and scholarly activities on the basis of race, ~~or~~ ethnicity, citizenship, sex, gender identity/gender expression, sexual orientation, age, religion, national origin, ~~sexual orientation,~~ ~~or~~ disability, culture, language, or dialect.

d. Individuals shall not misrepresent their credentials nor those under their supervision including aides, assistants, technicians, other support personnel, students, research interns, or individuals completing the postgraduate professional employment/experience, and they shall fully inform those they serve professionally of the name, role, and credentials of persons providing services.

e. Individuals may delegate tasks related to the provision of clinical services to students, aides, assistants, technicians, or other support personnel only if those persons are adequately trained and appropriately supervised. The responsibility for the welfare of those served remains with the fully licensed individual.

f. Individuals shall not delegate tasks that require the unique skills, knowledge, judgment or credentials that are within the scope of practice of their profession to aides, assistants, technicians, other support personnel or nonprofessionals over whom they have supervisory authority.

ge. Individuals shall obtain fully informed consent from the persons they serve only after a description of and discussion about the nature and possible risks and effects of services to be rendered, technology to be employed, and products to be dispensed. Consumers shall also be informed about possible effects of not engaging in treatment or following clinical recommendations. When the consumer is incapable of providing informed consent, individuals should seek authorization from a legally authorized/appointed representative or family member.

h. Individuals shall enroll and include persons as participants in research only if participation is voluntary, without coercion, and with informed consent.

i. Individuals shall accurately represent the intended purpose of a service, product, or research endeavor and shall abide by established standards for clinical practice and the responsible conduct of research.

jd. Individuals shall evaluate the effectiveness of services rendered, technology employed, and of products dispensed and shall provide services or dispense products only when benefits can reasonably be expected.

ke. Individuals shall not guarantee, directly or by implication, the results of any treatment or procedure; directly or by implication; however, they may make a reasonable statement of prognosis.

l. Individuals shall use independent and evidence-based clinical judgment, keeping paramount the welfare of those served.

m. Individuals shall not provide clinical services solely by correspondence but may provide services via telepractice consistent with professional standards and state and federal regulations.

~~Individuals may practice by telecommunication (i.e., telepractice, telehealth, e health) provided they hold the appropriate licensure for the jurisdiction in which the service is rendered and delivered.~~

n. Individuals shall protect the confidentiality of any professional or personal information about persons served professionally or participants involved in research and scholarly activities, and may disclose confidential information only when doing so is necessary to protect the welfare of the person or of the community, is legally authorized, or is otherwise required by law.

o. Individuals shall protect the confidentiality and security of records of professional services rendered, research and scholarly activities conducted, and products dispensed. Access to these records shall be allowed only when doing so is necessary to protect the welfare of the person or of the community, is legally authorized, or is otherwise required by law.

pg. Individuals shall maintain timely adequate records and accurately record and bill for professional services provided and products dispensed, and shall not misrepresent services rendered, products dispensed, or research and scholarly activities conducted allow access to these records when appropriately authorized.

gh. Individuals shall not reveal, without authorization, any professional or personal information about the person served professionally, unless required by law to do so, or unless doing so is necessary to protect the welfare of the person or of the community.

hi. Individuals shall not charge for services not rendered, nor shall they misrepresent, in any fashion, services rendered or products dispensed.

ij. Individuals shall not carry out teaching, or research activities in a manner that constitutes an invasion of privacy, or that fails to inform persons fully about the nature and possible effects of these activities, affording all persons informed free choice and participation.

qk. Individuals whose professional practice is services are adversely affected by substance abuse or other health-related conditions are impaired practitioners and shall seek professional assistance and, where appropriate, withdraw from the affected areas of practice.

r. Individuals who have knowledge a practitioner is unable to provide professional services with reasonable skill and safety shall report this information to the appropriate authority including the licensure board.

sk. Individuals shall provide not discontinue service to those they are serving without providing reasonable notice and information about alternatives for obtaining care in the event that the individual can no longer provide professional services other resources.

2. Principle of Ethics II. Individuals shall honor their responsibility to achieve and maintain the highest level of professional competence and performance consistent with prevailing practice standards.

a. Individuals shall provide all services competently. Individuals shall engage in only those aspects of the professions that are within the scope of their practice and competence, considering their level of licensure, education, training and experience.

b. Individuals who engage in research shall comply with institutional, state, and federal regulations that address any aspects of research hold the appropriate qualifications for the area(s) in which they are providing or supervising professional services.

PROFESSIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL STANDARDS

c. Individuals shall ~~enhance and refine~~continue their professional ~~competence and expertise through engagement in lifelong learning applicable to their professional activities and skills development throughout their careers.~~

d. Individuals ~~in administrative or~~shall provide appropriate supervisory ~~roles and assume full responsibility for services delegated to all supervisees, including assistants or aides. Individuals shall not require or permit their delegate any service requiring professional staff to provide services or conduct research activities that exceed their licensee's competence, education, training, experience, and licensure status competence to persons unqualified.~~

e. Individuals ~~in administrative or supervisory roles shall not neither provide services nor supervision of services for which they have not been properly prepared, nor shall individuals require or permit their professional staff to provide services or conduct clinical research activities that compromise exceed their licensee staff member's independent and objective professional judgment competence, level of education, training, or experience.~~

f. Individuals shall make use of technology and instrumentation consistent with accepted professional practice guidelines and shall ensure that all technology and instrumentation equipment used in the provision of services or to conduct research and scholarly activities are in proper working order and are properly calibrated. When such technology is not available, an appropriate referral should be made.

3. Principle of Ethics III. Individuals shall honor their responsibility to the public ~~when advocating for by promoting public understanding of the professions, by supporting the development of services designed to fulfill the unmet communication, swallowing, and vestibular needs of the public, and shall by providing accurate information in all communications involving any aspect of the professions.~~

a. Individuals shall not misrepresent their credentials, competence, education, training, ~~or~~ experience, ~~or~~ scholarly contributions.

b. ~~Individuals shall not misrepresent the credentials of assistants, support personnel, students, or any others under their supervision and shall inform those they serve professionally of the name and professional credentials of persons providing services.~~

e. ~~Individuals shall not avoid engaging participate in professional activities that constitute a conflicts of interest whereby personal, financial, or other considerations have the potential to influence or compromise professional judgment and objectivity.~~

c~~d~~. Individuals shall not misrepresent research and scholarly activities, diagnostic information, services rendered, results of services provided, or products dispensed, or the effects of products dispensed engage in any scheme or maneuver to defraud in connection with obtaining payment or reimbursement for such services or product.

d. ~~Individuals shall not defraud through intent, ignorance, or negligence, or engage in any scheme to defraud in connection with obtaining payment, reimbursement, or grants and contracts for services provided, research conducted, or products dispensed.~~

e. Individuals' statements to the public shall provide accurate and complete information about the nature and management of communication disorders, about the professions, about professional services, ~~and~~ about products, and about research and scholarly activities.

f. Individuals' statements to the public shall adhere to prevailing professional norms advertising, announcing and marketing their professional services, reporting research results, and promoting products shall adhere to prevailing professional standards and shall not contain misrepresentations when advertising, announcing, and promoting their professional services and products or when reporting research results.

g. Individuals shall not make false statements regarding areas of professional practice, and shall complete all materials honestly and without omission.

4. Principle of Ethics IV. Individuals shall ~~honor their responsibilities to the professions and their relationships with colleagues, students, and members of other professions and disciplines. Individuals shall uphold the dignity and autonomy of the professions, maintain collaborative and harmonious interprofessional and intraprofessional relationships, and accept the professions' self-imposed standards.~~

a. Individuals shall work collaboratively, when appropriate, with members of one's own profession and members of other professions to deliver the highest quality of care prohibit anyone under their supervision from engaging in any practice that violates the code of ethics.

b. Individuals shall exercise independent professional judgment in recommending and providing professional services when an administrative mandate, referral source, or prescription prevents keeping the welfare of persons served paramount.

c. Individuals' statements to colleagues about professional services, research results, and products shall adhere to prevailing professional standards and shall contain no misrepresentations.

d. Individuals shall not engage in any form of conduct that adversely reflects on the professions or on the individual's fitness to serve persons professionally.

e~~b~~. Individuals shall not engage in dishonesty, negligence, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.

f. Applicants for licensure and individuals making disclosures shall not make false statements and shall complete all application and disclosure materials honestly and without omission.

ge. Individuals shall not engage in any form of harassment, power abuse, or sexual harassment any other

~~form of conduct that adversely reflects on the professions or on the individual's fitness to serve persons professionally.~~

~~hd. Individuals shall not engage in sexual activity with students, a patients/clients, research participants, speech-language pathology assistants, aides, or licensees or ~~students~~ over whom they exercise professional authority or power.~~

~~i. Individuals shall not allow anyone under their supervision to engage in any practice that violates any provision of the practice act or Rules and Regulations including the Code of Ethics.~~

~~je. Individuals shall assign credit only to those who have contributed to a publication, presentation, protocol, process, or product. Credit shall be assigned in proportion to the contribution and only with the contributor's consent.~~

~~kf. Individuals shall not engage in plagiarism and shall reference the source when using other persons' ideas, research, presentations, or products in written, oral, or any other media presentation or summary.~~

~~g. Individuals' statements to colleagues about professional services, research results, and products shall adhere to prevailing professional standards and shall contain no misrepresentations.~~

~~h. Individuals shall not provide professional services without exercising independent professional judgment, regardless of referral source or prescription.~~

~~li. Individuals shall not discriminate in their relationships with colleagues, assistants, other support personnel, students, and members of other professions and disciplines on the basis of race, ~~or~~ ethnicity, citizenship, sex, gender identity/gender expression, sexual orientation, age, religion, national origin, ~~sexual orientation, or~~ disability, culture, language, or dialect.~~

~~mj. Individuals shall comply with local, state, and federal laws and regulations applicable to professional practice, research ethics, and the responsible conduct of research not violate these principles and rules, nor attempt to circumvent them.~~

~~nk. Individuals shall inform the board of any violations of the practice act and the Rules and Regulations including the Code of Ethics.~~

~~ol. Individuals shall cooperate fully with the board on matters of professional conduct relative to the practice act and the Rules and Regulations including the Code of Ethics, and shall not make false statements of fact or withhold relevant facts necessary to fairly adjudicate complaints.~~

~~p. Individuals who have been publicly sanctioned or denied a license or a professional credential by any professional association, professional licensing authority or board, or other professional regulatory body shall self-report by notifying the Board in writing within thirty (30) days of the final action or disposition. Such written notification~~

shall consist of a certified copy of the final action, sanction, or disposition.

q. Individuals who have been convicted, been found guilty, or entered a plea of nolo contendere to any misdemeanor involving dishonesty, physical harm or the threat of physical harm to the person or property of another, or any felony, shall self-report by notifying the Board in writing within thirty (30) days of the conviction, plea, or finding of guilt. Such written notification shall consist of a certified copy of the conviction, plea, nolo contendere record, or minute/docket entry.

F. Rules of Ethics for Speech-Language Pathology Assistant and Provisional Speech-Language Pathology Assistant Licensees

1. Principle of Ethics I. Licensees shall honor their responsibility to hold paramount the welfare of persons they serve or who are participants in research and scholarly activities, ~~and~~ provide services with honesty and compassion, and ~~shall respect the dignity, worth, and rights of those served.~~ The licensee shall take all reasonable precautions to avoid harm to the individual served.

a. Individuals shall provide clinical services and scientific activities competently, and engage only in those activities prescribed by the supervising speech-language pathologist.

b. Individuals shall not discriminate in the delivery of services or in the conduct of research and scholarly activities on the basis of race, ~~or~~ ethnicity, citizenship, sex, gender identity/gender expression, sexual orientation, age, religion, national origin, ~~sexual orientation, or~~ disability, culture, language, or dialect.

c. Individuals shall not misrepresent their credentials and shall fully inform those they serve of their name, role, and credentials.

~~b. Individuals shall not perform clinical tasks without the knowledge and approval of the supervising speech language pathologist nor shall the licensee interpret test results, guarantee results, make referrals, discharge patients/clients, or provide patient/client or family counseling.~~

~~de. Individuals shall not provide services via may practice by telepractice, ecommunication (i.e., telepractice, telehealth, e-health) interpret test or assessment results, guarantee results, make referrals, discharge patients/clients, provide patient/client or family counseling, nor perform clinical tasks without the knowledge and approval of the supervising speech-language pathologist under the supervision of a fully licensed individual, provided that both the supervisor and the supervisee hold the appropriate license for the jurisdiction in which the service is rendered and delivered.~~

ed. Individuals shall protect the confidentiality of clinical or personal information about persons served or participants involved in research and scholarly activities, and shall not disclose confidential information orally or in

PROFESSIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL STANDARDS

~~writing to anyone not designated by the supervising speech-language pathologist and without the authorization of the patient/client or their designee maintain adequate records of services rendered and products dispensed and shall allow access to these records when appropriately authorized.~~

~~fe. Individuals shall protect the confidentiality and security of records of services rendered, research and scholarly activities conducted, and products dispensed. Access to these records shall not be allowed unless directed by the supervising speech-language pathologist not reveal, without authorization, any professional or personal information about the person served, unless required by law to do so, or unless doing so is necessary to protect the welfare of the person or of the community.~~

~~gf. Individuals shall maintain timely and adequate records of services rendered, shall not charge for services not rendered, and nor shall not they misrepresent, in any fashion, services rendered, or products dispensed, or research and scholarly activities conducted.~~

~~g. Individuals shall not carry out teaching, or research activities in a manner that constitutes an invasion of privacy, or that fails to inform persons fully about the nature and possible effects of these activities, affording all persons informed free choice and participation.~~

~~h. Individuals whose services are adversely affected by substance abuse or other health-related conditions are impaired practitioners and shall seek professional assistance and, where appropriate, withdraw from the affected areas of practice.~~

~~i. Individuals who have knowledge that a licensee is unable to provide services with reasonable skill and safety shall report this information to the appropriate authority including the licensure board.~~

2. Principle of Ethics II. Individuals shall honor their responsibility to achieve and maintain the highest level of competence and performance.

a. Individuals ~~shall provide all services competently. Individuals shall~~ engage in only those aspects of service provision that are within the scope of their practice and competence, considering their level of licensure, education, training and experience.

b. Individuals shall hold the appropriate qualifications for the area(s) in which they are providing services. Individuals shall engage in lifelong learning throughout their careers.

~~c. Individuals shall engage in lifelong learning throughout their careers.~~

~~d. Individuals shall not provide services unless appropriately supervised.~~

~~de. Individuals shall not provide services for which the licensee has not been properly prepared.~~

~~ef. Individuals shall utilize technology and instrumentation as directed by the supervising speech-language pathologist, ensuring that all equipment used in~~

~~the provision of services is in proper working order is maintained and is properly calibration has been established.~~

3. Principle of Ethics III. Individuals shall honor their responsibility to the public by providing accurate information in all communications.

a. Individuals shall not misrepresent their credentials, competence, education, training or experience.

b. Individuals shall not participate in professional activities that constitute a conflict of interest.

c. Individuals shall not misrepresent research and scholarly activities, services rendered or any information or services rendered, or engage in any scheme or maneuver to defraud in connection with obtaining payment or reimbursement for services.

d. Individuals shall not make false statements regarding areas of practice, and shall complete all materials honestly and without omission.

4. Principle of Ethics IV. Individuals shall honor their responsibilities and their relationships with colleagues and members of other professions and disciplines. Individuals shall maintain harmonious interprofessional and intraprofessional relationships and accept the standards delineated for assistants.

a. Individuals' statements to colleagues about services, research, or products shall adhere to prevailing standards and contain no misrepresentations.

b. Individuals shall not engage in dishonesty, negligence, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.

cb. Applicants for licensure and individuals making disclosures shall not make false statements and shall complete all application and disclosure materials honestly and without omission.

d. Individuals shall not engage in any form of harassment, power abuse, or sexual harassment, or any other form of conduct that adversely reflects on service delivery or on the individual's fitness to serve persons.

ee. Individuals shall not engage in sexual activity with a patient/client or research participant.

fd. Individuals shall assign credit only to those who have contributed to a publication, presentation, protocol, process, or product. Credit shall be assigned in proportion to the contribution and only with the contributor's consent.

ge. Individuals shall not engage in plagiarism and shall reference the source when using other persons' ideas, research, presentations, or products in written, oral, or any other media presentation or summary.

~~f. Individuals' statements to colleagues about services, research, or products shall adhere to prevailing standards and shall contain no misrepresentations.~~

hg. Individuals shall not discriminate in their relationships with colleagues and members of other professions and disciplines on the basis of race, or ethnicity,

citizenship, sex, gender identity/gender expression, sexual orientation, age, religion, national origin, ~~sexual orientation,~~ or disability, culture, language or dialect.

ih. Individuals shall comply with local, state, and federal laws and regulations applicable to practice and research not violate these principles and rules, nor attempt to circumvent them.

ji. Individuals shall inform the board of any violations of the practice act or the Rules and Regulations including the Code of Ethics.

kj. Individuals shall cooperate fully with the board on matters of professional conduct relative to the practice act or the Rules and Regulations including the Code of Ethics, and shall not make false statements of fact or withhold relevant facts necessary to fairly adjudicate complaints.

l. Individuals who have been publicly sanctioned or denied a license or a professional credential by any professional association, professional licensing authority or board, or other professional regulatory body shall self-report by notifying the Board in writing within thirty (30) days of

the final action or disposition. Such written notification shall consist of a certified copy of the final action, sanction, or disposition.

m. Individuals who have been convicted, been found guilty, or entered a plea of nolo contendere to any misdemeanor involving dishonesty, physical harm or the threat of physical harm to the person or property of another, or any felony, shall self-report by notifying the Board in writing within thirty (30) days of the conviction, plea, or finding of guilt. Such written notification shall consist of a certified copy of the conviction, plea, nolo contendere record, or minute/docket entry.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 37:2650 et seq.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Department of Health and Hospitals, Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology, LR 17:370 (April 1991), amended LR 22:360 (May 1996), LR 30:2324 (October 2004), LR 33:2201 (October 2007), LR 37:2399 (August 2011), LR 39:1044 (April 2013).